## **Seton Hall University**

## eRepository @ Seton Hall

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs)

Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses

Summer 8-4-2023

## The African American Dream Deferred: Exploring the Relationship Between the "American Dream" And the Black American Millennial Reality

Simonleigh P. Miller Seton Hall University, simonleigh.miller@student.shu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons, Counseling Psychology Commons, Counselor Education Commons, Multicultural Psychology Commons, Nursing Commons, Race and Ethnicity Commons, Social Justice Commons, Social Psychology Commons, and the Social Psychology and Interaction Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Miller, Simonleigh P., "The African American Dream Deferred: Exploring the Relationship Between the "American Dream" And the Black American Millennial Reality" (2023). Seton Hall University Dissertations and Theses (ETDs). 3118.

https://scholarship.shu.edu/dissertations/3118

# The African American Dream Deferred: Exploring the Relationship Between the "American Dream" And the Black American Millennial Reality

By

Simonleigh Miller

Dissertation Committee Pamela F. Foley, Ph.D., Mentor Jason D. Reynolds (Taewon Choi), Ph.D. Barbara A. Prempeh, Psy.D.

Dissertation Submitted In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Professional Psychology and Family Therapy of Seton Hall University

New Jersey 2023

© 2023 Simonleigh Miller



COLLEGE OF EDUCATION & HUMAN SERVICES
DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGY & FAMILY THERAPY

## APPROVAL FOR SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

**Simonleigh P. Miller** has successfully defended and made the required modifications to the text of the doctoral dissertation for the **Ph.D.** during this **Summer** Semester.

## **DISSERTATION COMMITTEE**

(please sign and date)

Dr. Pamela Foley	
Mentor	Date
Dr. Jason D. Reynolds (Taewon Choi)	
Committee Member	Date
Dr. Barbara A. Prempeh	
Committee Member	Date

The mentor and any other committee members who wish to review revisions will sign and date this document only when revisions have been completed. Please return this form to the Office of Graduate Studies, where it will be placed in the candidate's file and submit a copy with your final dissertation.

I find myself, not for the first time, in the position of a kind of Jeremiah. For example, I don't disagree with Mr. Burford that the inequalities suffered by the American Negro population of the United States has hindered the American dream. Indeed it has. I quarrel with some other things he has to say. The other, deeper element of a certain awfulness I feel has to do with one's point of view. I have to put it that way. One's sense, one's system of reality. It would seem to me the proposition before the house, when I put it that way, is the American dream at the expense of the American Negro, or the American dream is at the expense of the American Negro—is a question, hideously loaded— and that one's response to that question, one's reaction to that question, has to depend in effect—in effect on where you find yourself in the world. What your sense of reality is, what your system of reality is. That is, it depends on assumptions which we hold, so deeply, as to be scarcely aware of them. (Baldwin, 1965, as cited in the Buccola, 2019, p. 379. Reposted with permission from Princeton University Press)

#### **Abstract**

The purpose of this qualitative study is to highlight and bring understanding to the lived experiences of Black American millennials. This study was conducted from the constructivist and critical research paradigms and utilized Reflexive Thematic Analysis methods to analyze qualitative data. The study places specific focus on Black or African American millennials' associated thoughts and feelings regarding their current reality and positionality within the American context, and its relation to the idealized reality of the American Dream. The influence of the American Dream on the African American millennial reality was explored to gain a better understanding of how, or if awareness of disparities in the realization of American ideals affects their beliefs related to being American. Fifteen Black American millennials were asked questions related to their perceptions of their reality in relation to American ideals like the American Dream. Participants discussed the impact that their American reality had on their sense of being American, sense of alignment with American culture, attitudes to the U.S. and being American, and belief in their ability to achieve the American Dream (Armstrong, 2019; Carter & Perez, 2016; Flanagan et al., 2009). The patterns of shared meaning that emerged from the findings were: (1) Black millennials identify themselves as a pivotal generation, (2) the American Dream is a White myth, (3) "unalienable rights" are not applied equally amongst Americans, (4) the American Dream highlights disparities in American reality, (5) Black millennials are reckoning with internal conflict towards their American reality. Clinical implications and future areas of research are discussed.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Background of the Problem	
Areas of Persistent Inequality	
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of Study	
Research Questions	
Definition of Terms	
Significance of Study	15
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	17
Introduction	17
The American Dream	19
The African American Dream	20
Black Identity in the White-Dominant American Context	24
The African American Reality	
The American Millennial Experience	40
The Black Millennial Reality	47
CHAPTER III: METHOD	54
Research Paradigm Design	54
Participants	57
Method of Data Collection	60
Procedure	61
Qualitative Analysis	62
Quality and Trustworthiness	64
Researcher Reflexivity	66
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	69
Black Millennials Identify as a Pivotal Generation	
Bearing Generational Burdens	
Being More Liberal in the Expression and Exploration of their Black Identities	s .75
Sense of Duty to Strive for Success Despite Hurdles	78
The American Dream is a White Myth	
The American Dream is unrealistic for Black People	
Rejecting the American Dream	
Defining the "Dream" for Themselves	
"Unalienable Rights" are not Applied Equally	
Liberty as a Human Right is Not Applied Impartially	
The Pursuit of Happiness is not Meritocratic	
American Lives are Not All Treated Equally	97

The American Dream Highlights Disparities in American Reality	
Hyperaware of Social Injustices and Disparities	
White and Black Americans Live Separate Realities	
Systemic Racism Inhibits American Identity Development	
Internal Conflict with American Reality	
Internal Conflict Identifying as American	
Pride in Diverse Identities are Oppositional to American Pride	
Civic Insecurity	
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	121
Overview of the Results	122
Hope, Determination, and Skepticism	123
American Dream versus Black Reality	
Oppositional Identities	128
Implications for Theory and Practice	130
Recommendations	133
Limitations	136
Directions for Future Research	138
REFERENCES	142
APPRENDIX A: IRB Approval Letter	204
APPRENDIX B: Informed Consent Document	205
APPRENDIX C: Pre-Screening Questionnaire	210
APPRENDIX D: Demographic Questionnaire	
APPRENDIX E: Interview Protocol	212
APPRENDIX F: Patterns of Shared Meaning and Themes	214
APPRENDIX G. Participant Demographics	215

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

This chapter will provide an understanding of the current study, while also presenting information on the history of the "American Dream," the positionality of Black and African American millennials, and the issues they are facing as American citizens. Other important concepts and terminology will be defined in detail and explored. Additionally, the specific research questions and significance of the study will be highlighted.

#### **Background of the Problem**

On July 4<sup>th</sup>, 1776, the Declaration of Independence was adopted by the continental congress of the nascent United States of America (Kaplan, 1976). The introduction of this document to this new republic set in motion a divide that has become as American as the Declaration of Independence itself (Perry, 2007; Roberts & Rizzo, 2021).

In the initial draft of the Declaration of Independence, the founders sought to charge King George III of England with waging "piratical" and "cruel" warfare "against human nature" and "violating its most sacred rights of life & liberty" (Kaplan, 1976, p. 244) by engaging in the slave trade, and introducing the practice to America. The founders argued that King George III facilitated the American dependency on slave labor, and subsequently hindered the cessation of slavery in the then United States. This charge would have been the sole explicit acknowledgment of the enslaved Africans of the United States, in a document known as the Declaration of Independence. However, though the founders sought to charge King George III for instilling the institution of slavery into the core of American culture, they had no plans to bring an end to slavery or bestow equal rights to the misplaced African slaves in service to the White people of America.

The acknowledgment of the slave trade was subsequently removed at the behest of representatives from the colonies of Georgia and South Carolina (Kaplan, 1976). The founders made no direct mention of slavery or the enslaved Africans within their final declaration, perhaps seeing the irony in denouncing a corrupt institution and crime against humanity (in which they still participated), in a document whose sole purpose is to extol human freedom and liberty. The founders' failure to address the inhumanity of slavery, a denial of the innate unalienable rights of Black people in the United States, weaved racism into the fabric of American culture in as much the same way as it threaded "life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness" (The United States Declaration of Independence, par. 2, 1776; Jefferson, 2009) into the fiber of the American society. Despite exercising great foresight in their establishment of the United States as an independent sovereign nation, they overlooked the "least" among them (Bogin, 1983); a grave misstep that was emblematic of what was to come for Black people in America.

The concept of the American Dream depicts the United States as a utopia, in which citizens are entitled to "unalienable" rights. These rights include opportunities to lead peaceful and fulfilling lives, in which they are able to advance solely according to their individual capabilities. In this society, all citizens are respected by their peers as equals, regardless of their creed, social class, or the circumstances of their birth (Adams & Schneiderman, 2017). The American Dream is an idealistic social construct that is derivative of the American Declaration of Independence (Taylor, 2019). As a term, it is used in everyday parlance (Barber, 2016; Stiuliuc, 2011), and as a concept, it is synonymous with the American experience, particularly in reference to capitalism and financial success (Dyer, 2012; Schweyer et al., 2020; Taylor, 2019). However, it has taken on different meanings to different people across generations, as well as race and ethnicity (Sontag, 1981; Stiuliuc, 2011).

For many American millennials, the concept of the American Dream is still a believable one, but the idea of achieving it is currently an endangered aspiration (New Strategist Publications, 2018). While there is no definitive cutoff age range for American millennials (Dimock, 2019), the generational cohort generally has been reported to encompass American people born between the late seventies to early eighties (1977-1981) and the mid-nineteen nineties (1994-1996) (Dimock; 2019; New Strategist Publications, 2015).

American millennials are presently the largest generational cohort in the United States (Fry, 2016; Rouse & Ross, 2018), and are currently at the stage in their development where they are at their highest financial earning potential (Deal et al., 2010; Fromm & Garton, 2013). Unfortunately, they face unfavorable trends and struggles unique to their generational group. Primary among them is their disparity in wages when compared to their older generational counterparts (Levenson, 2010), as well as a lack of upward mobility (AbouAssi et al., 2021). These problems are related to improved mortality rates and older average retirement age leading to older professionals occupying positions longer (Clark et al., 2019; Rappaport & Stone, 2019; Rutledge et al., 2015) and making the job market increasingly competitive (Gaidhani et al., 2019; Zemke et al., 2013). Additionally, due to financial burdens caused by economic trends, American millennials on average are wading through generationally unprecedented levels of debt, a significant portion of which can be attributed to higher education loans (Haneman, 2017).

The steep climb to find economic success as a millennial in the United States becomes even more perilous for Black millennials as their generational struggles are further compounded due to their racial identities. Black millennials traverse additional obstacles, such as a lack of mentorship or representation in leadership positions (Powers et al., 2016) while also experiencing career and racial anxiety (Rogowski & Cohen, 2015). This reality is due in large

portion to factors like systemic racism and generational trauma in the United States (Johnson, 2016). Black and African American millennials regularly contend with racist and oppressive societal structures that negatively impact their overall well-being (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021), and impinge on their "unalienable" rights as Americans to achieve the American Dream (Johnson, 2016). Having to confront social and economic disadvantages unique to their generational cohort bolsters not only racial, but generational divides (Cain, 2015; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015).

#### Areas of Persistent Inequality

The Black experience in America has long been marred by oppression, brutality, trauma, and discrimination (Lauer, 2017; Rosenblatt & Wallace, 2005; Williams, 2008; Williams, 2012); beginning with the first African slave brought to America more than 400 years ago (Miles, 2020; Stevenson, 2019). Slavery in America was abolished in theory in 1863 with the Emancipation Proclamation, which banned slavery in rebel states during the Civil War. Despite its name, its true intent was not to free all the American enslaved people, but rather weaken rebel southern states who depended heavily on slave labor for their success (Guelzo, 2005). It was not until after the end of the Civil War that this legislation would be recognized in all the formerly confederate states, with the last one being Texas in June 1865. Slavery in the United States had already been officially abolished nationwide months prior with the passing of the Thirteenth Amendment to the American Constitution in January of that same year (Hume & Arceneaux, 2008; Taylor, 2002).

The decades post-slavery are notable for several reasons related to race relations and include the establishment and eventual dissolution of social institutions like reconstruction and Jim Crow laws (Lawrence, 2018). Social advancements in America, particularly those initiated

in the 1950s and 1960s that were spurred on by the Civil Rights Movement, sought to rectify some of the social ills unique to the American context (Warren, 2013).

It can be counted as a success that with all African Americans have faced in the United States, and the efforts made to disenfranchise them, they continue to persist as a people and as Americans (Dawson, 2003; Martin & Martin 2002). Black and African American people in America are still wrestling with racism, and still seeking equity in justice, "life, liberty, and the pursuit happiness" (Bush & Bush, 2015; The United States Declaration of Independence, par. 2, 1776) promised to them unconditionally as American citizens living under American law. This basic right was not established with the creation of the Declaration of Independence or the original iteration of the American Constitution, but after the Emancipation Proclamation in 1863, and the eventual passing of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution in 1868. The Fourteenth Amendment was intended to grant citizenship and equal protection of the laws to all Americans including the formerly enslaved and displaced Black people living in the United States. Despite this, the liberty and rights of Black Americans were still not federally protected and remained contested throughout the Reconstruction era and well into the mid-twentieth century (Cates, 2012). The passing of the Civil Rights Bills of 1964 and 1968, more than a century after the end of the Civil War and the declared end to slavery, was not just a watershed moment for race relations in the United States, but a landmark moment in world history.

Although racial relations in the United States have improved significantly in the decades since the abolishment of slavery and the eventual passing of the Civil Rights Bill of 1964 (Miles, 2020; Stevenson, 2019) and many of the social ills that plagued African Americans throughout history were rectified, there is far more work to be done (Warren, 2013). Black and African American people in the United States have constantly had to grapple with the numerous

incarnations of American racism that have inhibited them from experiencing full and lawful equity in justice, "life, liberty, and the pursuit happiness," (Bush & Bush, 2015; The United States Declaration of Independence, par. 2, 1776). Black Americans are still contending with oppressive forces, brutality, trauma, and discrimination (Roberts & Rizzo, 2021). The limited number of protective or reformatory policies and legislation (Macedo, 2021) are strong indicators that American ideals and principles are still not justly applied to all American citizens as Black people in America still face disproportionate insecurity regarding their most basic rights, such as adequate health care, education, legal representation, and protection under the law (Feagin, 2013). Additionally, the adverse effects of historical trauma faced by Black descendants of slaves are still evident in African American communities (O'Connell, 2012).

Black Americans perpetually experience systemic and institutional racism (Brown, 2000; Chama, 2019). This is present in the American legal system (Macedo, 2021) where occurrences such as repeated incidents of police brutality against unarmed Black people (Johnson, 2016), disproportionate imprisonment and sentencing, and racial profiling (Perez, 2021) are rampant forces regularly impeding social justice (Williams et al., 2021). There are also economic injustices such as unfair housing policies (Lynch et al., 2021), gentrification (Chronopoulos, 2016; Yonto & Thill, 2020), and discriminatory financial practices (Charron-Chénier, 2020; Williams & Mohammed, 2009). At the institutional level, there is inadequate representation in public office and other high-ranking administrative positions (Costa, 2021; Heaney, 2020; Hicks et al., 2018), because of factors like voter suppression (Bump, 2016; Ross, 2019; Venetis, 2019; Wang, 2012). Additionally, educational resources are inadequately distributed to historically underserved predominantly Black communities (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021; English et al., 2016). The same can be said of healthcare resources leading to grave healthcare disparities for

Black Americans (Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Peek et al., 2021; Simons et al., 2021). This is evidenced by the disproportionate vulnerability experienced by the African American community in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic (Chapman, 2020; DiMaggio, 2020; Fairlie et al., 2020; Millett et al., 2020). These can all be cited as evidence of the injustice and inequality that persists in the United States, and also serve as evidence against the idea that all Americans are given equal regard (Smiley & Fakunle, 2016; Warren, 2013). These factors all influence the vast divide in the education, economic achievement, and overall well-being between African Americans and their White American counterparts (Hunt, 2004; Nam, 2020; Polk, 2018; Schiele, 2005) and are indicators of the systemic marginalization of Black people in the United States (Janssen, 2012). One could even cite the lack of a formal apology on behalf of the American government or any form of tangible reconciliation in the wake of slavery as additional evidence (Berlin 2004; Schedler, 2007). Though abolished in 1865, a federal holiday established to commemorate the end slavery was not instituted until 2021 (Juneteenth; Gordon-Reed, 2021).

The experience of Black and African American millennials in America is an indicator that though Americans are all entitled to the rights highlighted in the Declaration of Independence and the American Dream alike (Dyer, 2012), American citizens are not monolithic and are not all treated equally or have the same American experience (Opie & Roberts, 2017; Williams, 2018). This is why it is important that research be done regarding the specific experiences of Americans, particularly those with systemically marginalized and endangered identities. This study focuses on the lived experiences of Black and African American millennials born and raised in the United States, with particular attention paid to the possible contrast between their realities and that of the American Dream (Armstrong et al., 2019) as seen through their eyes and lived experiences in the United States. Its purpose was to explore what

impact Black and African Americans' perceived positionality in the United States has on their well-being, sense of national pride, and belief in their ability to "achieve" the American Dream (Carter & Perez, 2016; Flanagan et al., 2009). This study highlights Black and African Americans' thoughts and feelings associated with their lived experiences of being American, calling the United States home, and American ideals and principles. These thoughts and feelings will be explored in relation to their influence on how young Black Americans perceive the American Dream.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

The African American experience is integral to that of the history of America. Black life has been a fundamental element to the progression of American society. The Black American experience is mammoth in scope, the stories encapsulated within it are diverse and leave no area of American life untouched (Dufresne, 2017). Despite this, it seems that the narratives of Black people in America are constantly being overlooked (Brezinski et al., 2018; Ellis & Geller, 2016). This pattern plays itself out through multiple aspects of the Black existence.

There is perpetual outcry among minorities in the United States for proportionate representation in American institutions like local and federal government (Lee et al., 2018). Undeterred by the sharp incline in the demands for social change, improvement seems to move at a glacial pace in the United States (Coates, 2017; Towler et al., 2020). Improved racial and cultural representation in American social institutions and corporations is vital for fostering the still much-needed social progress in American society (Clark, 2019a). An appreciation for the African American experience and Black life in general in American society has been long awaited. Realizing the moment that Martin Luther King Jr. dreamed about a time in the United States when a Black life mattered just as much as a White one has been an enduring American struggle (Cottrell et al., 2019). In examining the idea of the American Dream and what it

represents to Americans, White and Black people alike, it is clear that there is a contrast between both groups, with African Americans being on the disadvantaged end of the spectrum.

Americans are aware of the disparity (Arroyo & Zigler, 1995; Lafree & Drass, 1996), but just like everything else, social change can be cumbersome. It is for this reason that some African Americans are disgruntled with their lot in America (Gibbons et al., 2019).

Additionally, attempts made to inspire healing and growth have been insufficient. With the lasting effects of slavery still readily apparent (Andrews, 2017), there are African Americans who feel like strangers in their own homelands (Halter & Johnson, 2014). The term African American presents itself to many like an oxymoron, mocking the very existence of Black life in the United States because sadly many African Americans cannot identify with being American (Andrews, 2017; Halter & Johnson, 2014), and even more are incapable of identifying with their African roots (Chaplin, 2018) and have no claim to Africa. African Americans are a historically displaced people (Norberg & Meshesha, 2019).

There is also a misconception among some Americans that in the United States, they are living in a post-racial society (Kaplan, 2011; Warren, 2013). This notion is based on the advancements in race relations in America, which these individuals support by citing the passing of the Civil Rights Act in 1964, the elections of a Black president in 2008 and 2012 (Kaplan, 2011; Warren, 2013), and a female Black vice president in 2020 (Reddi et al., 2021). What individuals making these claims often neglect are the numerous ways in which Black people in America have been treated in America not just historically, but currently (Bush & Bush, 2015; Roberts & Rizzo, 2021).

Due to economic hurdles, Black millennials' aspirations of realizing their American

Dream are particularly endangered when compared to not only their White counterparts, but

Black Americans from older generational cohorts. When Americans face adverse circumstances such as the housing crisis of 2008 or the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, though detrimental to all who experience it, the distribution of the effects are disparate (Samuel et al., 2021; Simons et al., 2021); Americans from marginalized and underserved communities struggle the most (Cain, 2015; Grishby, 2019; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015).

Black millennials on average, are currently in unprecedented levels of debt (Blalock, 2017; Nam, 2021), particularly Black American college graduates who find themselves borrowing more in educational loans compared to their White counterparts (Blalock, 2017). The Black American college students who are able to graduate with a bachelor's degree, on average go on to earn less and have a lower financial net worth compared to their White counterparts (Jones et al., 2020), thus weakening their already handicapped ability as an economic bloc to generate and maintain generational wealth (Adams et al., 2020; Ryabov, 2020). Some Black graduates also bear the burden of the Black Tax, which can be defined as an obligation some Black individuals feel to support their extended families (Magubane, 2017). Though noble and supportive of the collective, this can hinder individual economic advancement (Fongwa, 2019). The vast racial inequalities in debt accumulation can also be attributed to historical wealth disparities and the inability of Black Americans to transfer wealth generationally due to racist practices like redlining, which was a discriminatory mortgage lending practice that prevented loans for homes of predominantly Black neighborhoods. This not only hindered Black home ownership, but subsequently the communities in which Black folks were relegated. For example, schools in the historically "redlined" districts on average receive less government funding than schools in "White" districts, despite serving the same number or greater number of students with higher levels of need (Baker & Cotto Jr., 2020; Blalock, 2017). This leads to poorer educational

and vocational outcomes, less money invested in disadvantaged Black communities, and less wealth for Black millennials to inherit due to limited appreciation in property values over time which is a stark contrast to their white counterparts (Brady et al., 2020), and more debt.

The American Dream is as much of an economic ideal as it is an American one. Without economic power, African American millennials are further disadvantaged in their ability to realize the innate rights granted to them as American citizens as economic barriers make one more susceptible to being hindered by societal impediments like institutional racism and poor health (Grable & Joo, 2006; Ruetschlin & Asante-Muhammad, 2013). It is a misfortune that because of systemic racism, and related social deficits in their communities, inadequately equipped African Americans are still attempting to navigate past inherent pitfalls, on their way to economic success in an unfair and racist societal structure. As the American job market becomes increasingly competitive for the United States' most educated cohort in American history (Mottola, 2014; Patten & Fry, 2015), with 34% of millennials possessing at least a bachelor's degree (Taylor et al., 2014), some White millennials, with racial and economic privileges, have the means to ascend in skill and qualifications to meet the challenge. White Americans being more likely to have higher levels of financial well-being and financial literacy than Black Americans (Yakoboski et al., 2020) is evidence of this. Additionally, for White millennials, just being White is a protective factor in the American workforce (Jemal et al., 2017). A much larger and disproportionate percentage of the marginalized are incapable of meeting such challenges and therefore find themselves and their communities gradually left behind (Gopalan, 2019; Welburn, 2016).

The absence of literature and critical research regarding this population is evidence of the need for continued research related to the African American experience. This study would bring

needed awareness to the displaced and disadvantaged voices. African American millennials are aware of the unkept promises made to them but fulfilled to others (Mwangi et al., 2018; Seider et al., 2019). They are fighting for their right by law to have the same "American Dream" that their White counterparts are able to realize for themselves (Brown, 2000; Opie & Roberts, 2017). Displayed displeasure in American life for African Americans means more than what is seen at face value; these are narratives that need to be heard as doing so could facilitate healing.

#### **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of this study was to gain a better understanding of a historically oppressed group of Americans. This study explored the possible influence that their perceived positionality and associated feelings as millennials and African Americans has on their well-being, sense of national pride, and belief in their ability to achieve the American Dream (Armstrong, 2019; Carter & Perez, 2016; Flanagan et al., 2009). Learning more about their feelings toward the United States, its practices and ideals, while highlighting their experiences in coping with the possible mismatch of these ideals as well as their own individual realities as Americans, can give voice to this population's unique lived experiences. This process can also provide further insight into the larger African American experience, particularly how it is still impacted by racial inequality in the modern United States of America.

African Americans are persistently hyperaware of not only their experiences, but also what they observe to be the experiences of their White majority counterparts (Mwangi et al., 2018; Seider et al., 2019). Some African Americans feel justified in their perception that they have second-class standing in America (Gibbons, et al., 2019). They are cognizant of how the promises and ideals set forth by the American Constitution, the Declaration of Independence, the "American Dream," and other similar American creeds such as, "All men are created equal," apply to them in theory only, leaving them uncertain regarding their identities as Americans, and

conflicted in their feelings towards their home country (Halter & Johnson, 2014). For Black American millennials, this conflict and uncertainty is further compounded by the struggles of their generational cohort; struggles which they experience disproportionately (Hanson & Gulish, 2016). The intersectionality of their Black identities and their generational cohort places them at a heightened disadvantage and makes them more susceptible to oppressive factors and race-related stress (Boone, 2020; Jones et al, 2021). As a qualitative study, this research can supplement the knowledge base and bolster previous empirical findings related to Black life and the American millennial cohort by illustrating this peculiar reality.

Additionally, it is important to develop increased awareness of African Americans' conceptualization of the "American Dream," and the impact it has on Black millennials' perception of their status within American society (Cernkovich et al., 2000). Learning more about their unique realities and the idealized "American Dream" promised to them can highlight the roadblocks that impede their progression in society and impinge on their belief in their ability to achieve their aspirations (Cernkovich et al., 2000). Learning more about perceived roadblocks can help lead to the dismantling of these hindrances within American society.

#### **Research Questions**

For this qualitative research study, the research questions attempt to reflect and highlight the complexities of the reality (Mills & Birks, 2014) that is the African American millennial experience. The research questions are purposefully broad to accommodate the flexible nature of qualitative research, but not so broad as to lead to excessive conclusions (Corbin & Strauss, 2014; Mills & Birks, 2014). This research attempted to answer the following questions:

R 1. How do Black American millennials perceive their reality in relation to American ideals, such as the American Dream?

- R 2. How does the lived experience and perceived social positionality of Black and African American millennials influence their perception of the American Dream and other American ideals?
- R 3. What impact does awareness of the American Dream, and other similar American ideals have on Black and African American millennials' sense of American identity?

There has been a limited amount of research performed on the confluence of the American Dream and the African American millennial reality. Qualitative research can highlight insights and elicit theory development centered on the multi-layered and intricate reality of such a distinct population.

#### **Definition of Terms**

American Dream – The American Dream is an idealistic construct originally depicting an American utopia of equal rights and opportunities for social and economic advancement based on one's ability regardless of their race, creed, or birth circumstances. This construct is synonymous with American ideals of "life, liberty, and, pursuit of happiness." It is currently regarded as a financial aspiration.

*Millennial* – Although the age range for this cohort in the existing literature varies slightly, for the purpose of this study, millennials will be defined as people born between the years 1981 and 1996, currently ages 25 to 40 years old (Allen et al., 2020). As a group, this population is currently facing myriad adverse cohort disadvantages in comparison to older cohort counterparts, due to American economic trends. Disadvantages include increased average levels of debt, lack of vocational mobility, and financial capital.

**Black or African American** – The terms Black and African American are used to identify individuals of African descent (people whose ancestors descend from Black racial groups

indigenous to the continent of Africa), who possess American citizenship. For the purpose of this study, these individuals will be those who self-identify as either Black, African, Afro-Caribbean, or African American and also currently live in the United States. The terms Black and African American will be used interchangeably throughout study.

#### Significance of the Study

The findings of this study can provide more insight and create awareness related to the lived experiences of a historically oppressed people, facing contemporary forms of adversity. This study can highlight how the context in which the participants live has contributed to their plight and influenced their perceived reality as American citizens. Through hearing the stories of African American millennials, this study can shed light on the perceived impacts of the disparity in reality between privileged and oppressed groups. This is important because it is vital that the experiences of the oppressed not be overlooked, minimized, or taken at face value. There is an immense amount of nuance within the Black experience being taken for granted (Johnson, 2016) leaving Black Americans often feeling "unseen," and subsequently aggrieved as American citizens (Halter & Johnson, 2014). Hopefully, by gaining insight into African American reality, readers can learn more about the unique circumstances under which African Americans exist.

Awareness of the disparity between one's lived experience and their idealized reality elicits some form of anxiety in all people (Isaranon, 2019). As members of an oppressed group in America, which African Americans undoubtedly are, they are cognizant of their standing within American society, and that of their White majority counterparts (Anderson et al., 2021; Threlfall, 2018). Black Americans are able to highlight their unequal footing with the people with whom they are regarded as "created equal" (Carter & Perez, 2016; Cernkovich et al., 2000) under their country's Declaration of Independence. It can be imagined that such a reality could lead to a

sense of dissonance for ethnic minorities regarding their thoughts on their home country, and the rights promised to them. This research aims to provide readers with an understanding of how their reality influences the Black and African American people's views on the idealized American Dream and their subsequent feelings on being American. More effort needs to be made in bringing the lived experiences of those engaged in an unequal struggle to the American consciousness, as the insight gained can facilitate crucial dialogue and elicit necessary healing; hopefully, this study will contribute to that effort.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Introduction

The persistent pursuit for the equality of Black people in the United States and the struggle against racism has been a core element of the American experience since its inception in 1776 (Miles, 2020; Stevenson, 2019) when the founding fathers made an unspecific declaration of American freedom that made promises in perpetuity for seemingly only White Americans (Bush & Bush, 2015). This has been the backdrop against which the American Dream has been projected, depicting a fallacy that is American in name only. Just as the document that extoled liberty and equality upon the American people did not acknowledge the humanity of Black people, many authors have observed that the construct of the American Dream is inherently antiquated and an inadequate symbol of contemporary American life (Bush & Bush, 2015; McClelland & Tobin 2010; New Strategist Publications, 2018). This is particularly the case for Black and African American millennials (Allen et al., 2020; Boone, 2020; Hanson & Gulish, 2016; McCoy, 2019).

The idyllic American Dream, along with the United States' vaunted ideals and values have historically been imposed on Black life in the United States (Belgrave & Allison, 2009; Kraus et al., 2019; Trotter, 1995). Researchers have found that for the Black people living in the United States, this has caused psychological distress (Graham et al., 2016; Huguley et al., 2019; Odafe et al., 2017) presenting itself in the form of dissonance and discord (Cross, 1991; Durkee et al., 2019; Forsyth et al., 2015; Young, 2003), internalized racism (Bailey et al., 2011; Cokley, 2002, 2005; Neville & Cross Jr., 2017), and a perpetuation of racial oppression and further disenfranchisement (David et al., 2019; Schmidt, 2005; Speight, 2007). The combination of the

longstanding and ever-evolving specter of systemic racism (Combs, 2016; Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Perez, 2021; Threlfall, 2018) along with the presence of generational trauma in the wake of slavery (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021; Craemer et al., 2020; Johnson, 2016; Schiele, 2005) has made the Black experience in the United States one of constant turmoil and struggle (Anderson et al., 2021; Seider et al., 2019; Samayeen et al., 2020; Threlfall, 2018).

African American millennials living in the United States are at a further disadvantage; in addition to being marginalized because of their identity as Black Americans, Black millennials have a host of additional generation-specific barriers to overcome. The intersectionality of a historically oppressed identity and a distinctly disadvantaged one within an unfavorable American context produces peculiar and divergent realities stark in contrast to their White peers (Allen et al., 2020). This is of particular importance as Black and African American millennials are members of the largest generational cohort in the United States. They are positioned to be the backbone of American society as they will become the dominant collective force that impacts economic trends as well as American culture as a whole (Chaudhuri & Ghosh, 2012; Weinbaum et al., 2016).

As is often the case with Black sub-populations, there has been limited research focusing on the unique lived experiences of Black and African American millennials currently living in the United States (Boone, 2020; Ingram, 2021; McCoy, 2019). This study aims to add to the literature by highlighting the impact of historic marginalization on a subgroup of oppressed people living within the American context and contending with constant disenfranchisement and forced assimilation in the form of the imposition of American ideals such as the American Dream.

#### The American Dream

The American Dream is a social ideal that originally depicted an idyllic egalitarian American society where every citizen is entitled to a full and fulfilling life, filled with meaningful opportunities to achieve an ideal living aligned with their individual capabilities. Additionally, all citizens are entitled to be held in the same equal and esteemed regard, regardless of creed, social class, or the circumstances of their birth (Adams & Schneiderman, 2017). The idea of the American Dream was formally introduced into the American consciousness in 1931 (Taylor, 2019), by James Truslow Adams in his 1931 book *The Epic America* (Adams & Schneiderman, 2017). Adams' idea of the American Dream was inspired by the founding fathers' ambitions for the United States as outlined in the American Declaration of Independence (Dyer, 2012; Taylor, 2019). The declaration holds certain truths to be self-evident: "that all men are created equal" and entitled to civil liberties and "unalienable" human rights (The United States Declaration of Independence, par. 2, 1776; Jefferson, 2009). The American Dream is analogous with the "self-evident truths" of the United States Declaration of Independence (Dyer, 2012) and is thus an integral social construct to the American experience.

In current vernacular, the sentiment of liberty and assured human rights are still intrinsic to the American Dream and American society alike, but the American Dream has evolved beyond its conceptualization of an American utopia into an ideal that is tantamount to a financial aspiration (Hecht, 2018), existing in concert with American consumerism (Yoon & Kim, 2016). Research shows that Americans have been losing faith in the idea of the American Dream (McClelland & Tobin, 2010; New Strategist Publications, 2018), particularly as their ability to achieve it seems to be becoming increasingly endangered (Chetty et al., 2017). This is

particularly the case for White Americans (Cox et al., 2017), some of whom now believe that the sanctity and symbolism of the American Dream is threatened (Nelson, 2019).

Millennials are one of only a few American cohorts and subgroups still maintaining a strong belief and aspirations to realize the construct despite their lack of faith in their ability to actually achieve it (Abowitz, 2005; New Strategist Publications, 2015, 2018). A nationwide study found that 66% of millennials endorsed a belief in the American Dream, the highest percentage among other generational cohorts (New Strategist Publications, 2018). Millennials' endorsement of the American Dream is rooted in the belief that, as Americans they are able to improve themselves and their family's living standards (New Strategist Publications, 2018). Being more closely associated with economic achievement further highlights the current and historical racial (Kraus et al., 2019) and generational divide (Gooding, 2018; Ryabov, 2020) between Black and African American millennials and their White and older generational cohort counterparts. Economic disparities serve as an additional indicator that the notion of American liberty, and the unalienable human rights and opportunities to a good life are equally entitled to all Americans in theory only, not in reality (Berry, 2006; Roberts & Rizzo, 2021).

#### The African American Dream

In his work as a civil rights activist and scholar, Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. examined the idea of the American Dream through the lens of an African American (King Jr., 1963). Dr. King was cognizant of the fact that all men and women were indeed created equal, but in the United States, they were not treated as such (Kearl, 2018; King Jr., 1963, 2018). This is the reality faced by many African Americans today; a reality that, according to Kate Carroll de Gutes (2020) and Coleman et al. (2019), is widely unremarked upon and often unacknowledged by those who are privileged in America and not forced to endure such an existence. Dr. King made his "dream"

explicit, and through contrast made it clear that the "American Dream" (King Jr., 2000, pp. 83) was anything but American in its exclusion of marginalized populations living on its soil (Damak, 2018; Kearl, 2018; Purcell Jr., 2014). In his "Letter From Birmingham Jail," King (1963) posited that Black people's "echoing demands" (King Jr., 2000, pp. 82) —their protest for equal rights and the opportunity to experience the American Dream and "the most sacred values" (King Jr., 2000, pp. 83) of American heritage was necessary especially if the United States were to become the great democracy the founding fathers purported it to be in the Declaration of Independence and the American Constitution (King Jr., 2000).

Dr. King tried to highlight for a privileged White majority what was already evident to a frustrated and oppressed racial minority, that all Americans are not treated equally (Leopold & Bell, 2017; Mazumder, 2018; Philogène, 2000). Americans are not a monolithic group; they do not live in a society where all individuals benefit equally. Additionally, there is an immense amount of nuance within the Black experience in the United States that is often taken for granted (Johnson, 2016). Research indicates that this experience has left Black people to often feel diminished and aggrieved (Cross, 1991; Halter & Johnson, 2014).

The 1963 "March on Washington," and Dr. Martin Luther King Jr's "I Have a Dream" speech are watershed moments in not only Black history, but American history in its entirety. In his speech, Dr. King stressed the importance of social reform now rather than later, a sentiment still expressed by contemporary scholars who contend that there needs to be immediate reconciliation between African Americans and the United States (Colbert, 2017; Fields, 2016; Torpey, 2019). Dr. King presented an undeniably poignant view of the Black experience in America at that time, one that could no longer be neglected by those benefiting from the privilege gifted to them by their forefathers (Purcell, 2014). Dr. King also pronounced his own

American "dream" of equality and inclusion in the United States regardless of race, color, or creed (Damak, 2018). Dr. King's declaration of his "dream" was similar to the one expressed by the United States founding fathers, and James Truslow Adams, but Dr. King differed from them in that he took care to overtly and intentionally mention race, underscoring its importance (Lei & Miller, 1999). Dr. King saw clearly how, due to historical contexts, race and poverty were intertwined and dutifully pointed out the sacrifice it would take on behalf of a privileged White majority to rectify this issue (King Jr., 1963, 2018; Leff & Utley, 2004).

After the election of a Black president in the United States, there is a belief among many Americans that Dr. King's "dream" has been realized (Deifell, 2018; Ward, 2011). There is also a misconception among many Americans that they are living in a post-racial society (Cohen, 2011; Deifell, 2018; Kaplan, 2011; Wamble & Laird, 2020; Warren, 2013). This notion is based on the advancements in race relations in the United States (Kaplan, 2011; Tamali, 2021; Warren, 2013), but the nation's embrace of historic emblems might indicate otherwise. The articles believed to be representative of American values, and extolling freedom and justice for all, are symbols of oppression for Black Americans (Demetriou & Wingo, 2018; Johnson, 2018; Mitchell, 2020; Schedler, 1998). An example of this can be seen in the numerous statues, monuments, and other forms of tribute to former White American slaveholders (Demetriou & Wingo, 2018; Schedler, 2001; Timmerman, 2020; Wijegoonawardana, 2021).

Even the Star-Spangled Banner, an emblem of American freedom and exceptionalism, contains racist undertones (Andrea & Sheffield-Hayes, 2019). Officially recognized as the American national anthem in 1931, it is an excerpt from a poem called "Defence of Fort M'Henry," written by Francis Scott Key (Kennedy, 2004; Richie, 2020). The poem contains words celebrating the deaths of slaves in the Revolutionary War, which, as the descendants of

slaves, is offensive to Black Americans (Bernstein et al., 2020; Dupuy, 2017; Pena, 2017; Schwarz, 2016; Morley & Schwarz, 2016). One could also cite the celebration of an American Independence Day and how its celebration overlooked the reality of the still enslaved Africans who sacrificed much to help the young nation achieve liberty from the British. The American government has never formally acknowledged that this independence was not applied equally (Darity Jr. & Mullen, 2020; Du Bois, 2020; Nieman, 2020). It is additionally difficult for some Black Americans to celebrate Independence Day, as some Black people living in the United States still do not feel entirely free (Hannah-Jones, 2019; Madriaga, 2005). This reality is compounded in the absence of reparations or a formal apology on behalf of the American government to the descendants of the enslaved African people (Brooks, 2020; Hatch, 2006; Prager, 2017; Schedler, 1998; Weyeneth, 2001). The lack of a federal holiday commemorating the end of slavery in the United States until 2021, more than 150 years after the Emancipation Proclamation and the 13<sup>th</sup> Amendment, could also be cited (Walker, 2021).

In present day, the American government still fails to enact substantial police reform policies. The dereliction of this duty persists, despite the evident need for such intervention (Redbird & Albrecht, 2020; Epp et al., 2017; Fenton et al., 2020) and one of the largest outbreaks of racial protest in United States' history in response to the unjust killings of Black Americans including Breonna Taylor, George Floyd, Rayshard Brooks, Botham Jean, and numerous others (Aitken, 2021; Andrews et al., 2020; Reny & Newman, 2021; Spencer, 2021). The murder of George Floyd prompted American lawmakers to propose a police reform bill, which would become known as the George Floyd Justice in Policing Act (Hewitt, 2021). The bill was created as a means of undoing years of racist policing rooted in this country's inception (Duchess Harris & Gagne, 2020; Monkkonen, 1992; Potter, 2013; Uchida, 1993). The George Floyd policing act

was passed in the House of Representatives but was stalled and eventually failed in the American Senate (Hewitt, 2021; Sonmez & DeBonis, 2021). The lack of reform addressing the historical racial bias in American policing is evidence of persistent injustice and inequity for Black Americans. It also represents The United States' embrace of an institution, created to uphold American law and order, that is seen as symbol of oppression for many Black people in America (Bolton & Feagin, 2004; Bor et al., 2018; Howell et al., 2004; Smith Lee & Robinson, 2019).

#### **Black Identity in the White-Dominant American Context**

The concept of the American Dream encompasses American ideals and principles that all Americans are entitled to in theory, but not often in practice (Berry, 2006; Bush & Bush, 2015; Stiuliuc, 2011). Historic prejudice and discriminatory practices such as racially-biased banking and mortgage lending policies (Lynch et al., 2021), racial segregation (Stern, 2021), unjust policing (Perez, 2021), and political disenfranchisement (Epperly et al., 2020) have been critical to the proliferation of modern-day systemic racism (Craemer et al., 2020; Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Johnson, 2016) and the subsequent marginalization of the Black and African American population of the United States.

Due to their experience contending against systemic racism (Brady et al., 2020; Combs, 2016; Macedo, 2021; Threlfall, 2018) and the lingering ill effects of slavery within the American context (Berlin, 2004; Craemer et al., 2020; Nunn, 2008; Philogène, 2000), African Americans regularly wrestle with racially-rooted marginalization, anxiety, and stress. This experience inevitably manifests itself in their identity development as African Americans (Cross, 1971; Hall, 2012; Helms 1996). Researchers have found that confrontation with racial oppression can have diverse effects on Black people's racial development and sense of self, which influences how they respond to the oppression (Cross, 1991; Forsyth et al., 2015). For those who are unprepared,

such an encounter could be crippling (Cort, 2007; Stevenson Jr., 1995). For others it can lead to increased awareness and activism (Neville & Cross Jr., 2017).

The construct of Black racial identity development has been explored extensively in past research (Awad, 2007; Milliones, 1980; Thomas, 1971; Sellers et al., 1998; Vandiver et al., 2002) with some researchers paying particular attention to the influence that racial oppression has on the process from a contextual standpoint (Cross, 1971, 1991; Delgado & Stefancic, 2012; Helms, 1996). Notable among past research is Cross' 1971 development of the Nigrescence theory which was created to outline the stages by which Black individuals realize their Black consciousness in response to the systemic racial oppression they experience.

In his Nigrescence theory, Cross (1971, 1991) posits that there is a relationship between racial identity and self-regard. Additionally, he contends that an individual's self-concept consists of two elements, their personal identity, and their reference group orientation. An individual's reference group is defined as any social group that a person considers themselves to be a member of. The Nigrescence theory was developed into a model which illustrates how Black people's experience with being marginalized and disenfranchised affects them psychologically (Vandiver et al., 2002). The revised version of the Nigrescence model consists of four stages: pre-encounter, encounter, immersion-emersion, and internalization (Cross, 1991). Cross (1991) uses the model to hypothesize how an individuals' response to external racial stressors influence their identity development. For example, someone in the pre-encounter stage (characterized by idealization of White dominant culture, and internalized racial oppression) (Worrell et al, 2004), who assimilates to the dominant White American culture with limited acceptance of their Black identity is likely to have less racial salience and identify stronger with the larger American reference group (Vandiver et al., 2002).

The encounter stage is characterized by a Black individual's awareness of the invasive and oppressive dynamics between dominant White American culture and Black culture. According to Cross (1991) this realization is triggered by a psychologically impactful event, such as witnessing police brutality which elicits an emotionally intense and uncomfortable reevaluation of the relationship between Black people and the dominant White American culture. The encounter stage leads to increased racial salience in the immersion-emersion stage, which is characterized by dichotomous feelings related to their Blackness and White culture (Cross, 1991). For example, an individual in this stage may experience increased pride in their Black identity and antipathy regarding elements of White culture. The final stage of Cross' Nigrescence model is the internalization stage in which an individual adopts a more sophisticated and nuanced understanding of Blackness and its relationship within the American context. Black individuals in the internalization stage are able to take on a multiculturalist identity—an indicator of Black acceptance and strong positive racial salience—while also being accepting towards members of other racial groups and having salience with at least one other reference group such as their generation cohort, or the larger American society (Vandiver et al., 2002).

Theoretical models such as the Nigrescence model (Cross, 1971, 1991) provides researchers with the necessary scaffolding to conduct research and gain a better understanding of the Black and African American community as they exist as a historically displaced and oppressed group (Andrews, 2009; Cokley, 2002; Dartson, 1999; Manning, 1998; Seaton et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2009). For example, Janet Helms (1995) proposed that rather than being moved through stages of Black identity, Black people adopt more fluid or amorphous statuses that hybridize in response to racial stressors. With regards to their ability to live and thrive in the United States, researchers have found that amongst Black people in the United States,

achievement and success have been racialized; this is due to their awareness of racial oppression and other racialized experiences (Andrews, 2009; Durkee et al., 2019; Pierre, 2004; Stinson, 2011). African Americans cite racial oppression as the cause for their inability to achieve their life goals (Campbell & Fleming, 2000; Sellers et al., 2011). The pervasiveness of racially oppressive messages within the African American community has led to internalized racism and racial anxiety, which is correlated with decreased mental health and self-regard (Odafe et al., 2017; Sanchez et al., 2016). The experience of internalized racism is particularly harmful, as it is a self-perpetuating mechanism that maintains systems of racial oppression. Internalized racism is defined by Hall (1986) as a victim of racism subjecting themselves to "racist ideology" which attempts to "imprison and define them" (pp. 26). In the context of African Americans, internalized racism entails an acceptance of systems of American racism, the endorsement of racist stereotypes, and a likely self-hatred (Pyke, 2010). Through their apathy and antagonistic attitudes towards Black identity and culture, Black people who struggle with internalized racism perpetuate systemic racism by complying with racial oppression and mirroring it in their communities (Molina & James 2016). This behavior is complicit in further facilitating the disenfranchisement and marginalization of Black people by causing emotional strain (Johnson & Arbona, 2006; Szymanski & Lewis, 2015), psychological distress (Calvin et al., 2003; Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021; Molina & James 2016; Mouzon & McLean, 2017), reinforcing racial hierarchies (Huber et al., 2006; Kohli, 2014), and reproducing oppression in their communities (Brown & Segrist, 2016; Pyke, 2010; David et al., 2019).

Awareness of the disparity between one's lived experience and their idealized reality elicits some form of anxiety in all people (Isaranon, 2019; Odafe et al., 2017; Sellers et al., 2011; Speight, 2007). As members of an oppressed group in America, African Americans who have

moved beyond the pre-encounter stage of identity development are hyperaware of their standing within American society, and that of their White majority counterparts (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021). This highlights the unequal footing with people who are regarded as "created equal" (Carter & Perez, 2016; Cernkovich et al., 2000) under their country's Declaration of Independence. It can be imagined that such a reality could lead to a sense of dissonance for racial minorities regarding their own identities and thoughts on their home country (Campbell & Flemming, 2000). This results in the limiting of their level of civic engagement in their communities (Farmer, 2006; Moses et al., 2020; Towler, 2020), which leads to further marginalization, and the loss of sense of self-efficacy in their ability to achieve their own "dreams" living in American society (Campbell & Fleming, 2000; Durkee et al., 2019; Sanchez et al., 2016; Sellers et al., 2011).

## The African American Reality

What is often neglected by individuals making claims of living in a post-racial United States is the numerous ways in which Black people in the United States have been mistreated there, and not just historically (Williams, 2012), but currently. Occurrences such as disproportionate police brutality and prejudice against Black people (Chama, 2019) is evidence of this. Voigt et al., (2017) found that Black people interacting with the police are 61% more likely than White people to be verbally accosted by a police officer. In a stark contrast, White Americans are 57% more likely to have civil and respectful interactions with officers compared to Black people (Voigt et al., 2017). DeGue et al (2016) found that between 2009 and 2012, Black people in America were 2.8 times more likely to have a fatal interaction with police officers, when compared to White Americans despite being more likely to be unarmed (14.8%) compared to their White (9.4%) counterparts. Other studies have found that, compared to White

Americans, Black Americans are three times more likely to be shot and killed by police officers and five times more likely to be unarmed in such an encounter (Bor et al., 2018). Additionally, Black teens in America are 21 times more likely to be killed by police officers compared to white teens (McLeod et al., 2020). Studies indicate that such occurrences are erosive to the mental health and well-being of not only the victims' loved ones, but the Black American community as a whole, reinforcing disenfranchisement and civic insecurity (Bor et al., 2018; Laurencin & Walker, 2020; McLeod et al., 2020). Bratton and Anderson (2018) found that only 19% Black Americans express confidence in American policing, compared to 56% of White Americans. This finding is an indicator of a divide in how Black Americans view law and order in the United States, and how they themselves are viewed by the legal system compared to White Americans (Trinkner et al., 2019). This suggests that due to disparities in treatment, Black people are less inclined to engage with law enforcement (Ang et al., 2021; Jindal, et al., 2021; Smith Lee & Robinson, 2019; Trinkner et al., 2019), a right entitled to all Americans.

The racial disparities in the criminal justice system do not stop with police interactions but extend to the courts. Black Americans receive disproportionate sentencing for minor crimes (Jouet, 2019; Stone-Mediatore, 2019) and are also incarcerated at a disproportionate rate in the United States (Aelion, 2017; Leonhardt, 2020), as the 2.3 million incarcerated Black people make up 34% of the incarcerated population in the United States (National Association for the Advancement of Colored People; NAACP, 2021). The NAACP (2021) reports that Black males are being incarcerated at a rate six times higher than White males, and they posit that should this trend continue, it could increase to as high as one in every three Black American males experiencing imprisonment in their lifetime, a stark contrast to the projected one in every 17 White men (NAACP, 2021). This statistic is troubling not only because of the impact

imprisonment can have on an individual and their family (Edgemon & Clay-Warner, 2018; Harris & Harding, 2019; Nowotny & Kuptsevych-Timmer, 2018), but on the Black community as a whole, because it can prohibit a significant portion of the African American population from engaging in civic duties like voting (Jackson, 2017; Troyer, 2021) and severely inhibits their ability to have a positive economic impact within their community (Brown et al, 2019; Leonhardt, 2020; Petit, 2012).

Voter suppression, which can be defined as strategies enacted to create exclusion of members of a particular group from the democratic process (Hing, 2018), is another racist practice that can lead to the marginalization of Black communities. In the United States all American citizens are entitled to the right to vote in democratic elections, save for a few. The lifetime cessation of voting rights for American people in some states who have been convicted of a felony is seen as a form of voter suppression as this policy prohibits about 2.3% of Americans of voting age from participating in elections (Manza & Uggen, 2004). What makes this policy especially concerning is, because Black Americans are disproportionately arrested, felon disenfranchisement hampers the African American vote (Manza et al., 2004; Manza & Uggen, 2004); more incarcerated Black people means less Black voters, and a weaker Black voting bloc. Other forms of voter suppression tactics have historically been used against Black voters, including literacy tests, poll taxes, and lynching during the Jim Crow era (Combs, 2016; Epperly et al., 2019; Mahato, 2019). In the present day, voter suppression takes many forms (Anderson, 2018; Cobb, 2018; Cobb et al., 2010; Keyssar, 2012), such as partisan gerrymandering of election districts to isolate Black voters and reduce their impact (Hing, 2018; Mahato, 2019). Voter identification laws are also seen as a biased deterrent against Black voters as government issued identification is required to vote in 35 American states (Alvarez et al.,

2008a; Biggers & Hanmer, 2017). Mahato (2019) reports that approximately 25% Black Americans eligible to vote do not own the necessary identification necessary to do so. Driver's licenses are the most common form of government identification, but Black Americans are 50% less likely than White Americans to have one (Hajnal et al., 2017). This is especially burdensome for elderly Black Americans, who are a part of a cohort that votes most consistently and are less likely to have government-issued photo identification and may have had their driver's licenses taken away due to their age (Hopkins et al., 2017). Even more troublesome is the inequity experienced by Black people regarding having the necessary identification. For example, in Texas, voters are able to use gun permits, but college identification is not suitable for voting. This is seen as a deterrent to young Black voters as more than half of the students in the University of Texas system are Black while more than 80% of gun permit license holders in Texas are White (Barreto et. al 2018; Walker et al., 2018). In Alabama, not long after the passing of a voter identification law, 31 of 67 Department of Motor Vehicles offices were closed, a significant number of which were in majority Black counties (Anderson, 2018; Watson, 2015), deterring Black Americans from obtaining the identification necessary to vote. Additionally, factors such as not being able to locate their birth certificate, not being able to show proof of address, and not being able to afford a day off from work in order to obtain identification from a government office are all potential stumbling blocks for people from low-income backgrounds a demographic in which Black Americans are overrepresented (Biggers & Hanmer, 2017; Hing, 2018; Mahato, 2019). Should Black people have adequate identification to vote, those voting in majority Black constituencies are hindered by disproportionate wait times for voting due to underserved voting precincts where election officials fail to distribute adequate resources such as adequate staff and working voting machines (Hajnal et al., 2017; Hasen, 2017; Mukherjee, 2009;

Pettigrew, 2017). Pettigrew (2017) found that compared to people voting in majority White districts, voters in majority Black districts were three times more likely to wait more than 30 minutes, and six times more likely to wait longer than an hour. Mukherjee (2009) refers to the wait time to vote as the "time tax" (pp. 177). Additionally, Mukherjee (2009) highlights how costly the wait can be for some voters in terms of wages lost, another element of discouragement for Black voters.

Hing (2018) provides a reminder that successful voter suppression efforts not only silence the political voices of individuals, but hobble the concerted efforts of an entire group to exercise their voting power thus inhibiting their ability to impact change and lessen marginalization by advocating for policies aligned with their interests and concerns, or electing a representative who can advocate on their behalf (Avery & Peffley, 2005; Ingalls et al., 2013; Phillips & Deckard, 2016). A lack of voter turnout means less influence at state, federal, and local levels, and less social capital and group cohesion, which leads to weaker influence on social conditions and resource investment in critical areas such as infrastructure, education, and health (Hing, 2018). Additionally, past researchers have found that African Americans are less confident than are White American voters that their votes will be counted (Bullock et al., 2005). Alvarez et al. (2008b) found that 32.4% of African Americans expressed a lack of confidence that their votes are counted, compared to 8.5% of White Americans. Parson and McLaughlin (2007) had similar findings, with 29% of African Americans believing that their votes would not be counted, compared to 8% of White Americans. The disparity in responses indicate a lack of belief among Black Americans that their votes matter, which would make them less likely to vote (Ellis, 2008). Researchers have found that this sort of disenfranchisement, known as political disempowerment, can have negative effects on citizens' well-being (Gilbert & Dean, 2013;

Marmot, 2007; Wallerstein, 2002), such as eliciting a feeling of having a lack of control in their environment (Hing, 2018). Unfortunately, this reality has become characteristic of the American experience in the wake of the Donald Trump presidency as it has been synonymous with an increase in rhetoric regarding voter fraud and rigged elections (Barkun, 2017; Goidel et al., 2019). This has eroded Americans' confidence in the integrity of the democratic process (Berlinski et al., 2021; Ellis, 2020; Levy, 2020; Sinclair et al., 2018) most notably for Black Americans whom Norris et al. (2019) state are more likely to endorse a belief in unfair vote recording. Voter suppression and disempowerment also reinforce discrimination and systemic racism. Both factors can lead to emotional and bodily distress for Black people (Ahmed et al., 2007; Cobb et al., 2010; Hing, 2018; Marmot, 2003; Paradies et al., 2008; Williams & Mohammed, 2009). Hing (2018) highlights that voter suppression has made voting in the United States a privilege rather than a right. This privilege is determined not by American citizenship, but instead dictated by systems of structural racism.

When pursuing professional opportunities to advance and live fulfilling lives according to their abilities and achievements as Americans (Adams & Schneiderman, 2017), Black people sometimes find themselves in inhospitable environments where they face mistreatment in the workplace. The American Equal Employment Opportunity Commission reported that in 2014 racial discrimination was the most recurrent charge filed comprising 35% of all workplace discrimination claims filed under the agency's enforced statutes (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission). In 2014, a total of 31,073 race-based charges were filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Of this total, 25,482 were related to racial discrimination against Black people in American workplaces (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission).

Simple interactions in the workplace can be corrosive to a Black individuals' wellbeing, as even "brief, everyday exchanges" can lead to "denigrating messages" to people of color regarding their racial minority status (Sue et al., 2007, p. 273). Occurrences like these are known as racial microaggressions and they are rampant in American workplaces, particularly in predominantly White organizations (Blume et al., 2012; Pitcan et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2014) More than just being a belittling and disheartening everyday annoyance, racial microaggressions can lead to the degradation of a Black person's mental health (Pierce, 1974), and facilitate the widening wage gap between Black and White people in the American workforce (Hernandez et al., 2019).

Pitcan et al. (2018) found that Black men on average earn 77.1% of their White male counterparts' average salary, Black women on average earn even less (Derenoncourt & Montialoux, 2020; Karageorge, 2017). Daly et al. (2017) finds this particularly troubling as the gap is widening and according to them, the cause for this cannot be explained by differences in vocational field, education, age, and location. Additionally of note, Bertrand and Mullainathan (2004) found that job recruiters were 50% more likely to contact people with more common anglicized "White" names, for an interview compared to those with stereotypically African American names. The researchers found that the disparity was consistent across industries and employers' size; when controlling for qualifications, resumes with "White" names were more favored.

Researchers have identified vocational prejudice and historical disparities in wages, along with unfair housing policies, as some of the many reasons why there is a widening racial wealth gap in the United States (Kochhar & Fry, 2014; Singh, 2021). Historical factors have handicapped Black Americans' ability to build and transfer wealth (Boen, et al., 2020; Lauer,

2017; Williams, 2008). In 1963, the net worth of White American families was reported to be \$45,000 greater than Black American families; by 2016 it grew to be \$150,000 greater (Urban Institute, 2017). McIntosh et al. (2020) reported that in 2016, the average net worth of a White family was \$171,000, which was almost ten times greater than that of the average Black family at that time (\$17,150). This disparity cannot be attributed solely to differences in wages, but also how Black people utilize debt for purposes such as student loans, health care, car ownership, and household upkeep among other personal matters (Charron-Chenier, 2020; Boen et al., 2020). Researchers found that this is the case in part because Black people on average have less wealth thus, they are more reliant on credit (Killewald & Bryan, 2018; Seamster, 2019).

Though researchers highlight that White people on average have more debt than Black people in the United States (Charron-Chénier & Seamster, 2018; Mcintosh et al., 2020; Seamster, 2019), Seamster (2019) makes a note that in addition to being more likely to have the financial wealth necessary to pay off their debt, White people's debt is typically the type of debt that can be used to generate additional wealth, such as an investment that will grow in value and offer a good return on the initial investment. These types of investments can in turn be leveraged to acquire additional financial assets for example, leveraging the equity invested in a home to buy another. This process facilitates wealth generation, social mobility, and healthy financial risk-taking through investments. Additionally, researchers have found that wealth begets political and social influence (Wolff, 2002; Zewde, 2020) as well as education attainment as children from wealthier families are more likely to earn four-year degrees and develop social mobility (Braga et al., 2017; Feiveson & Sabelhaus, 2018).

The Black Americans who are able to find some modicum of financial success are also often burdened with what can defined as the Black Tax (Magubane, 2017). This is the sense of

obligation that some Black people must provide for their families and other members of their communities. This collectivist value is integral to many Black family systems (Magubane, 2017). The idea of the Black Tax is rooted in the principle of *Ubuntu*, a Bantu term derived from a Nguni phrase: *Umuntu Ngumuntu Ngabantu*, which can be translated as, "a person is a person because of or through others" (Mabasa, 2020, p. 1). This concept speaks to the level of commitment Black people feel towards their communities and how successful Black people's decision to invest resources into them can be a protective factor (Hood et al, 2017; Mhlongo, 2019; Mlondo, 2022). Despite the virtue and inherent benefit of a commitment to improving the welfare of their extended families and wider community, the Black Tax can exact a hefty toll. This presents itself in the form of psychological stress and fatigue associated with bearing the disproportionate burden of attempting to uplift their communities (Forman 2002) while also trying to cope with racial adversity and gain financial and social capital (Devore, 1983; Fongwa, 2019; Hood et al, 2018).

Home ownership is an essential element of wealth building and achieving the American Dream, in the contemporary sense. It has been historically denied to Black people in the United States because of predatory and racist mortgage lending practices, such as redlining (Jones et al., 2020; Lynch et al., 2021; Williams, 2008). A practice known as blockbusting entailed building developers convincing White homeowners to sell their homes at a lower price, in response to the impending threat that racial minorities would move in and have an adverse effect on their property values, health, and safety (Mehlhorn, 1998; Orser, 2015, 2019). The developers would then sell the vacated properties at elevated prices, sometimes up to almost 28% higher (Akbar et al., 2019), to Black families, who would also have to pay unfair mortgage rates (Craemer et al., 2020; Rothstein, 2017; Shoenfeld, 2018). This was a method by which Black people were

segregated, as their communities became ghettos (Pearcy, 2020) that were mismanaged by local government (Powell, 2021). They lived in homes worth a fraction of what they were required to pay, as not only did they pay a higher price for their homes, but once the neighborhood they lived in became "Black," their property values fell by about ten percent (Akbar et al., 2019; Rothstein 2017). These environments became conducive to the proliferation of social ills (Caputo-Levine & Lynn, 2019; Griggs et al., 2019) as these communities and the people living in them were subsequently pathologized by the dominant White power structure which lead to forms dehumanization and further marginalization such as unjust policing (Pearcy, 2020; Powell, 2021).

Researchers highlight how the effects of blockbusting and redlining can still be felt today by Black communities (Akbar et al., 2019; Bloch & Phillips, 2021; Jones & Jackson, 2018; Lynch et al., 2021; Pearcy, 2020; Poulson et al., 2021; Powell, 2021). For example, past redlined communities, that are majority Black, are not only still experiencing economic hardship, but the schools in these areas receive less educational funding than predominantly white districts leading to underserved schools producing ill-prepared students with less social mobility (English et al., 2016; Fisher et al., 2020; Henderson et al., 2019). Jones et al. (2020) found that, despite serving the same number of students or greater, non-White school districts in the United States receive \$23 billion less in educational funding compared to predominantly White school districts.

Additionally, the blockbusting of the past has now given way to gentrification and the subsequent displacement of Black families who can no longer afford to live in the communities they called home (Hightower & Fraser, 2020; Jones & Jackson, 2018).

The disproportionate levels in wealth between Black and White people in the United States also directly impacts African American's health outcomes (Lynch et al., 2021; Simons et

al., 2021) and the discrimination they experience when seeking health care (Assari & Moghani Lankarani, 2018; Daniels et al., 2020; Powell et al., 2019). This is particularly evident in the disparity in mortality and morbidity in the Black American community compared to White Americans during the COVID-19 pandemic (Chapman, 2020; Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Peek et al., 2021). Garg et al. (2020) found that in Chicago, Black people made up 50% of COVID-19 cases and 70% of deaths despite Black people making up only about 30% of Chicago's population. According to the Center for Disease Control, despite only making up 13% of the United States' population, Black people composed 33% of hospitalized COVID-19 patients (Ibrahimi et al., 2020). Samuel et al. (2021) found that American counties with higher percentages of Black people had higher rates of COVID-19 diagnoses and deaths. The researchers (Samuel et al., 2021) concluded that this was due in part to distrust of the American health care systems as well as the conditions in which some Black people lived. Black people's overrepresentation in occupations deemed to be essential during the pandemic also increased their exposure (Biu et al., 2021; Wingfield, 2021). Samuel et al. (2021) posited these factors were a direct result of historical discriminatory practices.

Beyond the impacts of racism on physical health, researchers have also found that racism and disenfranchisement negatively impact both the mental health of African Americans, and their willingness to pursue mental health care (Alang, 2019; Castro-Ramirez et al., 2021; Henderson et al., 2019; Jemal et al., 2017; Polk et al., 2020). A Kaiser Health News report found that African American adults are 20% more likely to experience mental health struggles (Ibrahimi et al., 2020). Eichstaedt et al. (2021), found that in 2020 the presence of mental health struggles among African Americans reached unprecedented levels in the wake of George Floyd's murder. Eichstaedt et al. (2021) analyzed data collected from the United States Census,

Household Pulse and Gallup, assessing a representative sample of Black people's mental and emotional wellbeing a week after the murder of George Floyd, an unarmed Black man killed by a police officer. The Gallup poll reported that 50% of respondents indicated they had experienced an increased level of sadness and anger in response to the murder. The United States Census report indicated a spike in reports of elevated anxiety and depression among Black people. The researchers estimated that the increased levels of anxiety and depression reported corresponds to an additional 900,000 African Americans, a rate of increase significantly higher than that of White Americans (Eichstaedt et al., 2021).

Evidence of injustice and inequality in America disprove the idea that Americans live in a "post-racial" society (Smiley & Fakunle, 2016; Tamali, 2021; Warren, 2013). This is particularly disheartening when one considers the toll the African American community has had to pay historically in making America the country it is today (Coates, 2015; Janssen, 2012; Means, 2016; Williams, 2012), generating wealth and influence on behalf of their oppressors (O'Connell, 2012) without receiving adequate restitution (Coates, 2015; King Jr., 2018). The wealth generated by the slave trade has seldom been used to benefit the lives of those people who have had adverse lived experiences in the wake of slavery (Craemer, 2015; Obuah, 2016). Instead, it has been used to further marginalize those whose ancestors were inhumanely broken and bruised in the name of making America "great" (Gibbons et al., 2019; Jouet, M., 2019; Stone-Mediatore, S., 2019; Torpey, 2019). The generational wealth accumulated by a White majority in America has enabled Whites to retain a position of privilege in America (Torpey, 2019).

## The American Millennial Experience

Numbered at about 70 million (Choi et al., 2018), millennials are presently the largest American generational cohort. Also known as the Trophy Generation, Generation Y, and Echo Boomers (Dalton, 2012, McAllum, 2016; Waldrop & Grawich, 2011), millennial is a term used universally (Aboobaker et al., 2020; Clarke, 2021; Clark et al., 2021; Fox et al., 2021) to describe people born between the years 1977-1980 to 1994-1996. The range is considered to be fluid (DeVaney, 2015; Dimock, 2019; New Strategist Publications, 2018; Sweeney, 2006; Weinbaum et al., 2016). Millennials are described as being more liberal and accepting; their views and outlook on important issues such as religion, social welfare, and the role of government are diverse and disparate compared to their older generational predecessors (Corbet & Gurdgiev, 2017; Fisher, 2018; Schildkraut & Marotta, 2018). Researchers have found that American millennials are more likely to vote Democratic (Balf, 2020; Cheng, 2017; Medenica, 2018), but are more likely to identify as independents (Chaput, 2020; Gruber et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2019). Taylor et al. (2014) found that in 2014, 50% of millennials identified as independents compared to 39%, 34%, and 32% for Generation X, Baby Boomers, and the Silent Generation respectively. Taylor et al. (2014) also found that millennials are more optimistic regarding the United States' future, with 49% of them believing that the United States has a brighter future. Major zeitgeist events characteristic of the American millennials' generation are: the advent of the internet (1984 - 2004), the Dot-Com Bubble (1995 - 2001), 9/11 and the start of the Iraq war (2001), the Great Recession (2007 – 2009), the election of the United States' first Black president (2008), and the outbreak of the coronavirus (2020) (Debevec et al., 2013; Petersen, 2020; Vermeulen, 2021). Several authors have noted that these events have had a profound and

lasting economic impact on American millennials and their ability to realize the contemporary American Dream (Hidalgo et al., 2022; Sinha, 2016; Rubin, 2014; Xu et al., 2015).

Despite varying age ranges used to define the millennial cohort, there is a significant consensus that this generational cohort's birth year parameters are between 1981 and 1996 (Adams et al., 2020; Allen et al., 2020; Dimock, 2019; Fry, 2014; Taylor et al., 2014). In 2021 these individuals were approximately between the ages of 25 and 40 years old. The ages between 25 and 40 years old are critical because they are considered to be individuals' prime financial earning years (Barnett & Brennan, 1995; Deal et al., 2010; Fromm & Garton, 2013; Giuliano, 1998). At this stage, individuals will typically earn their highest wages and make pivotal financial decisions (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2007). This is a crucial factor when considering that American millennials, the largest generational cohort in the United States (Fry, 2016), are regarded as being at an economic deficit when comparing their average net worth and wages to that of their older generational counterparts' during their prime economic years (Kurz et al., 2019; Levenson, 2010; Taylor et al., 2014). Millennials are poised to be the dominant force behind American labor and productivity and are now tasked with cultivating the bedrock that will nurture future generations (AbouAssi et al., 2021; Chaudhuri & Ghosh, 2012; Weinbaum et al., 2016). Unfortunately, due to economic trends such as the Great Recession (from 2007 to 2009) the COVID-19 pandemic, and the United States' subsequent slow recovery (Goodman & Mance, 2011; Stock & Watson, 2012), millennials' ability to execute this task may be at risk. This is particularly the case for older millennials who entered the workforce in 2007 and may have experienced lasting financial adversity due to the economic downturn experienced after the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus (Zachara-Szymańska, 2021). Working millennials' recovery after the Great Recession lagged behind their older generational cohort counterparts due to their

being in the early stages of their professional development (Gale et al., 2020; Zewde & Crystal, 2021). According to Myers et al. (2020), this experience has hindered American millennials from reaching significant financial milestones such as purchasing a home. Despite being considered digital natives capable of navigating remote work during and after the COVID-19 lockdown (Gharzai et al., 2020; Keszei, 2018), the experience still had a profound financial impact on many millennials, compounding their already complex financial reality (Clark, 2019b; Kurz et al., 2019). During the COVID-19 pandemic, American unemployment reached record highs across generational cohorts (Fairlie et al., 2020; O'Connor et al., 2020; Pullen, 2020), and about 40% of layoffs became permanent job losses (Barrero et al., 2020; Hidalgo et al. 2022). However, as the generational cohort with the largest presence in the American work force, at about 35% (AbouAssi et al., 2021; Frian & Mulyani, 2018; Ingram, 2021; Sweeney et al., 2019), millennials were once again disproportionately affected by an economic downturn (Heys et al., 2020; Hidalgo et al., 2022).

Considering that home ownership is a significant element of generating and maintaining wealth in the United States (McCabe, 2018), this speaks to why millennials average net worth lags behind older generational cohorts as their rates for home ownership are significantly less compared to the home ownership rates of older generational cohorts at the same age (Choi et al. 2018; Mountain et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2015). Choi et al. (2018) cites millennials' delayed marriage rates as a significant cause for their lower rates of home ownership and subsequent lower ability to accumulate wealth through real estate appreciation. The researchers highlight that marriage increases the probability of owning a home by 18% after accounting for age, race, and income (Choi et al., 2018). Similar to rates of home ownership, millennials' marriage rate is less than that of older generational cohorts at the same age as approximately 60% of millennials

are single (Brodman et al, 2018). Choi et al. (2018) highlights that the marriage rate for American young adults has declined from 52% in 1990, to 39% in 2015. The researchers also posit that, had the marriage rate remained consistent since 1990, American millennials' home ownership rates would be five percent higher (Choi et al., 2018). Of note, even for those who do eventually marry, millennials are getting married at later ages; the American median age at first marriage is now at its oldest in history (Manning et al., 2014; Payne, 2019; Smock & Schwartz, 2020). Hemez (2020) found that in 2018, the median age at first marriage was 29.2 for men and 27.1 for women, significantly older than 22.8 and 20.3 for men and women respectively in 1960. Taylor et al. (2014) assert that millennials' delayed marriage rates may be due to financial hardships as marriage is no longer prevalent among young people across socio-economic groups as it was in the past but is instead more prevalent among individuals who are more educated or earn higher incomes. Taylor et al. (2014) also highlight that millennials have the highest rates of births outside of wedlock in the United States with 47% of children born to millennial women. Shifts in culture and beliefs may also be the cause for lower marriage rates as millennials have been found to be less religious and more diverse and liberal in their beliefs when compared to their generational predecessors (New Strategist Press, 2018; Rouse & Ross, 2019; Taylor et al., 2014).

Millennials' economic adversity can also be attributed to demographic factors such as their being more likely to live in or near city centers where the cost of living is higher particularly for real estate (Choi et al., 2018; Ehlenz et al., 2020; Myers, 2016). Additionally, in the job market American millennials face stiff competition as they are contending with a higher rate of older folks in the American workforce compared to past generations (Beinhocker, 2008; Fishman, 2016). Researchers have found that due to improved health outcomes for Americans

and adverse economic circumstances, Baby Boomers and members of Generation X are waiting longer to retire leading to an older and more competitive American workforce (Breyer & Kifmann, 2002; Caraher, 2016; Munnell & Rutledge, 2013; Quinn, 2010; Tang et al., 2013). As members of the most highly educated American generational group (Bannon et al., 2011; Burkus, 2010; Kurz et al., 2019), millennials also compete heavily with their peers for vocational opportunities. According to Hoffman (2018), American millennials have reached record levels of educational achievement across the national population. Levenson (2010) states that millennials have twice the college qualifications of their older counterparts as college attendance of young people (ages 25 to 29) has gone from 32%, with only 16% of the number earning degrees, to nearly 59% of young people attending some college and 31% having received at least a bachelor's degree in 2008. Since then, the upward trend of increased educational achievement among millennials has continued; in 2016 it was reported that among millennials, 38% of men and 46% of women earned at least a bachelor's degree, a significant contrast to 31% and 34% for Generation X men and women respectively in 2000 (Fry, 2017a).

Unfortunately, American millennials' record rate of academic achievement is accompanied by unprecedented levels of education debt which has been regarded as a crisis (Ghaoui, 2020; Haneman, 2017; Rubenstein, 2017; Welbeck, 2020). Researchers (Craemer, 2015; Ghaoui, 2020; Rubenstein, 2017) highlight the detrimental effect that the Great Recession in the United States had on American millennials particularly as it relates to college attendance. Researchers contend (Craemer, 2015; Cruz-Cerdas, 2017; Debevec et al., 2013; Rinz, 2019) that for older millennials who experienced job losses as mere newcomers to the American work force, pursuing higher education was seen as a means of making themselves more marketable and profitable in a depressed job market. Younger millennials who were not yet adults received

similar messages as they prepared to enter job market in flux (Craemer, 2015; Cruz-Cerdas, 2017; Rinz, 2019). Rubenstein (2017) states that this reality is reflected in the increase in American student loan debt as the amount doubled from 2007 to 2016. In 2020, the total American student loan debt reached a staggering all-time high at \$1.56 trillion, after having increased by \$100 billion since 2018 (Fay, 2021; Friedman, 2020; Welbeck, 2020). According to Rubenstein (2017), current total student debt levels in the United States is second only to the total mortgage debt and it likely still does not encompass the entirety of educational funding as students and families often utilize consumer debt through credit cards and home equity loans to pay for higher education fees. It is also worth noting the steep increase in the cost of earning a college degree in the United States which has contributed to the increase in student loan debt (Henley, 2014; Jones et al., 2009; Oachs, 2016).

The average debt toll per American student loan creditors in 2020 was about \$39,000 (Fay, 2021) spread across 45.4 million Americans (Friedman, 2020; Hanson, 2021; Welbeck, 2020). According to Hanson (2021), millennials account for 14.8 million Americans currently in student loan debt; they currently assume roughly 32% of the debt burden. Hanson (2021) also highlights that Generation X possess slightly more debt than millennials, however, this is mitigated by Generation X's higher income and net worth compared to millennials (Bialik & Fry, 2019; Fry, 2017b; Kurz et al., 2019). Also, Hanson (2021) highlights that some older Americans have assumed their dependents' educational debt as their own, indicating that millennials' impact on the overall American educational debt total may be greater than recorded. In 2018, Brodman et al. conducted a study sampling 468 Americans across generational cohorts, finding that despite being more highly educated, the majority of millennials (91%) primarily worked in entry to mid-level vocational positions. Subsequently, 68% of them earn less than

\$50,000 annually (Brodman et al, 2018). These findings are associated with an older workforce in which millennials have fewer opportunities for upward mobility and increased pay as older professionals occupy positions longer compared to past generations (AbouAssi et al., 2021; Gaidhani et al., 2019; Rutledge et al., 2015; Zemke et al., 2013). Brodman et al.'s (2018) findings spotlight the generational financial disparities in the American work force. As Baby Boomers (48%) and Generation X (51%) predominantly work in mid-level positions and have higher average wages at \$79,950 and \$55,600 respectively, millennial participants had a lower average income at \$46,320 (Brodman et al., 2018).

American millennials' lower average income and their shortcomings in generating wealth (Ghaoui, 2020; Levenson, 2010) makes their plight with student debt even more complex. Their financial circumstances worsen as some struggle or are unwilling to pay off their loans (de Bassa Scheresberg, 2014; Lee et al., 2019; Mottola, 2014; Teal, 2020) meanwhile, the cost of living in the United States continues to increase (Bobeica et al., 2021; Borrallo et al., 2021; Taylor, 2020a). As millennials prolong paying off their educational loans, their debt total compounds with interest further hampering their ability to become debt-free and realize the American Dream (Ben-Ishai & Stanley, 2016; Razzano, 2020; Xu et al., 2015). Rising levels of debt also bolsters the likelihood of payment delinquency and defaulted loans (Pizarro Milian et al., 2021). Scally (2018) found that in 2018, 11.4 percent of student loan creditors either failed to make a payment or defaulted on their loan; Blagg (2018) asserts that about one million Americans default on their student loans annually. Failure to repay student loans can have a disastrous impact on American millennials financial health, making it even more difficult for them to gain economic momentum (Cox et al., 2020). Additionally, this reality not only affects millennials and their families, it has an indirect effect on the American economy as a whole most notably because the educational

debt is owed primarily to the American federal government (Munsch & Mariola, 2021; Teal, 2020). The funds owed are critical to the federal government's ability to provide resources to Americans. For example, the federal government uses funds from Social Security and Medicare for American retirees to offset the burden of student loan debt (Matthews, 2021; Mitchell, 2021). Additionally, Rubenstein (2017) posits that millennials' inability or unwillingness to purchase homes negatively impacts older American homeowners who may depend on the windfall from the sale of their homes to supplement their finances in retirement.

## The Black Millennial Reality

While extensive research has been done regarding how the larger Black and African American community responds to marginalization and disenfranchisement in the Whitedominant American context (Craemer et al., 2020; Cross, 1971; Eichstaedt et al., 2021; Lynch et al., 2021; Perez, 2021) and the current reality of American millennials as a whole has been empirically explored at length (AbouAssi et al., 2021; Dimock, 2019; Fry, 2014; Hidalgo et al., 2022; Taylor et al., 2014), limited research has been done regarding the reality of the Black American millennial cohort and their relationship with the American experience (Boone, 2020; Ingram, 2021). Black American Millennials are a part of the largest (Adams et al., 2020; Fry, 2016; McCoy, 2019) and most diverse (Frey, 2018a; Struckell, 2019), liberal-thinking American generational cohort (Dimock, 2019; Schildkraut & Marotta, 2018; Taylor et al., 2014). This phenomenon speaks to the shifting American demographic landscape that is growing to become more globalized, multiracial, and less White (Frey, 2018b). DeVaney (2015) reports that 47% of American millennials identify as racial minorities, significantly higher than 37% for the Generation X cohort, 26% for Baby Boomers, and nine percent for the Silent Generation. Millennials also have lower levels of social trust (Struckell, 2019; Watts, 2018) as only 19% of

millennials express trust in American society compared to 31% of those from Generation X, 37% for those from the Silent generation, and 40% for Baby Boomers (Taylor et al., 2014). Dalton (2012) and Struckell, (2019) posit that this is likely due to millennials being closer to their social circle of friends as well as their families, as many of them still live in their family homes (Dey & Pierret, 2014). Taylor et al. (2014) argue that low social trust among American millennials may also be attributed in part to the increased diversity among millennials. Researchers have found that racial minorities in the United States are more likely to have low social trust (Koch, 2019; Taylor et al., 2007; Smith, 2010; Wilkes & Wu, 2018) due to societal hindrances and feelings of insecurity which makes placing trust in a societal system a significant risk as the consequences of having their trust betrayed could be detrimental (Paxton, 2005; Taylor et al., 2014).

For Black millennials, not only are they required to overcome the hurdles faced by their White counterparts, their intersectional racial identity also brings with it added complications and stressors associated with being Black in the United States. These issues are mainly economic in nature (Dimock, 2019; Sherwood, 2020; Xu et al., 2015). For example, in an already competitive American job market (Blancero et al., 2018; Goodman et al., 2015), some Black millennials are working in oppressive or non-supportive work environments (Boone, 2020; Hall, 2018; Jemal et al., 2017), where they can sometimes struggle with a widened disparity in pay (Biu et al., 2021; McCoy, 2019; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015; Wingfield, 2021), decreased opportunity for promotions, lack of representation (Cain, 2015; Ingram, 2021; McCoy, 2019; Powers et al., 2016; Wilson, 2019), rampant microaggressions (Allen & Harris, 2018; Boone, 2020), and other forms of racial and sometimes sexual insensitivity (Grishby, 2019). In contemporary American workplaces, there has been a strong push for increased racial and gender diversity and representation among employees, supervisors, administrators (Boone, 2020;

Homan, 2019; Windsceid et al., 2017). An interesting phenomenon has emerged in all this as employers seek to encourage diversity but at the same time place a high value on having a likeminded group (Hackett & Hogg, 2014). This is antithetical to the idea of diversity and inclusion and hinders its inherent value to the organization (McCoy, 2019; Stewart et al., 2008). An employer's misguided attempts at promoting workplace diversity foster an environment that promotes microaggressions and racial tokenism (Jones, 2014; Pitcan et al., 2018; Ruby, 2020; Salazar et al., 2019). This type of environment can subsequently lead to Black millennials struggling with decreased self-efficacy and feelings of marginalization, inadequacy, and depression (Cockshaw et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2021; McNutt, 2021; Stewart et al., 2008; Witt & Joseph, 2010). Other factors, such as discrimination in supervisory practices and job evaluations further lead to diminished self-regard such that black employees rate their perceived job performance lower than their white counterparts (Dickens & Chavez, 2018; Yang & Morimoto, 2011) fostering a cycle of poor performance followed by poor performance reviews that result in a lack of upward organizational mobility, pay disparity, and further marginalization (Dickens & Chavez, 2018; O'Brien et al., 2016; Yang & Morimoto, 2011).

Racial wage disparity is still an issue in contemporary United States (Karageorge, 2017). Dettling et al. (2017) found that Black American families earn on average \$35,000, a little more than half of the average income for White American families (\$61,000). Zewde (2020) found that in 2015 the median net worth among young adult households was about \$29,000 and reports that young Black American households median net worth was roughly a tenth of the overall median. Zewde (2020) reports that millennial White American households' net worth was significantly larger than that of their Black counterparts at approximately \$46,000, which is 1.5 times higher than the overall median and 15 times larger than the African Americans median.

Cruz-Cerdas (2017) found that even after earning a four-year degree, Black millennials still earned significantly less than White millennial college graduates earn. Cruz-Cerdas (2017) tested a sample of 7,665 American millennial college graduates and found that Black American millennials on average made about \$5,000 less than their White counterparts. Wood III (2019) found that the racial income disparity gap in Texas has widened at nearly twice the national pace. Wood III (2019) states that in 2017, the median wage for Black people in Texas fell from 79% to 70% of White Texans' median wage. In addition, Wood III (2019) points out that in the ten largest Black majority American cities, Black people experience an unemployment rate that is at least five times greater than White residents.

Compared to White American millennials, Black American millennials have also accumulated higher levels of student loan debt and have been found to be more likely to default on their loans (Haughwout et al. 2019; Welbeck, 2020). The College Board reported that during 2007 and 2008, 27% of Black American college students who earned a bachelor's degree borrowed at minimum \$30,000 compared to their White counterparts at 16% (Baum & Steele, 2010). This is due in part to Black families' historical inability to contribute to their children's education (Scott-Clayton, 2012). Zewde (2020) posits that the disparity in access to wealth and resources in the United States is influenced by race. For young Black Americans this means on average less access compared to young White Americans.

For Black American millennials, this issue was further compounded by the Great Recession which disproportionately impacted African American families who experienced a 53% decline in average household net worth (Kochhar et al., 2011). When Americans face adverse circumstances like these, though detrimental to all who experience it, the distribution of the effects are disparate; it is Americans from marginalized and underserved communities who

struggle the most (Cain, 2015; Grishby, 2019; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015). This is evidenced by the increased levels of unemployment experienced by Black people during the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which Fairlie et al. (2020) reported getting as high as 16.6%. Further disproportionate economic hardship can be seen in current disparities in home ownership. Choi et al. (2018) notes that Black home ownership rates have been consistently lower than all of American racial groups and though home ownership rates have fallen for all American racial groups, the decrease in Black home ownership in the United States has been disproportionately greater compared to other groups. Choi et al. (2018) asserts that decreased rates of homeownership is an indicator of decreased wealth and an accelerating financial divide based on race which places not only Black American millennials at a further disadvantage, but future generations of Black Americans as well.

The unique and cumbersome burdens of being an American millennial are only further compounded by one's race as is typical across generational cohorts (Adams et al., 2020; Bowman & Howard, 1985; Jones-Eversley et al., 2017). For Black millennials, their intersectionality puts them in a peculiar position in an already adverse society, putting them at further disadvantage when compared to their White counterparts (Cohen, 2011; Gaddis, 2021; Lee & Hopson, 2019; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015). This reality is evidenced by declining black home ownership (Choi et al., 2018), disparity in wages (Cruz-Cerdas, 2017), higher rates of unemployment (Wood III, 2019), and increased levels of debt (Welbeck, 2020). These are just some of the many indicators that the realization of the contemporary American Dream is endangered for Black American millennials, as many of them have become disillusioned with the construct (Adams et al., 2020) and the United States' "broken promises" (pp. 6, Allen, 2019) of equal access to "life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness" (The United States Declaration of

Independence, par. 2, 1776; Jefferson, 2009). In addition to their economic strain, the emotional toll of being young and Black in America cannot be overlooked (Eichstaedt et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2021; Lee & Hopson, 2019; Perez, 2021) particularly when turning a critical eye to the current pernicious social climate in the United States (Ho, 2021; Nguyen et al., 2021; Tanne, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic brought into focus long standing racial issues within the American healthcare system (Chapman, 2020; Ibrahimi et al, 2020; Peek et al., 2021) and how historical systems of racism, such as redlining, influenced the disproportionate loss of Black life (Bertocchi & Dimico, 2020; Choi & Unwin, 2020; Lynch et al., 2021). 2020 also saw increased mobility in the struggles against the inequities that plague Black women in the American health care system (Chinn et al., 2021; Obinna, 2020; McLemore et al., 2021) most notably in the area of maternal health for Black millennial women and their infants (Chambers et al., 2020; Oribhabor, 2020).

In the wake of former president Trump's election, the American social landscape has become increasingly caustic and unpredictable (Baker, 2020; Benjamin, 2021; Giroux, 2020; Pulido et al., 2019). Instances of White American nationalism and racism are more prevalent in American society due in part to changing attitudes (Giroux, 2017, 2020, 2021; Pryce & Gainey, 2021; Reny & Barreto, 2020) and also due to the pervasive nature of modern mass communication. This is most notable in the broadcasting of the loss of Black life due to unjust murders (Chang et al., 2021; Kilgo & Harlow, 2019; Kilgo & Mourao, 2021; Nguyen et al., 2021; Shrikant & Sambaraju, 2021). Events of racial injustice, in conjunction with struggles experienced due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, triggered racial stress and laid bare generational trauma for Black Americans (Anderson et al., 2021; Eichstaedt et al., 2021; Johnson, 2016; Threlfall, 2018) which became the impetus for social demonstration and protest

(Perez, 2021). The year 2020 was notable for protest efforts nationwide, with participants across racial groups and generational cohorts being led by young Black Americans (Chang et al., 2021; Crichton, 2021). They have grabbed the baton of social protest and inherited their "birthright" (Baldwin, 1984, pp. 123) as Black Americans (Durham, 2015; Jones-Eversley et al., 2017; Milkman, 2017) fighting in the ongoing struggle against racism and injustice in the United States.

### **CHAPTER III**

### **METHOD**

### Method

Through the use of inductive reflexive thematic analysis methods (Boyatzis, 1998), this study aimed to gain a better understanding of the African American millennial experience and highlight how Black millennials' awareness of American ideals like the "American Dream" (Armstrong, 2019) as well as their awareness of the contrast between that and their own reality, as members of a historically oppressed group of Americans, impacts their sense of being American with particular focus on their sense of American pride and their perceived ability to "achieve" the American Dream. Learning more about how they perceive their positionality in the American context, understanding their feelings towards America including its practices and ideals, and highlighting ways in which they both do and do not align with their own individual realities as minorities can show how a perceived lack of patriotism may be indicative of perceptions of mistreatment and inequality.

# Paradigm and Research Design

The stated purpose of this study is to explore the lived experiences of Black American millennials in order to gain a better understanding of their reality as young Americans and highlight how an awareness of American ideals like the "American Dream" (Armstrong, 2019), as well as the contrast between themselves and an imposed idyllic reality impacts their sense of being American.

The study was conducted from two research paradigms, critical and constructivist. The constructivist paradigm emphasizes focusing on the unique reality of an individual as constructed in their minds (Hansen, 2004) utilizing deep reflection stimulated by the interaction between the

researcher and participant to bring forth meaning (Ponterotto, 2005). The critical paradigm takes a liberation-oriented stance, seeking to "challenge the status quo," and facilitate emancipation from oppression (Ponterotto, 2005, pp. 129). It explores the impact of social and historical contexts on societal power dynamics and the construction of lived experiences (Kemmis & McTaggart, 2000).

Reflexive thematic analysis was selected for such a study based on the emphasis it places on the deeper meaning individuals create from what participants are able to share about their unique lived experiences in relation to the study's focus (Braun & Clarke, 2020). It is also complimentary to the chosen research paradigms (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019) as it facilitates the exploration of the participant's distinct reality and its relationship to the encompassing social and historical context in which they exist. The findings generated contribute to the emancipation of a historically oppressed population within the American context (Ponterotto, 2005) by providing an understanding and creating an awareness of stumbling blocks that African American millennials may be struggling to overcome.

This qualitative study utilized inductive reflexive thematic analysis methods and was conducted from both the constructivist and critical research paradigms (Ponterotto, 2005). This study was aimed at exploring the unique perceived experience of African American millennials as they contend against historically constituted social powers that influence their reality as Americans, for example, exploring their response to the imposition of the idyllic American Dream in a society within which they and their ancestors have been perpetually oppressed (Schiele, 2005). This study aimed to validate and bring more awareness to the Black experience in America as the reactions of African American millennials can elucidate the disparities between the oppressed and privileged in American society (Armstrong et al., 2019).

With an emphasis made on the exploration of the African American millennial experience and its relationship with the "American Dream," it is vital that the meaning created by African American millennials in relation to both elements be examined. This can only be done by first seeking to understand how African American millennials create their own meaning and subsequently define their own realities (Fassinger, 2005).

Utilizing reflexive thematic analysis methods enables researchers to do such exploration and work with participants to create deeper meaning (Boyatzis, 1998). To facilitate this process, this study utilized a semi-structured interview guide to elicit discourse and generate reflection. The interactive process allowed for exploration and an interpretive understanding of participants' lived experiences (Ponterotto, 2005). This process enabled participants to express their own narratives in their own words which is essential when working with marginalized communities (DiAquoi, 2018) particularly when considering how powerful these narratives are and how necessary it is for them to be heard. The interviews provided the researcher with necessary data fulfilling the requirements of qualitative research in a way that is conducive to clinical or research contexts. What's more, research conducted from the critical perspective can assist researchers with laying the groundwork for social change. Through systematic research, qualitative researchers can take an organized and methodical approach to social justice work (Charmaz, 2015; Kincheloe & McLaren, 2011).

With the radical stance taken in this research's aim of upsetting an established paradigm, a critical-ideological research paradigm is apt for this sort of research. This study places an emphasis on the contemporary sociocultural contextual conditions in which Black American millennials live and the central role these conditions play in their sense of their positionality in American society (Richie et al., 1997). In allowing African American millennials to express their

narratives, this study empowers them to be the "knowers" or experts in their own reality (Ponterotto, 2005), simultaneously validating the experiences of the oppressed and exposing the deceptive and prejudicial nature of systemic racism in American society as well as the role it plays in fostering disparity in regard for American ideals such as the American Dream (Armstrong et al., 2019).

This Reflexive Thematic Analysis research study attempted to answer the following questions:

- R 1. How do Black American millennials perceive their reality in relation to American ideals such as the American Dream?
- R 2. How does the lived experience and perceived social positionality of Black and African American millennials influence their perception of the American Dream and other American ideals?
- R 3. What impact does awareness of the American Dream and other similar American ideals have on Black and African American millennials' sense of American identity?

  These questions were chosen to highlight the distinctness of the reality of Black American millennials within a historically racist and oppressive contemporary American society.

  Highlighting the uniqueness of this population elicits contrast with the antiquated and inequitable American ideals such as the American Dream and elicits insight in the Black American millennial experience. These questions also bolster a better understanding of the African American experience as a whole and Black identity development within the American context.

# **Participants**

For the purpose of this study Black and African Americans were defined as individuals who descend from Black racial groups indigenous to the continent of Africa (Kane & Leedy,

2013). Millennials are defined as individuals born between the years 1981 and 1996 (Allen et al., 2020). In an attempt to capture the complexity of the diverse experiences of African American millennials while also trying to facilitate homogeneity among participants, certain inclusion criteria were included. The first is that participants self-identified as Black, African, Afro-Caribbean, or African American and possess American citizenship. The second criterion is that participants were born and raised in the United States or have been living in the United States since infancy. This factor is important as researchers have found that Black immigrants who are less assimilated to the American context are more likely to switch between their racial and ethnic identities, identifying with either African American or their own ethnic culture depending on which is deemed more favorable to the context (Joseph et al., 2013). Joseph et al., (2013) posit that Black immigrants' ability to switch identities based on context is a protective factor that promotes psychological well-being. Additionally, given the steady increase of Black immigrants in the United States over the past several decades (Tamir & Anderson, 2022), the increased likelihood of researchers grouping their unique immigrant experiences with those of Americanborn Black people can present an issue in research. Specifically, this can lead to the oversight of cultural differences and distinct lived experiences as well as a lack of understanding of each groups' unique challenges and intersectionality (Johnson, 2016; Pierre, 2004). Individuals who are of "mixed" or multiracial heritage were eligible to be participants as long as they selfidentified as Black, African, Afro-Caribbean, or African American and met the second criterion. There were no sex, gender, or sexual orientation restrictions for potential participants. The third criterion was that participants be born between the years 1981 and 1996. Despite there being several age ranges used in existing literature to define the millennial cohort, there is a significant consensus that this generational cohort's birth year parameters are between 1981 and 1996

(Dimock, 2019; Taylor et al., 2014). In 2023, these individuals are approximately between the ages of 27 and 42 years old and considered to be in their prime financial earning years. Understanding that the contemporary idea of achieving the American Dream is an economic one (Hecht, 2018) and the critical role race plays in economic disparities (Roberts & Rizzo, 2021) the fourth criterion is that participants either be currently or recently gainfully employed (within the last year) and have earned at least a bachelor's degree. Competitive job markets and unprecedented levels of educational achievement and debt (Hanson & Gulish, 2016; Patten & Fry, 2015) are fundamental elements to the American millennial reality. Participants between the ages of 27 and 42 were chosen for their likely ability to be able to reflect upon not only these experiences, but their experiences as Black or African Americans as well. Participants needed to be high school graduates or GED recipients who were not illiterate or limited in their English reading and writing proficiency as they were required to read the inclusion criteria and respond to the demographic material, complete consent forms, and review interview questions being asked in English. Minimal computer literacy was also necessary as informed demographic and informed consent forms were distributed and collected electronically.

To collect necessary demographic information and confirm eligibility, each participant was asked to complete a pre-screening questionnaire and an additional demographic questionnaire once eligibility was confirmed. Both questionnaires were accessed by a unique website link distributed via email and collected and stored on Qualtrics, an internet-based software that allows researchers to construct and distribute surveys. Once eligibility was confirmed, the participants were contacted to schedule an interview appointment.

Prior to conducting an interview, participants were required to read, sign, and return an informed consent form affirming their consent to have the audio of their responses recorded for

later transcription. Participants were also notified that the results of the study may be presented at a professional conference or published in an academic journal with all identifying information removed or anonymized. Additionally, participants were notified of an offer of monetary compensation of \$25 for their time conducting an interview.

The study consisted of 15 participants. Data saturation was realized (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Morrow, 2005), occurring once novel themes or information related to the study's research questions no longer arise (Corbin & Strauss, 2015; Guest et al., 2006). The participants were between the ages of 27 and 41 (M = 32.5) and born between the years 1981 and 1996. All participants were identified as being a part of the African diaspora. They were all born, raised, and currently residing in the United States, while identifying as either Black, African American, or with the nationality or region of their family of origin. All of the participants have pursued higher education; 11 of the participants have earned a master's degree with two currently pursuing one; one has earned a doctorate degree, and three have earned bachelors. All except two participants disclosed that they currently owe student debt. Of the two without student debt, one was able to rely on scholarships to earn both her bachelor's and master's degrees; the other paid, and is currently paying his way through school. The sample consisted of four male and 11 female participants. All but two of the participants were employed during the time of the study. The two participants who were not employed have been employed within the last eight months.

### **Method for Data Collection**

This study utilized a reflexive thematic analysis research design that involved the collection and analysis of interview data. A semi-structured protocol was used to interview the participants. The protocol included lead questions and probing questions designed to elicit deep reflection, recollections, and insightful, or detailed responses from each participant. Each

interview lasted approximately 45 to 90 minutes and was conducted virtually via webcam through Doxy.me software. Doxy.me is a telemedicine platform that meets the necessary requirements for confidentiality. All the interviews were conducted via Doxy.me to ensure uniformity in the interview process across participants.

Interviews were audio recorded via a separate audio recording device. Due to the interview process, participants are not anonymous to the primary researcher. Upon completion, the interviews were transcribed and coded. Transcripts and audio recordings were de-identified prior to analysis. The audio recordings and transcripts are stored in separate secure locations that only the primary researcher has access to. Typed transcripts, demographic data, and the audio recordings are saved on separate encrypted flash drives as well as in a Seton Hall password protected One Drive folder. In accordance with the American Psychological Association's (2017) ethical guidelines, all data collected will be retained for a minimum of 5 years after which it will be destroyed.

### **Procedure**

This study was reviewed and approved by Seton Hall University's Institutional Review Board. To recruit the necessary sample of 12 to 15 participants, word of mouth and snowball sampling was utilized. Recruitment emails were also sent to listservs that Black millennial Americans are a part of.

Interviews were semi-structured and guided by a protocol created in alignment with the critical and constructivist research paradigms. The protocol consists of open-ended questions created to elicit reflection and detailed discourse on the topic of discussion. Interviews were conducted via Doxy.me software and audio was recorded using a separate audio recording device. Recorded audio was transcribed and analyzed post interview. Each transcript went

through three rounds of coding to identify salient themes and categories. To ensure participants' anonymity and limit bias from peer debriefers, each participant was identified by a number before the transcript was shared with the research team. A master list with the participants' names and identifying numbers is being held in a private location separate from the data.

Throughout the coding process, comparative analysis was utilized to facilitate consistency and credibility of codes as interviews were being analyzed. The study used a second coder and an auditor, both of whom had access to the transcripts throughout the coding process. The second coder assisted during the initial coding, and subsequent theme development processes. The auditor was responsible for confirming that codes were present in the interviews and assisting with refining emergent themes. The second coder was a doctoral student during the time of the study, and the auditor a recent doctoral graduate, both from a counseling psychology Ph.D. program.

## **Qualitative Analysis**

The transcripts went through an iterative analysis process which consisted of thematic coding which is geared towards highlighting common experiences and providing meaning to the participants' narratives (Fassinger, 2005).

An inductive and idiographic approach was implemented to explore participants' understanding of their lived experiences or the meaning participants created out of their realities (Ponterotto, 2005). In using inductive strategies, themes were developed from the collected data and were highlighted (Braun & Clarke, 2020). These themes were used to construct a framework by which the participants' understanding of the reality that they shared can be reflected and thus provide others with a better understanding of participants' distinct lived experiences (Charmaz, 2014; Fassinger. 2005).

The qualitative data collected from each participant went through an iterative coding process which entailed constant comparative analysis. The first level of coding consisted of analysis of participants' transcripts with line-by-line coding. The primary investigator provided the other members of the research team with access to participants' interview transcripts. This allowed members of the research team the opportunity to familiarize themselves with the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019, 2020; Lorelli et al., 2017). The primary investigator was responsible for developing line-by-line codes, and the second coder assisted with analyzing the line-by-line codes. At this stage, small units of meaning or concepts were identified and labeled in the participants' own words, or as close to it as possible. After being identified, these small units of meaning were critically analyzed for additional meaning (Fassinger, 2005). This process was completed by the primary investigator and the secondary coder.

The next stage entailed grouping the small units of meaning previously identified and grouping them into similar larger key categories. Both the primary investigator and the secondary coder were involved in grouping codes at this stage. This process went on until saturation was achieved, or when no new themes or insights related to the research questions no longer appeared in the collected data (Corbin & Strauss, 2015). At this point, there was satisfactory delineation between each category and each category was dense enough to encompass the diversity in each participants' unique experience and represent a theme (Fassinger, 2005). To ensure the consistency and credibility of themes, the auditor was brought in to assist with analysis of the categories.

The auditor, primary investigator, and secondary coder then worked to further review, refine, and combine related themes into larger patterns of shared meaning. The themes created during this stage were grounded in the participants' experiences (Fassinger, 2005). Both the

second coder and auditor assisted the primary researcher with auditing the data and ensuring quality and trustworthiness.

# **Quality and Trustworthiness**

Quality in qualitative research refers to its "goodness" (Morrow & Smith, 2000, p. 217), or the research's adherence to its paradigmatic principles and the standards of credible qualitative research (Morrow, 2005). Credible qualitative research possesses internal consistency which is characteristic of a rigorous research process. This quality is identified as credibility or trustworthiness (Gasson, 2004).

As a means of bolstering the credibility of the study, the data collected was gathered from a sample of individuals with diverse lived experiences that are directly related to the study's research questions which enabled them to provide rich and relevant perspectives (Levitt et al., 2017). Created in alignment with the study's research paradigms, the interview questions inspired deep reflection on the meaning African American millennials have created of their experience in relation to their exposure to the historical and social power dynamics present in American society (Ponterotto, 2005). Participants had the opportunity to share their personal narratives as experts in their own reality as the "knowers" while the interviewer, or "would-be knower" (Ponterotto, 2005, pp. 131), inquired with a stance of naiveté (Morrow, 2005). To further foster credibility, after the interview, transcripts were sent to participants; they were provided the opportunity to review the transcript, correct any misinterpretations, and provide supplemental information to the researcher.

When conducting reflexive thematic analysis, the meaning generated from the collected data is context-dependent and shaped by researcher subjectivity, thus an avoidance of bias is not a goal of this method (Braun & Clarke, 2020). The primary researcher endeavored to boost the

study's trustworthiness by implementing strategies to aid the researcher in being mindful and reflexive regarding their subjectivity, perspectives, biases that may potentially influence the researcher's interpretation of the data. This was done through reflexive journaling and critical reflection from the primary researcher on their own positionality and its role on shaping the data analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2019). This process required the researcher to reflect on their personal reality, identity, lived experiences, beliefs, and biases in relation to the research process and the population of focus (Morrow, 2005). It was necessary for the researcher to actively acknowledge their reflexivity and record their biases or preconceived notions as they arose throughout the research process (Ahern, 1999; Morrow, 2005).

For reflective purposes and to supplement the reflexive journaling process, memoing was also used. Memoing consists of keeping a record of general thoughts post-interview (Birks et al., 2008). Keeping a record of cognitions such as the researcher's reactions to participant responses assisted with the conceptualization of transcripts, the interview experience, and the shared personal experiences of the participants. Memos recorded after each interview also served to assist with either maintaining continuity or making adjustments between interviews (Birks et al., 2008). Both processes were necessary for ensuring the quality of the interviews.

To bolster trustworthiness, an additional coder and an auditor were utilized to review initial codes and the theme development during stages of analysis. Members of the coding team were given transcripts along with analyses and were asked to audit the primary researcher's analysis procedures, and critically examine the analyses for bias and validity at each stage with the intention of coming to a consensus regarding the analyses and determining the findings' dependability (Morrow, 2005; Sikolia, 2013). Additionally, this study's literature review, participant demographic information, behavioral observations during interviews, memos, and

reflexive journal entries were all used to aid in confirming findings and fostering dependability (Carter, et al., 2014; Denzin, 1978; Morrow, 2005).

#### **Researcher Reflexivity**

Conducting qualitative research from constructivist and critical-ideological paradigms requires researchers to understand how their lived experiences and identity can impact their data collection and analysis process (Berger, 2015; Ponterotto, 2005). Mindful of this, I acknowledge my identity as a heterosexual cisgender Black male who is also an immigrant who has lived and worked in the United States for close to ten years. Additionally, I was born in 1991 and would be identified as a Black millennial. I acknowledge that though I am a Black millennial who lives in the United States, my experience is not entirely synonymous with that of Black or African American millennials with American citizenship who were born or raised mostly in the United States. As a Black millennial living in the United States, my experience is more of an adjacent one, making me an outsider or out-group member in relation to Black American millennials. Thus, it is vital that I remain aware and reflexive regarding my own positionality and biases.

As an individual of Caribbean descent living in the United States, my most salient identity is my immigrant status. My heritage as someone who was raised entirely in a Caribbean country comes with its own implications (Johnson, 2016) that in some ways are similar to those of Black people raised in the United States. We are members of the African diaspora who share historical trauma and still contend with the lasting effects in the form of internalized racism, disenfranchisement, lack of generational wealth, and lost history (Nunn, 2007; Thorton et al., 2017). Regardless, just as people of the African diaspora have similar lived experiences, the populations it is constituted of is not homogenous (Rotimi et al., 2016). While I, as a Black millennial immigrant living in the United States, can identify with aspects of the African

American experience based on my own upbringing as a Black person raised in a majority Black country, the context in which I was raised makes my worldview distinct and disparate from my African American counterparts (Johnson, 2016; Joseph et al., 2013). For example, both groups contend with forms of racial oppression, but the forms of institutionalized oppression are stark in presentation for African Americans who were raised in a majority White country with a historically dominant White culture (Johnson, 2016).

Several researchers have argued that it is crucial that as an outgroup member, I share with participants before our interviews that I am not African American (Holmes, 2020; Smith et al., 2021). It was important I disclosed this because it is important that participants were aware that we do not share the same heritage. This disclosure mitigates assumptions that participants may make regarding similarities in our lived experiences. While my disclosure may have inhibited the participants' openness, it may have also inspired openness and facilitated the participants' process of being experts, teaching me, the "would-be knower" (Ponterotto, 2005, pp. 131) about their reality (Holmes, 2020). It was also important to me that I disclosed my intentions for conducting my research. Failing to do this could have significantly altered how participants interacted with me as the interviewer, which in turn could have influenced the data I collected. This is why disclosure of my positionality is important, if only for the fact that it could have influenced the way participants interacted with me.

Additionally, I remain ever vigilant about the stance I take when engaging in research related to an oppressed group of people particularly if I am not a member. For this reason, I am cautious about the potential of my research to become exploitative of the members of this oppressed group. It is for this reason that as the primary researcher, I sought to put safeguards in place to protect against exploitation in my interviews and analysis of data (Bourke, 2014) and

promote reflexivity. My safeguards included relying on another coder and auditor who are themselves members of the group being researched. Critical reflection on my own positionality and its role on shaping the data analysis, along with reflexive journaling and memoing were also helpful. All three methods facilitated deep reflection on my state of mind throughout the research process most notably when generating context-dependent themes and patterns of shared meaning (Braun & Clarke, 2020).

#### **CHAPTER IV**

#### **RESULTS**

Based on the data analysis, five patterns of shared meaning were developed. These patterns were derived from 15 corresponding themes which were developed from data collected in relation to the study's three research questions. The first research question pertains to how Black and African American millennials perceive their reality in relation to American ideals such as the American Dream. One pattern of shared meaning developed based on participants' interviews in response to this question was that Black millennials identify themselves as a pivotal generation that is trying to navigate historical disadvantages in order to construct a more ideal future for themselves and future generations. Black American millennials expressed feeling misaligned with the country's professed ideals and subsequently misplaced within the current American context. The corresponding themes are: 1) Black millennials bear generational burdens, 2) Black millennials are more liberal in their expression and exploration of their Black identities, and 3) Black millennials feel a duty to strive for success despite the evident hurdles. All three themes indicate Black American millennials responses to existing in an adverse reality.

The second research question asks how the lived experiences and perceived social positionality of Black and African American millennials influence their perception of the American Dream and other American ideals. Two patterns of shared meaning were developed based on this research question, the first being that to Black millennials, the American Dream is a White myth. This code was derived from three themes: 1) Black millennials believe the American Dream is unrealistic for Black People, 2) Black millennials are rejecting the American Dream, and 3) Black millennials are defining a dream for themselves. Participants labeled the American Dream as fantastical and identified it as not being a realistic aspiration based on their

current realities. The participants unanimously identified the dream as being achievementoriented, specifically noting its association with a well-paying job, the ownership of a home
surrounded by a "white picket fence," the establishment of a nuclear family, and equitable
treatment. The uniformity in the description of the American Dream speaks to its ubiquity and
influence within American society. The other pattern of shared meaning that emerged based on
the second research question is the acknowledgement of inequitable application of "unalienable
rights" amongst Americans. A common sentiment across all participants was the
acknowledgement of the broken promises of the protection of Black people's most basic rights
while living in the United States. This present reality is compounded by an awareness of the lack
of rectification or acknowledgment of historical and current abuse and trauma against Black
people in favor of upholding White supremacy. Three corresponding themes were observed
based on the analysis: 1) the American ideal of liberty as a human right is not applied
impartially, 2) the pursuit of happiness is not meritocratic, and 3) American lives are not all
treated equally.

The third research question explores the impact the American Dream and other similar American ideals have on Black and African American millennials' sense of American identity. Two patterns of shared meaning were developed based on this research question. The first being that the American Dream highlights disparities in American reality. Within this larger theme, there are three themes: 1) Black millennials are hyperaware of social injustices and disparities, 2) Black millennials' perceive disparate realities between White and Black Americans, and 3) systemic racism inhibits American identity development. Participants acknowledged the disparities in social resources and protection under the law and the impact it has on their lived experiences and their ability to identity as Americans compared to their White counterparts.

Differences in reality are exemplified by the disproportionate rate that injustices are experienced by Black Americans compared to White Americans as well as the privileges historically afforded to White people. The second pattern of shared meaning derived from this research question is Black millennials reckoning with internal conflict towards their American reality. This pattern of shared meaning is derived from three themes: 1) Black millennials experience internal conflict in identifying as American, 2) Black millennials have an absence of American pride that is oppositional to their racial and ethnic identities, and 3) Black millennials experience civic insecurity within the American context. Black millennials reckon with the emotional bind seemingly characteristic of being a Black American and acknowledging the history of disenfranchisement and oppression. Black millennials express uncertainty regarding their standing in the United States and disillusionment with their American identities and American ideals.

### **Black Millennials Identify as a Pivotal Generation**

Throughout the interviews, participants discussed their identities as millennials in the context of previous generations, most often their parents and future generational cohorts.

Numerous themes emerged but noticeable among them was the idea of the Black experience in the United States being synonymous with struggle. All of the participants spoke about what their struggle meant for them as millennials and how it informed how they look at themselves and choose to show up in various domains. This theme is emblematic of how Black millennials view themselves and other Black people within the American context. Participants acknowledged the abundance of opportunities available to them as Americans specifically opportunities that older generations did not have access to. They are also aware of the numerous historical factors that beset them and future generations comparatively to their White counterparts. Despite this reality,

Black millennials continue to strive knowing that the ideal notions of being American are not aligned with their realities. Black millennials find themselves at a pivotal time as many participants noted. They are building on the foundations created for them by their parents and grandparents while also trying to propel themselves and future generations forward to a more ideal and favorable social standing.

# **Bearing Generational Burdens**

All of the participants discussed their past and the foundational impact it had on their identity development and outlook. What was expressed was a desire to build upon the foundation laid by their parents. Participants acknowledged the inherent obstacles they faced but could also acknowledge that their road ahead was not as difficult as their parents or grandparents. Thus, they felt a duty to excel beyond them in terms of education and financial earning potential.

Stacey, a 32-year-old Black female school counselor discussed how she feels related to excelling beyond past generations and the impact of historical factors on how she navigates.

It's easier being Black [now] than [it was during] my parents or my grandparent's generation. But, I think my struggle as a Black millennial and having that history is, I don't know how to move forward... it's like I'm the first in my family to do so many things that I'm normally by myself doing it. I can't go to like my dad and talk about college because my dad's—like, he never imagined me going to college because he never had, [...] he went to high school. He was fine with me just going to high school. I feel like I'm navigating a lot of firsts by myself... it's lonely.

Stacey's quote reflects the difficulties some Black millennials face as they aspire to reach new heights and realize opportunities that may not have been afforded to past generations.

Frederick, a 41-year-old Black male school social worker expresses a similar sentiment related to his view of the previous generation's efforts to guide Black millennials.

I think there are a lot of opportunities that we don't take advantage of whether it's from us being in junior high school, high school, colleges, or adulthood, and seeking out progressive opportunities for us to grow... I think for our parents like, there is a space of like, if they had known more, right, they would have instilled more in us than they already were trying, like I think that I've always been led by my parents and my grandparents. They were like I'm trying to teach you to be better and get more than I did. But it's also like, How are you teaching that? And I think, you know... I always feel like, you know, White parents are always gonna teach their kids more because there's been opportunities to do it. They have a wider financial spectrum, you know, having like, the financial knowledge, having school knowledge, having the connections...

Frederick's views reflect the historical disparities in social capital, resources, and knowledge between White and Black families which has put millennials at a disadvantage compared to their White counterparts.

Maya, a 34-year-old Black woman who recently lost her job, talked about the role she believes parents of Black millennials, including her own, play in influencing millennials' drive to achieve more than their parents did.

Millennials are in this weird space where, like, we know the hard work and where it can get us, but our parents basically raised us to do things one way. Because they didn't like how they did things, like they pushed us to do things differently, like go to college. Not many of our parents are college-educated, and if they are, they pushed us to go as an extension of the good things that they received because of their college education, you

know... It's like millennials are in this weird space where, like we know, and we know how to navigate the systems, and we know the systems are ancient and that we don't need to exhaust all of our energy in changing the systems, but we're also tired and we are trying to be happy and live these lives that our parents promised us, because they told us that if we went to school and we listened to them and we graduated, and we got all this debt, and we now have all these things, where's the happy? ...the millennial generation, I feel like is the first one where somebody is like, *Oh*, we might have messed up, we might have given them too much...

Several participants noted that this was a goal they were uncertain that they could achieve. Most participants acknowledged the disparities in knowledge base and resources compared to their White counterparts which subsequently made their aspirations to exceed beyond their parents even more difficult. Most of the participants also expressed a strong desire and sense of duty to provide for both older and younger generations as described by Stacey.

A lot of my friends make more than their parents, right? But then they feel the need, or [feel] that they have to take care of their family or, you know, like we're making more, but we don't know how to spend our money. We don't know how to invest our money. We don't know how to build that wealth because a lot of us are, because we are the first in our family, we do feel the need to help our family get out of the financial crisis that they're in. Which is hard... it is exhausting, but it's also a drive, or it's inspiring to want to continue to build the wealth for, like my future kids or you know, so I would say tiring, but also inspiring.

Stacey expressed a drive to build wealth for her children, while others expressed a desire to ensure future cohorts' well-being and progress through investing their own time and energy in

young Black people and advocating for improved educational resources through civic engagement. Audre, a 30-year-old Black woman, who currently works in higher education, described civic engagement and the realization of financial and educational aspirations as not only a means to make the future a better place for her future generations, but to honor her ancestors.

I want to operate in this system or in this structure in a way that's of service to me, my children, and my ancestors, which is why I think for me, civic engagement is important, even if it's just like a presidential election, because we have to acknowledge that there was a time when that wasn't granted to all, or education wasn't granted to all, or homeownership wasn't granted. Also, it's like as a Black American, I do that because someone died for that.

## Being More Liberal in the Expression and Exploration of their Black Identities

The ability to express themselves liberally and explore their own identities is another opportunity afforded to millennials because of the sacrifices made by older generations. Each participant discussed in some manner how they express their identities as Black people and the sense of empowerment they feel in doing so. Maya spoke about this and her privilege to explore her identity as she reflected on the experiences of her mother and grandmother.

I've talked to my grandmother about her experiences and it's like I can't imagine worrying about going to work and worrying about getting killed on the ride home from work, you know? It's the capacity for the millennial generation to have this emotional connection and open moment for ourselves that our parents gifted us with by us not dealing with that type of blatant racism you know... I feel like we are the first generation of people that like, literally have had the opportunity to say, *Okay*, *I didn't have a kid at 18. I didn't start* 

a family, I didn't get married super young. I've had time to figure out who I am, and what I like, and what things I wanna invest my energy and my soul into.

Ruby, a 35-year-old Black female school social worker and therapist reflected on how their upbringing in the late eighties and nineties influenced racial identity development and exploration amongst Black millennials as they were coming of age.

Growing up in the late eighties, you start seeing more and more what it means to be Black, right? 'cause when we're kind of thinking about the Black and Proud era of the sixties and seventies, that's the generation our parents were raised in and building off of that, you as a millennial start living it in the eighties, actually growing up in a space of like being aware of, like the systematic flaws, right?... You're kind of at the end of the crack epidemic, the war on drugs. That was part of the millennial upbringing. Flash forward right to where you see it now, like the conversations about Blackness, the conversations about what it means to be Black in America and you start seeing all of these different conversations happening that didn't happen before so, it influences your identity to be okay with saying, *I'm Black*.

Regarding her own expression of her Black identity, Ruby discussed the freedom she now feels to wear her hair as she pleases without concern of ramifications.

Yes, there's a lot of flaws happening, but there's a level of acceptance, right? Like being able to wear your hair however you wanna wear your hair. Whereas, when I was growing up, that was my thing, but like you couldn't. [...] Everybody got a perm, or you got a weave, right? And so, now transitioning as I kind of go through my years of living—in high school I started wearing my natural hair, right? Because it was more accepted than before when I was growing up. And then being in college, it seemed like everybody was

kind of transitioning to it, so it gave me more of a pride in my identity of being a Black American, especially as a millennial 'cause, you're transcending so many different things that people forget about.

Rosa, a 36-year-old Black female who recently lost her job in finance remarks on the comfort and empowerment with which Black millennials seem to adapt across contexts particularly corporate settings where they feel able to be their authentic selves compared to older generations.

We've gotten so good at navigating spaces that the code switch doesn't take a whole train ride home anymore, you know? You're not driving from Wall Street, getting up to Harlem, and then you feel like you can breathe, you know? We've become so aware of where we are that it's like, *Alright. You may not like me anyway, but you let me into this space.* So I'm gonna be my Black self in this space... It's a millennial freedom that I think not many of the boomers or anyone before us got to experience.

Upon reflecting on how she is received by people from older generational cohorts when she shows up as her authentic self in such spaces, Rosa shared:

Sometimes it's harder in these spaces to be a Black millennial just because of the age ranges. It's like you're struggling with older Whites, but you're also struggling with older Black people who have a lot to say about how you want to live your life, or how you're living your life is so different from how they live theirs which is also a struggle for the Black millennial because, it just feels like they are upset...

As a Black millennial who openly identifies as a sexual minority, Malcolm, a 30-year-old male who works in higher education, talked about his intersectionality and his experience openly expressing not only his racial identity, but his sexual and gender identity.

I don't know if it is perceived by American Society because I'm different. I would say I have like a lot of different things going on, I'm, you know, sexually fluid. I am bisexual. I am, you know, very free in the way that I do my life. So, in my opinion, I feel like that's more of an eye opener, like I feel about anything, when it comes to being a Black man and doing something out of the ordinary because I am the type of person where I'm going to do whatever I wanna do when I wanna do it. Like when I do wanna have children, it's gonna be great. I may be old, but I'm still gonna be great. And I'm still gonna be fit. So, it doesn't matter what age it's gonna be.

#### Sense of Duty to Strive for Success despite Hurdles

Participants acknowledged the setbacks they have experienced both as a cohort and as Black people because of historical events and racial disparities. Despite this, all of the participants were able to identify areas where they and other Black millennials were thriving and striving for higher heights in spite of evident hurdles. Stacey discussed the inspiration she feels witnessing Black millennials advance in society.

I think we're changing. I think we're breaking barriers that weren't broken before. It's inspirational; I think we're moving towards the right direction. It's helpful, and I think we're also healing and you know we are recognizing that some of the things our parents or our grandparents did for work were for survival, and we don't feel the need to survive anymore. Like we could live, you know? We're breaking barriers, but we're also taking off our armor for our future generations, you know?

Ella, a 27-year-old Black millennial female who identifies as Nigerian and currently works as a therapist, discussed her own aspirations and confidence in her ability to break barriers of her own.

Thinking about my experience, I haven't had a handful of Black supervisors. A majority of my supervisors are still very much White so I do think as a millennial, I'm seeing that maybe there will be a change in a few years. Once the White folks start to grow a little old and retire, I think it's gonna look different. I also think more and more Black millennials are accessing education or advancing in corporate jobs, taking the risk in applying for those director positions and I think I can see myself 100 percent doing that. I would have said, when I was in college or high school, I definitely felt a glass ceiling. Like, *Oh*, *no way I'm getting there, no way I could be a director*. Like what? Now that doesn't feel that far-fetched. You know? So that feels almost at arm's-length if I really wanted to do it.

Harriet a 29-year-old woman, who identifies as being of Black and Native American ancestry and also works in human resources, acknowledged the obstacles that have hindered her in her career field because of her identity. In the face of these obstacles, she still expressed resolve towards achieving success.

I feel as though I have worked very hard to get to where I am, but I don't think that has necessarily been as easy as, if my gender was different or if the color of my skin was lighter, or how I choose to identify myself was different... but I'm not gonna get myself in a pity party, you know, I'm not gonna say *Oh*, you know, I can't have this because I'm not a White man, absolutely not!

With her comment on her current reality, Harriet indicated a theme that was common amongst the study's female participants, which is the additional struggles they face as Black female millennials. Participants like Harriet discussed their concerns and challenges with how

they are perceived and the biases they face within the American context. Harriet provided insight into how this reality impacts how she navigates her American life:

... I'm the youngest person in my department. Uh, I'm also a millennial. I'm also a woman of color—most of the department is predominantly white... I don't necessarily wanna say that I walk on pins and needles, but I'm more conscious of how I have to present myself because of what's associated already with being a young black professional... I can't act in certain ways... I don't want to come off as the angry black woman in the workplace... I have to be kind of more conscious of how I present myself.

In her quote, Harriet highlighted the need she feels to present herself in a particular manner in order to counter stereotypes or avoid negative labels like "the angry Black woman." This is a sentiment that Audre also corroborated based on her lived experiences. She stated:

...in the workplace, especially as a woman, there is a stigma of the angry black woman attached to stuff... because you don't wanna get that bad label, or you know, get fired too. And so, it just, in terms of navigating, it deals with how to deal with other people's prejudices to make sure that I am safe and that I am able to progress in life the way I want to whether it's professionally or financially. And that's like, even though others may label me one way, that doesn't mean I can't have the life that I would like to have.

Dorothy, a 31-year-old Black woman of Caribbean descent, disclosed the exhaustion she feels as she employs constant vigilance to contend with the complex dynamics of her intersectional identity across contexts. She shared:

As a Black woman, I think people can overlook or underestimate me, you know... I'm always paranoid, or mindful of how people might be perceiving me and I think that's in

the context of stereotypes or other people's biases. And to me, that is exhausting, you know, like I can't just exist here.

Dorothy also mentioned feeling overlooked or underestimated because of her identity as a Black female millennial. Maya acknowledged this reality as well, as she stated, "Everybody knows a Black woman who's underrated, or everybody knows a Black woman who should be having more than what she's getting." Despite this, Maya also noted Black millennial women's persistent presence, visibility, and success in American society despite their setbacks. Maya stated, "I think Black women are like kicking butt right now in terms of visibility. Everybody knows a Black woman who's doing something bomb [great]." Ruby expressed a sense of empowerment and pride in being a Black female millennial as she noted successes she is witnessing her contemporaries achieve:

Being a Black female millennial right, where you start to see Black women kind of just like taking their fields by storm, getting higher education... You see so many Black women being successful... Look how amazing these women are doing as Black millennials... I know so many millennials who are navigating the space of having their own businesses. That wasn't a thing before. And so, you get to see that and it adds so much like pride to your identity as a Black millennial, right? As a Black, female millennial because your capabilities are now expanding right there. The ceiling is getting higher and higher. And inevitably then you kind of pass that down to the next generation... it's great just being that Black female millennial.

Both Maya and Ruby recognized and discussed the achievements Black millennial women have been taking advantage of and how they have seized on opportunities to increase their visibility and create positive change in spite of the challenges they face because of their

intersectionality. This speaks to their resilience and aspirations to live in a more inclusive and progressive American society.

#### The American Dream is a White Myth

Every participant identified the American Dream as an aspiration associated with the achievement of an idyllic reality for hardworking individuals and their families. Participants' similar understanding of what the American Dream means is emblematic of its pervasive nature and centrality to the American experience even in contemporary American culture. Each participant closely related the American dream to American dominant culture and by proxy to White Americans. They all described it as being out of alignment with their current realities and therefore not a viable aspiration they intended to pursue. Thus most participants expressed an outright rejection of the American Dream as they understood it. Participants favored dreams of their own specific to their own reality and personal values.

### The American Dream is Unrealistic for Black People

On the basis of a lack of equality in the United States participants believed that an American ideal centered around achievement and meritocracy for all must inherently be false due in part to the Black experience in the United States. Martin, a 40-year-old male who identifies as Black and Caribbean and currently works in information technology as a project manager, associated the American Dream with classism and systemic racism:

This is supposed to be the land of the free. The home of opportunity and everything. But yeah, it's the home of opportunity for certain people, right? And it's just like, *Oh, that's the America that y'all don't promote and stuff.* Okay, I see it. So then that's the part that you kind of have to buy into along with the glitz and glamour of the American dream; that the system is still not set up for you, but you have to do everything possible to

circumvent the negative parameters of the system. The class system in America is possibly the greatest creation that America has ever created, like better than any patent or anything because it has literally left so many people behind and moved so many people ahead for 400 plus years. It's the greatest system they've ever created.

Both Rosa and Maya expressed similar sentiments, that the American Dream is seemingly portrayed as inclusive of all American, regardless of race, but in practicality is not as evidenced by their personal experiences. Rosa shared:

The American Dream really probably looks crazy to everybody outside of America because it's literally telling you to work and make money but ignore everything else that's going on and force[s] everyone to kind of ascribe to this and do the things that you do, and it's like, that's so weird. But that's the American dream. Like if you do this, you can do that and it's supposed to be one-size-fits-all, but it's not one-size-fits-all. It's literally like the further you are from a White American, the more difficult it becomes.

Maya expressed indifference towards the American Dream, and the idea as her of buying into the ideal and the systemic construct it represents as futile. She described her pursuit of the American Dream as a road to success that is filled with potholes and designed for her to fail.

Like the American Dream isn't even really for me, like, because I'm African American...
because it feels like for African Americans, people just assume that like, that's what we're
trying to get to, that's what we're trying to do. And yeah, because we live in America, but
we don't have it easy, you know, because this dream wasn't made for us. And not only
was the dream not made for us, but then we were told that we could attain it. But then as
we're running the race to get to the dream, they put potholes, very deep potholes to mess
up the road... You know, I've always struggled with that term, and I think it's because

I'm familiar with being referred to as an African American, but I'm not gonna see the American Dream and automatically feel like, *Oh, this is something that's for me too*.

#### Rejecting the American Dream

Because of its perceived perception of perpetuating American racial inequality, all of the participants expressed a rejection of the American Dream, as they understand it. James, a 35-year-old Black man, who identifies as Ghanaian and works in finance, conveyed his criticisms of the American Dream, and his reason for rejecting it:

So, the American dream that was sold to us was, Go to school. Get a good job, right? Get great benefits, buy a home. Get married. Have kids. And you're free. They didn't say that comes with debt. They didn't say that that you couldn't move into certain neighborhoods if you were Black. They didn't say that, you know, you can't travel to certain places after a certain time, they didn't. None of that came with restrictions. But we were sold this one particular dream. It's kind of like a cookie-cutter dream of freedom. And we looked at these things and said, I want that. I want that. As I got older, I realized that's not what I want. That dream isn't even a dream. It's more so like a program for them to just keep taking money from you. You know, you work all those years, they tax you. You collect your pension, it's taxed. You collect your 401k, or whatever the program is all that is taxed. So, the dream that you thought was gonna be a dream is just a lifestyle of debt. You end up giving away your life. And I think as millennials, we've realized that it's not a dream. They suggest we make a few \$100,000 and retire off that. We want millions, if not billions of dollars so that we don't have to continue the same path of struggle our parents have when they retire still trying to pay off a home and, you know, pay off a car

and things of that nature in their retirement. We're looking to own things now, live a full life now.

In this quote, James touched on what he and other Black millennials believe to be the falsehood of the American Dream. As they understand it, what was pitched to them as being an aspirational lifestyle turned out to be exploitative in favor of a racially-biased capitalistic system. Rosa discussed her process of coming to a similar conclusion after losing her job eight months prior to the study:

I was on my path of having this high salary, this high corporate role wanting to be a director, and I don't want all of that anymore. I really don't. I really want to be happy and do the things that it's gonna take to make me happy which is getting my mental health together. The American dream, it just looks different for me now and I don't even know if it's—I would just refer to it as the Black or the African American dream... I don't want anybody to say at my funeral that I was such a hard worker. No, because the people that are dying that are our parents ages? I've been to a few funerals and I feel like all people have been talking about is how hard people work. I don't want that to be my legacy. I don't want that to be my life. I don't want people to say, *Oh, she did that*, and then like all you know is how hard she worked to make things happen... I don't want that to be my legacy and I think I had to let go of the American dream.

Some participants expressed a disillusionment with the American Dream, while others like Martin expressed disappointment and frustration. Martin discussed his views on the American Dream as he reflected on his understanding of Black Americans' history with it and his decision to reject it:

I don't know what people had in mind for us like, and I don't care because I'm finding out that people have a high view for themselves, but not for others, or that when they created the American dream, they didn't really give a [expletive] about what our American Dream looked like. Our American dream back in the day was probably getting off these [expletive] shackles ... Why do you think so many of these institutions were set up to not allow us in there? I don't know what the American Dream [is that] they wanted for us. All I know is that we're shattering it constantly. We're seeing so many different examples of these boxes that they put on us. So technically, for me, it wasn't a dream that they wanted for us. It was just a box that they wanted to put us in because they were afraid of how we were gonna impact, or how we were gonna hurt their dream.

Martin's quote sheds light on the fallacy of the American Dream, as it carries the title of being American, but it has not been inclusive of all Americans. Martin, like other Black millennials, views the American Dream as being symbolic of systemic racism in the United States and identifies it as a construct that, like many other American constructs, has become synonymous with the marginalization of people of color.

### Defining the "Dream" for Themselves

In identifying that the American Dream is not a viable aspiration for themselves and their families, Black American millennials have opted to create dreams of their own, that are applicable to their own values and reality. Frederick stated: "it's reachable for some, but not to too many, but I think you have to figure out what your own dream is for yourself, and call it your own personal dream." All of the participants espoused their own dreams that they chose in lieu of the less favorable American Dream. Maya, who lost her job eight months prior to the study gained new perspective on her standing as it relates to her personal pursuit of the American

Dream. She, like many other Black millennials, rejects the pursuit of financial gain, associated with the American Dream, in favor of an aspiration of protecting her mental health, by guarding against the mental and emotional hazards that can beset Black Americans who chose to pursue the American dream.

Losing that job changed everything, I think because of so many other issues in terms of culture and like familial relationships and different things like that that, protecting my mental health and happiness is driving how I feel about being successful in America now because. Literally, the fact that people with tons more than me are taking their lives says a lot.

This quote speaks to a common theme among participants regarding prioritizing mental health care and well-being over financial gains. Malcolm expressed a similar sentiment. He discussed his rejection of the American Dream and defying expectations that have been imposed on him in favor of a dream of being more comfortable embracing his own journey, where he pursues his own goals his own pace.

I feel like there has always been barriers where you have to choose, like, *You have to choose this. You have to choose this.* And that's just your reality. And you have to be comfortable with that. And I'm like, *Hmm, I wouldn't be the person I am today if I decided to stay in that type of framework...* Historically, that is what everyone saw as a reality, but in that reality a lot of people suffered a lot [with their dream]not being fulfilled because it wasn't—it wasn't the dream that they actually wanted. It was a dream that other people pushed down their throats and they had to be okay with it...The way that I feel capable—I can survive and be positive even when sometimes it seems like there's not a way to be positive... there also are these places where I feel like I can grow,

I think I've started to stop seeing a destination but see[ing] my life more as a journey, and I think in that, I've had higher success in feeling comfortable in those spaces. Because usually when it's a destination, it's like, *Oh, I should have got a house already. I should have did this. I should have did that.* You know, those are destinations, but just kind of sticking with the place of like, *Okay, this is your journey. Like, yeah, this isn't where I wanna be, but it's not forever.* 

In addition to expounding on his own exploration of the meaning of his dream, Malcolm also expressed a sense of acceptance and empowerment in his decision-making after taking stock of the toll that the pursuit of the American Dream has had on others. Martin stated that his dream is to give back to his community and help others achieve their dreams.

The dream is me being able to do certain things when I wanna do it. I was just able to come back from vacation. I have a job that I'm learning constantly about. I didn't think that I would be able to do all of these things. My thought process of what achievement was back in the day was like, so small, but then I started experiencing more things, meeting more people. And then I'm like, *Cool, now how can I bring everybody else forward?* And for myself, I'm not going to stop. But how can I give back? So that's my thing. That's the dream for me. Paying it forward, basically having the ability to pay it forward.

Additionally, Martin, similar to many Black millennials, has a dream of getting rid of his student debt. When asked about this he exclaimed: "Hell yeah! C'mon now. Shoot, that will be the glorious day when I don't have student debt." His response is not dissimilar from all but two of this study's participants and emblematic of the prevalence of student loan debt amongst Black American millennials. Ida, a 29-year-old Black woman, who previously worked as a teacher

before transitioning to a career in the information technology field, had a similar notion. She posits that, given the prevalence and toll that student debt has on not just Black American millennials, but Black communities as a whole, it could be stated that the Black American millennial dream is to simply be debt free. Ida stated, "I feel like Black millennials might say, and I feel like it might be pretty bleak, but [the American dream is] like no debt, like no student debt." Angela, a 30-year-old Black mother of one working simultaneously at an insurance company and a civil service department, feels like she needs to work two jobs to make ends meet. As she considers pursuing a graduate degree for more gainful employment, she discussed her dream of being debt-free and being able to instruct future generations on how to gain financial freedom.

So my own dream, to be honest—and I know it's gonna sound crazy—it's just not to be in debt... I feel like I am living check to check now. Hence why there's two jobs. Oh, but I feel like you can strive to have financial freedom. And that would be good, and if at any part of the dream you could have—it'll be good to have financial freedom and be able to teach that to your kids when we wasn't necessarily taught that growing up.

### "Unalienable Rights" are not Applied Equally

All of the study's participants expressed an awareness of their rights as Americans. They were also able to note the frequency with which it seems like their rights, or the rights of other Black people, were infringed upon by the institutions charged with upholding them. Similar to the American Dream, Black American millennials have lost faith in American ideals like every American being entitled to life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness. Based on their experiences witnessing injustices perpetrated against Black Americans, they have also lost faith in American institutions and well-meaning promises or gestures. Not being able to trust that their most basic

of rights as Americans will be upheld, an intrinsic element of the American experience as set forth by the country's founding fathers, is just another reminder to Black Americans that their lives and sacrifices are not valued.

# Liberty as a Human Right is Not Applied Impartially

Participants spoke of the ideal of American liberty with respect to their own American reality as a broken promise, yet another example of a falsehood of the American experience for Black Americans. James described his personal experience in this aspect, detailing how he navigated environmental snares that would have inhibited his liberty specifically because of an interaction with law enforcement.

I've seen a grittier side of America. I grew up in Brooklyn. It's one of the hardest places to grow up in as a Black kid... My American experience is staying out of gangs. My American experience is staying away from the cops. My American experience is making sure that when you go to school, you just get your work done so you can get out of here and make as much money as fast as possible so you don't get caught up with everything else. You know, and somehow, even though you do all those things to the best of your ability, you still get caught up, right? Like gangs are always gonna be around. The worst elements are always gonna be around. The cops are still gonna harass you. I've always had interactions with the cops since I was a little kid. I never understood why. My American experience has shown me that no matter where I've been, no matter what states I've moved into, as long as I was in the city the police were there too [to], I don't wanna say monitor me, but yeah, they were there to monitor me. And that was my American experience. So for me, my American experience has been to escape. To escape being watched, to escape, you know, being killed for no reason. To escape hearing the *You* 

*match the description*. My experience has been to try not to match the description, but no matter how hard you try, you're always gonna fit into a mold where you've been seen as someone who matches the description whether it's by the police or somebody who thinks that you're in a gang.

Law enforcement in the United States is seen as a chief offender of Black Americans' civil liberties. Because of an extensive and sordid history of Black people and police officers in the United States across generations, it is no surprise that James, along with other Black millennials, feel negatively towards police officers. James also expressed a desire to avoid police surveillance, an element symbolic of racial oppression for many Black Americans as it harkens back to American slavery. James notes that in his experience, surveillance subsequently leads to trouble for Black people which could mean being caught up in a prejudicial system where Black people's lives and freedom have historically unjustly been taken away. Dorothy alluded to a sense of disenfranchisement as she reflected on how elements of racial oppression against Black Americans in the past still pose a threat to Black Americans' liberty today:

We're in a country where it was legal for people to be three-fifths of a person or be enslaved and all these things and not have the right to vote, not have the right to be educated. That still can be seen through oppression today, like the laws and legislation that's made to hinder Black people from voting, or discrimination with banks, or discrimination with home ownership, issues with police officers, racist domestic terrorism; it goes on and on. Things like that kind of play into me not feeling American, 'cause it's like, if I'm technically an American, why are we still having certain experiences?

Dorothy, like other Black millennials cited the lack of protection for Black people's unalienable right of liberty as Americans as a cause for their difficulty identifying as American. Rosa discussed her process of reckoning with the presence of systemic racism and how it can encroach on her liberty. She identified the struggle as a matter of the denial of her worth as an American citizen. Acknowledging her own worth led to a sense of entitlement to her basic rights, a feeling of empowerment leading to recognition of her liberty, and a freedom to exercise her rights in the face of opposition.

Being a Black person trying to find the balance between wanting more for yourself and acknowledging that systemic racism is gonna get in your way a little more often than not... I don't think people know how to deal with me figuring out that balance as a Black person because the main thing of me wanting and needing to have this is that I respect myself enough to know my worth and my rights. But if you don't respect me or my rights, you have no idea what my worth is, or what my worth could be. So, you will always attempt to lowball or cheat me if you don't respect me enough to pay me enough attention to understand what my true value is.

# The Pursuit of Happiness is not Meritocratic

The ideal of merit-based achievement was identified by all of the participants as a dominant tenet of the American experience, but not true to their Black American experience. Ida described it as such:

So, I would describe the American dream as a great American myth. You know, [it] basically involves pulling oneself up by their bootstraps like a, you know, rags-to-riches story. That, like, all it takes is a little bit of ambition and elbow grease or whatever to

make your way up in America. Yeah, it's not true; there are a lot of factors that are out of one's control that affect your ability to succeed in America.

Ida espouses a belief that no matter how hard you work as an American, you're unable to see equitable returns unless there are advantageous factors working in your favor. All of the participants expressed a similar sentiment, including Dorothy, who shared her views on the American bootstrap fallacy and expounded on why it excludes the under privileged and oppressed based on her personal experiences:

Oh, 'Merica loves to believe in the meritocracy and it's pulling yourself up by the bootstraps and all that nonsense. Yeah, I don't. I don't believe in that. This idea that if you work hard enough you can get to the goal or whatever and you'll be rewarded for your efforts because you work hard, and it's like *No*. There are other things that come into play, like luck, where you are, your family or your knowledge base, and all of those things could be obstacles. You can work really hard. I know, some pretty hard-working people, but if you—if we're in a country where people don't have a living wage, you can work as hard as you want, but you're not gonna get said American dream that people want to get to or be able to provide for your family. There are hard-working people that are barely making ends meet, living paycheck to paycheck. And so again, I don't agree with the idea of meritocracy in America. I don't believe in the *pulling yourself up by your bootstraps* because that idea suggests that you don't need help, or you shouldn't depend on the government for any assistance which I think is a falsehood because there are a lot of people who need it.

Dorothy's quote highlights the need for equity in order for all Americans to experience equality. Participants acknowledged the impact that historic trauma and injustices have had on

Black people's collective advancement in American society. As stated by Dorothy, the notion of pulling oneself up by their bootstraps implies that the advancement of Black people rests solely on their ability to earn it for themselves, but as many participants noted, additional assistance is needed before equality can be realized. Coretta, a 29-year-old Black woman who works as a school counselor also shared her perspective on this:

...I'm someone who believes in reparations. I feel like there's a lot of unequal footing, but people are expecting the results to be the same. It's like, *Oh, you know, this group is doing this. Why aren't Black Americans just like them?* Well, if we look back at it like, this group is ahead or these groups might be ahead of Black Americans because, you know, things have happened so... I completely understand the argument for reparations, I completely understood the argument for affirmative action. Like I understand why those things are needed... If the United States is all about being equal and equity, it's like maybe we should put more effort in doing things like that.

The expressed need for such legislation and societal reform speaks to the absence of equality and the need for increased equity for Black Americans. Amongst Americans, achievement in higher education is seen and touted as an assured investment whose return will yield financial gain and social advancement in society. For Black millennials, this is a process that although statistically proven to raise lifetime earning potential, has left many millennials with exorbitant debt and less than ideal returns on their investment. Many Black millennials looked to higher education as a means to improve their standing in American society. Several participants expressed disappointment in the subsequent outcomes as they acknowledged a sense of being misled by an ideal that they felt has been foisted upon them by the dominant American culture. Their unfavorable outcomes have been detrimental to not only Black millennials' advancement, but the

Black community's as a whole. Ruby provided her perception of this reality for Black millennials:

You know, first and foremost, Biden needs to get rid of those student loans, right? Life would be so much better without student loans. And I say that, and you know, it's funny, but I really do say that as a millennial, most of the millennials were raised with this idea of, like, hard work in college equals success. And so, you went to college with this understanding that, like, if I work hard, I'm going to be successful because that's the American value, right? You go to school, work hard, and naturally, like you follow that and you'll become successful. And so many of us are living either in poverty, or not, like barely middle class, and can't afford college. Right? So, you're taking on all these loans and trying to align to what it means to become successful in America. And so now you're stuck with all this debt right now. So many American millennials are in debt right now... It does hinder people. Because if you owe \$180,000 as a Black person, you're always going to be in debt to something, and you're constantly working to pay that. But it's like you told me to get that, right? Our environment has told us to get that to be successful. And to live now and see, how sometimes it's like working against you, where people who aren't getting these things [higher education], are, you know, at a higher level of achievement.

Ruby expressed feeling misled in following the path prescribed to her to achieve success.

Rosa opened up about her own experience of being fortunate enough to achieve success as a result of her hard work only to lose her job shortly thereafter when she was laid off.

Honestly, I lost a really, really good job for no reason of my own, and it felt like the wool was pulled from under me and I've worked really hard for that. And it felt like that was it!

It was over. *You made it!* I don't know that many Black people that make over six figures. So ,for me it was like, *Girl... Yes! And then from there you only go higher!* Like, you know? So, it was like I had the finances, but I wasn't even at that job long enough to get through the debt from the last job that wasn't making enough money. So, I didn't even really get to enjoy that before feeling like it was pulled from under me and it shook me and like I was already having shaky feelings about this work, like you know, but it really just, it doesn't have to be like that. And if I'm putting in all of this work and one person can make a mistake which cost me my job...

Rosa's experience is similar to other participants' who felt like their prescribed path to success was compromised with what Maya referred to as potholes. She also detailed her experience of being laid off from gainful employment and the resulting mental distress she felt as she acknowledged the reality that she was at a disadvantage as a Black millennial:

I think that it makes it very scary to now be taking on all of these systems and then being responsible for somebody else's life. Like me, getting laid off. There is the potential for me not to be able to feed my child... and I lost a six-figure job. So that day is when I kind of feel like my ideas and thoughts about being able to reach this goal became very shaky and that's when I kind of started being like, *I need to figure out other options for myself*. Because they tell you work hard, you get the job, you get the salary, boom. And all of a sudden that line or process wasn't happening for me. So now I'm like *This is scary. I can no longer trust in this path that somebody told me to take because I wouldn't be successful*. Because I've done just that and I haven't been. I'm not currently successful, so it's very scary.

Maya expressed her distrust in her ability to pursue happiness as prescribed by American dominant culture. She believed that within the American context, systemic issues will always be present to deter her from success. In the following quote, she discussed how she was able to reckon with this reality due to support from her mother. She conceptualized that the potholes she faces on her path to success are symptomatic of a flawed meritocracy:

Losing that job did a lot to me emotionally. My mom was the only thing that saved me because she literally was like, *This isn't your fault. This system, no matter how you got laid off, is gonna make you feel like you let yourself down. You let your daughter down, but it's not, it's not you.* It's like this is what happened in this system. In the system where they tell you that if you work, you will get this. I remember when I got my master's my job was like, *Oh, you'll get 65k when you get your master's.* And I got my master's, and I was making 47k, and I was just like, *Wait y'all told me that if I want to get my master's that I would get this other salary.* And it's like, *Nope, it's up to the discretion of the people where you work...* Pothole, pothole, you know? ...I'm not for it anymore, nope.

### American Lives are Not All Treated Equally

The sanctity and protection of life from marginalization is another core ideal of American life that this study's participants identified as being touted in principal, but not practice based on their lived experiences as Americans. Dorothy reflected on how historically this has not been abided by and consequentially still persists in contemporary American society as systemic forces continue to suppress Black Americans' rights.

Like if we were to say, "Oh what makes someone American?" Oh, they're born here. So, they're a citizen and all that. But when you have enslaved people, who you didn't see as human and over time they're still here, and they're still trying to make a way in this

American fabric, heir history has been filled with struggle and fight to get their rights as opposed to someone who may have just came here, if they're another color, then it was granted to them. They didn't have to work as hard...

Dorothy also noted that the lack of admission and recompense of the historical injustices perpetrated against Black people is an affront to the value of Black life in the United States. She states:

I'm always curious why they can't blatantly make it known that this was something that was done and they're not proud of it, and also give reparations. I think we could be at a place where we move forward similar to how Germany did with the Holocaust or similarly to how the United States did with Native Americans. And you know, so it's like places have the ability to do it. So, to not do it, [to not] offer the apology and the compensation for such things... makes it seem like they still think we're three-fifths basically.

Audre spoke of the lack of acknowledgement as a means of promoting American and White exceptionalism at the expense of marginalizing Black history and Black people. To her, this indicates a lack of reverence for the sacrifice, injustice, and trauma experienced by people of color in favor of making the United States look like a haven of liberty and equality.

I remember going to school in South Carolina, the history always focused on Western Europe. You know, they glazed over the atrocities that were done to Native Americans, Black people, and other groups of oppressed people. The older I became, the more I was able to learn those histories and also take African American studies classes and actually get that knowledge on my own which again goes back to, if I am an American, Black people's history should be everyone's history, but that is not the case. It's like, *Take that* 

out, oh, this doesn't sound too good, or this doesn't make us look too good so let's not put it in there, the history of the oppressed, but let's keep the stuff from the White oppressors or conquerors... in terms of being an American, yes, there have been atrocities against Black Americans, but there have been atrocities that America has committed against multiple groups, and I think that's an understanding of being American. Sometimes we like to see ourselves as a free country welcoming to all immigrants and all of the nice things. But like any other country, there are some things, some histories or even present things, like inequity, that we're not proud of. So, I think it's kind of like, you know, there's many good things about America, and then there are some others that are not so great.

# The American Dream Highlights Disparities in American Reality

All of the participants endorsed a lack of alignment between the ideal of the American Dream and their lived experiences. Participants elaborated on why they believed this to be the case based on present disparities in their reality in comparison to their White counterparts in particular. Black American millennials are persistently aware of the disparities as reminders are constant. Consequently, they, like their ancestors, feel marginalized, and many identify as second-class citizens. Participants discuss how their lived experiences as Americans inhibit their ability to fully identify as American citizens, a notion that they feel is reciprocated by the country they call home.

#### Hyperawareness of Social Injustices and Disparities

Participants cited disparities within Black communities and injustices against the Black community as constant reminders of their second-class standing in the United States. Participants noted imbalances in several domains and expressed negative feelings related to their reality as an

oppressed group. They also note the synergy between racial injustices and disparities in systematically keeping Black American oppressed. Martin remarked on his surprise regarding the widespread dissemination of injustices and disparate circumstances via social media:

But like when you was in school, you didn't think that you was gonna see this crazy [expletive] on TV because that's like, that's not what they said. Or that's not what the history books said. But now you're seeing it. You're seeing all the injustices, you're seeing everything that's happening in real time. And we also have phones that are capturing the stuff that the news isn't giving us in real time.

Maya noted how increased exposure to instances of social injustices via social media is making it harder to disbelieve in contemporary times that Black Americans have equal standing within the American context when compared to their White counterparts:

I think that it's becoming harder for Black people to ignore that they don't really like us that much. I think that's the struggle. Like we talk about exposure, and like seeing things in the news and the Internet has given so much exposure to people in a way that I don't know, if they thought this is what was gonna happen. But like, it's become very difficult to ignore that they don't really like us, or they don't understand the value of us. And again, it goes back to that perpetual racist system, because we are not the same, we're not treated like equals.

Dorothy expressed a need to be hyperaware in whatever environment she finds herself in to protect herself against prejudice and discrimination:

So, for me, to navigate through American Society as a Black American millennial means that I have to be conscious of my environments whether that's digitally online or in person because of safety. As an African American, it's definitely very important. While

we're not in the olden times, I am aware that certain people have different prejudices that exist, and you know, I don't live in a world where I can't afford to not be aware of other people's prejudices, so therefore I have to, like if I'm gonna go somewhere, I think about, *How do people in that area feel about Black people?* I need to be aware. Even if it's in the work setting or the school setting. You know, being able to control my emotions just because again, there are some, when they're pulled over by the police, they can afford to get irate and yell and cuss, but that is not afforded to Black Americans. You have to be able to remain calm because that could be your life...

Maya and Dorothy's acknowledgement of racism in contemporary American society dispelled the myth that Americans are living in a post-racial society and that there is no need to address issues of race amongst Americans; the lived experiences and testimonies of Black Americans across generations confirms otherwise. Several participants expressed similar sentiments and disclosed having reactions of fear, anxiety, and discouragement in response to these persistent reminders that the threat of racism remains. Angela acknowledged her emotional response to this and indicated that her hyperawareness has caused her to be more hyper vigilant in her surroundings and concerned for the wellbeing of her child.

...It brings a little bit of fear because, you know, I'm raising a daughter who is African American and the fear for her not being able to walk home from the bus stop because someone doesn't like the color of her skin, or because of the color of her skin, and how small she is, someone feels like they're entitled to take her from her family. You know, it just kind of makes you more scared than anything when you didn't have that fear before... Even now I have a safety notion that when I get out of my car, I'm checking my surroundings. Before I get to the door, I'm making sure my headlights are still on so that I

can see the front and my surroundings. It just makes you be a little bit more intentional about making sure that you're safe in a place that is supposed to be, you know, a place of freedom.

Racial injustices against Black Americans serve to perpetuate racist systems and the racial disparities that they promote. Participants discussed disparities in multiple domains of Black American life. Stacey discussed the impact Black Americans' work can have on their health outcomes, stating:

You know, we beat ourselves up because everything like our work is physical so healthwise, we're not doing too well. There's a lot of gaps that I'm like, *I don't know*, we still need to fix the gaps, even though we're propelling forward.

Stacey noted that disparities in employment and wages are due to disparities in education. The achievement gap between White and Black students is due to present day injustices rooted in historic prejudice and discrimination. Coretta, a school counselor at the time of the study, stated, "Even when I look at like—at my school, I look at like graduation rates or the achievement gap like—there's still so much space for us to grow." Stacey, who also worked in a school during the time of this study provided her perspective on educational disparities seen in the students of color that she serves and how this issue is emblematic of a larger system of marginalization that extends across domains:

I work at a middle school in [neighborhood], Brooklyn. I think the education sucks. I don't think we're teaching the kids enough for them to do well in high school where they are able to go to college, or move forward like, very few. So many of our kids are underperforming, or don't read at their grade level, right? We have fifth graders reading at a second-grade level. Why? They have some eighth graders reading at a second-grade

level. So, I'm like, how can we work to bridge that gap? Even working in [neighborhood], Brooklyn, we're working in poverty like, it's a high food desert. So, what do they get to eat outside? It's trash. Like the grocery stores are trash. I live in the East Village, so I can see the difference where when I go to work, I see what poverty looks like... Where I live used to be very impoverished and now it's changing which offers more opportunities which means the income level where I'm living changed and now I can barely afford it. But then you go to [neighborhood] and it's like, you see a lot of drugs, you see a lot of violence, it's unfortunate.

Stacey's quote indicated how a lack of funding for a school with predominantly Black and Latino students in a neighborhood that looks the same facilitates the widening of the achievement gap for students and communities of color. Stacey also touched on the issue of gentrification as she reflected on her own neighborhood, and noted how it has changed as it has become gentrified. She accepted that gentrification has improved her neighborhood, but acknowledged that it has made it more difficult for her to afford to live in the neighborhood she where she grew up. This is the case in numerous urban centers, where gentrification highlights disparities in wealth and financial income, and heightens disparities in home ownership as neighborhoods become too expensive for less fortunate inhabitants to continue living there. It also serves as a deterrent for potential buyers who would like to purchase a home in these particular neighborhoods. Thirteen participants lived in a major city at the time of this study, with 10 of them expressing an interest in buying a home in the immediate future in a city while also expressing concerns about their ability to afford one. On this topic Ida stated, "It's not as easy to have a house the way it was for our parents and our parents don't have the same like, debt that we have..." This is a common theme amongst millennials and a major impediment to Black

millennials shortening the wealth gap between their White counterparts. Frederick elucidated the systematic impact debt accrual can have on Black millennials, he stated:

...by the time you finish paying off your debt, or if you ever pay it off, you know, it messes other things up in your life, like credit and stuff like that. And so now you can't really get the American dream because now you're indebted to school. But then, now you're indebted to yourself or you're indebted to America, or indebted to a loan company, and you can't reach it, so I can't even get the house part. I get the kids part, but then again like, how am I supporting my kids?

Ella also addressed the disparity in homeownership for Black people and discussed the difficulties they experience based on her own firsthand experiences in attempting to buy a home.

Even if you make enough money and build your credit, it's very difficult for a Black woman, a Black family, or [a] Black couple to buy a house. And we've seen that firsthand actually this year. I've had several obstacles that I'm pretty sure my White counterparts don't think about so, yeah, as a Black woman, I think the American Dream–like it just doesn't, like the other American values and principles and things like that, just doesn't apply to me.

Ella's sentiment regarding the American Dream and other American values not applying to her as a Black person is representative of a lot of Black millennials' sentiments on the topic.

Ella's expressed dejection towards the fallacy of the American Dream compared to her reality is an indicator of the mental and emotional impact racial disparities in the United States has on Black millennials as they contend with injustices that serve to widen the racial wealth gap.

## White and Black Americans Live Separate Realities

All of the participants alluded to, either directly or indirectly, feeling as though their White counterparts exist in a separate American reality compared to them, one in which their White privilege affords closer access to the American Dream. Participants cited racial inequality, bias, the prevalence of disparities across multiple domains, and White privilege as evidence for this. Regarding this Maya stated:

...you have certain access and certain opportunities, which is not just based off of skin color–family heritage, environment, like just culture in general. There are certain potholes from everywhere that are kind of on your path; it's not all white America and systemic racism. But those things still are not devoid of the influence of White America and systemic racism, yeah, it's hard.

Maya pointed out that though there are other extenuating circumstances that can promote or obstruct one's ability to realize success in the United States, these factors do not influence outcomes in a vacuum; in the United States, the specter of White supremacy looms over everything. Thus, it is disadvantageous to not be White. Ida discussed her experience with this facet of her reality as an under-represented minority in her workplace. She disclosed a struggle with imposter syndrome as the only Black woman amongst her majority White colleagues. She opened up about dealing with an issue in her workplace that her White colleagues do not have to and how it impacted her emotionally:

When I first got hired at my job, I realized I was the only Black UX researcher on my immediate team of like 30 people all over the US, and I was the only Black woman on there on the UX research team and I had really bad impostor syndrome, and one of the things I told my mentor was like, I'm kind or worried that I just got hired so you guys

would have, like, some diversity on here, so that you'd have a little bit of color, and it made me discredit my skills and everything that I had done to work up to like, getting this, this internship because I just kept thinking like, I'm only here so they can look like this great, inclusive company. No offense to [place of employment], and I love them, but they still have a Black problem. So yeah, I think it has made me a little bit paranoid just because I always, in the back of my head whenever there are like, weird interactions or I'm feeling weird, or I can't identify why something's not working out the way that it should be, when I'm interacting with people in the back of my head, it's always like, Is it because I'm Black and there are these, like, stereotypes of Black people that might be working against me or that people might be considering when interacting with me? So yeah, I feel like I'm always trying to be mindful of how I might be being perceived, it's complicated.

Harriet discussed her own experiences in her own workplace, where her reality is disparate from that of her White counterparts, in that she feels like she has to work harder than her them in order to advance in her field. Harriet stated that:

Just in terms of experiences, in terms of racial background... My experiences are so vastly different from like my White counterparts, I feel like I have to work twice as hard just to get half as far and yeah, whereas we're all American-based, off of where we grew up at but at the same time, based off who we are as people, I can't really relate much to their experiences.

Similarly, Angela was open about the disadvantage that she perceives she has in the workplace because she is Black. She acknowledged this as a fact of her existence as a Black person. It has been engrained in Angela, as well as numerous other Black millennials, that being

Black in the United States means a more difficult career path compared to her White counterparts.

In jobs, they say that, you know we don't discriminate based off of race and all this stuff, but they do... It's hard not to recognize facts. You know, it's hard not to forget facts as well. Is it that, because I am African American, that life would be a little bit harder for me? Which we've always been told ... Its a little bit different, when you walk through other doors, because they're gonna see your name. Like, it's even down to like how we name our children. You don't wanna give them a name that the employer can guarantee that they're Black or White or anything like that, because then they're automatically gonna, I would hate to say, stereotype you based off your name. It does change your view on how you do things just because you know you're gonna be judged a certain way by the color, or even the way you sound or things like that. You will not be afforded the same opportunities as others.

In both their quotes, Angela and Harriet verbalized a common belief among African Americans; that as a Black person, in order to get ahead or even meet the mark of their White counterparts, they have to work significantly harder. Angela also discussed how she adjusts to anticipated judgement based on her race, to which James related as he reflected on his upbringing compared to his White peers, specifically how the difference in how he felt he was perceived impacted him as he navigated the world.

You know, the minute your voice cracks they start looking at you differently. You're no longer a child. And because of the way I looked, I never was one of those kids who smiled a lot when I was outside unless I was playing with my friends. But if I was by myself, you're not going to catch me smiling because I know what it looks like to kids

who walk down the street smiling. You get picked on or you get looked at a certain way or things happen to you, so you have to keep your hard exterior. And then with having a deeper voice earlier on in life they think, *Oh this kid has to be bad. He's outside at eight o'clock at night, and he doesn't smile*. And you know, so they look at you like, you know, This kid has to be bad. Not like, you know, this kid was standing in the grocery store parking lot helping women walk their bags to their car and pack their trunks just to get a few dollars so he could, you know, eat. Yeah, they look at you a certain way so you have to present yourself in a certain light so that you can escape certain situations. You have to look innocent enough, but also tough enough so that you don't get picked on from the police or people in the neighborhood.

What James described in his quote was his process of adapting to an adverse environment so that he can navigate safely, a process employed often by Black people to varying degrees.

James also discussed his perception of differences he experienced growing up and attending a predominantly Black school with inadequate funding:

Someone who goes to a wealthy private school, [their] experiences are completely different than someone who goes to a poor public school. Their experience when it comes to having things taken away from them isn't as significant as it is for somebody who comes from a poor neighborhood, or goes to a public school, and they're defunding certain activities like basketball, football or just after school reading programs. Our experience is completely different... Having to fund sports yourself as a kid is expensive. So just imagine, you know in Brooklyn, we had this thing called beg and plead, right? ...basically, the football teams would get together and stand in the street and wave and flag cars down or stand by the bank and beg for money to support the teams. When I first

heard of it, I'm like, *This is weird because when you look on TV, none of these other kids have to do stuff like that.* But for us, we have to do that. And it kind of turned me off from playing sports because I never had to beg for anything in my life... So, me having to go outside and beg, that's not something that I was comfortable doing, you know? But it was a part of our process. But when you look at a private school, those programs are funded. Their sports programs are funded, they have programs set up to collect donations for things like that. So those kids aren't outside doing the things that we were doing, so my experience as a Black kid coming up in America is completely different, especially in Brooklyn.

This quote from James depicts a disparate reality between White and Black Americans where contrasting educational outcomes lead to contrasting realities. James discussed the impact this has on Black youth, and the Black community as a whole:

I know you've heard this before, he [young Black man] was always a good kid. He was very polite. He helped me with my groceries. But you also found that at nighttime he probably, you know, was not into a good element, and wasn't doing the right things all the time. And we're kind of forced into those, or down those roads, because the opportunities that we have are different. I can't say that in other communities its better, but ours are different and they are limited...

## Systemic Racism Inhibits American Identity Development

A substantial theme to emerge from participants' responses was a unanimous lack of connection to their identities as Americans. What participants revealed was that this reality is in direct response to the history of oppression, trauma, and marginalization that has become core to

the Black American experience. Regarding this, Audre shared her view on issues as she cited the persistent struggle she feels Black Americans have to engage in just to maintain their civil rights.

Yeah, I am an American. But I think that the oppression of Black Americans sometimes makes me feel not American in a sense, if I were to label it that. My ancestors earned the right for me to have these rights, my citizenship, and other benefits of being American, but sometimes it feels like I don't have that... When I went to the African American Museum in DC and they're telling the story of America and then you have the enslaved Africans in the backdrop while they're building the country... They're, you know, helping it become very wealthy, but not partaking in the rights or partaking in the benefits as the country was trying to build. So because of how historically Black Americans transitioned into becoming American, that struggle for not only citizenship, but being equal, or to have the right to vote, it's always been a struggle...

Coretta also acknowledged the role Black people played in the development of the United States. She opened up about how this history and her ancestry as a descendant of displaced people makes it difficult for her to feel like she belongs in the United States.

Yeah, the history of this country makes it really hard to, like, feel like you actually belong... It's so funny because like, Black Americans have had an integral role in this country, like descendants, at least of like building the foundation of the country's backbone of capitalism and all that, and like we've tried to equal the playing field in different ways, like through the Civil Rights movement and different things, but like, yeah, White supremacy stops that... Like the fact that I can't trace my, lineage in ways other Americans can. Even folks who immigrated here a very long time ago. Like, White folks could trace their lineage to Poland or to Italy, or to wherever, but we can't. So that's

the main reason I feel like, not American. Outside of myself, just Black America in general and just like, it's kind of like we were just kind of put here. It's a very complicated relationship.

Ida discussed her experiences of reckoning with some White Americans' sense of entitlement to being American, and it indicating to her by proxy a feeling that she herself does not belong in the United States.

When I was younger, there were a lot of moments where I didn't feel American. Because I grew up in the southeast, I grew up in predominantly White areas. I think White people can—it almost feels like White people are allowed to be or feel more American because they've always made it very clear that they belong here and no one else does. So, I think those moments when I am a minority, I don't feel like an American very much. But I think in general, I don't really identify as American. I mainly just feel like, *Oh I don't feel like I belong here at all*, you know? Because it's just not something that I would label myself as... I think I would label myself as Black before I would ever label myself as American.

Ida alluded to the centrality of her Black identity, similar to all of the other participants, some of whom identify it as a safety as it provides them with a sense of belonging and community with other Black people with whom they share oppression. Ida also discussed what it was like for her learning about the history of Black people in the United States. She makes a note of the contrast in tone in what she was taught in school, compared to the reality of the history of the United States of America:

Like growing up in school and you know, going through history classes, they don't really talk about like, what it means to be an American. It's bright and it's shiny, and it's like,

I'm a good person, I love my freedom. And it's very like, you know, like, it's very idealistic. And then getting older and experiencing racism in America, you learn that you're living in a country that like, doesn't really want you anymore. And when they did want you, they don't want you, they wanted like, your body and your labor... I've definitely become disillusioned to what it means to be an American and like, and there's that, like, burden of just knowing what that really means to be an American.

In reckoning with the American past and processing how it informs the present reality for herself and other Black people, and what it means to her to be American, Ida described herself as experiencing disillusionment with her American identity. Ruby expressed similar feelings as she conceptualized the current reality for Black Americans, and expressed ambivalence regarding what it means to her to be American.

I don't really know what it means to be American. Which is kind of sad, I guess... You know, speaking as a Black person, right, a Black American, I think you always have the underlying feeling that you're not American because of how society has constantly viewed us and treated us, right? And so whether we're talking about the political climate and the laws, that's constantly kind of created to work against us, or you know when you kind of look at what communities are impacted the most, right? You know, taking away from education, or we're talking about, you know, breaking down communities, most of that is done within the Black and Brown communities. And so often times, you do have the underlying feeling that like you're just not American.

### **Internal Conflict with American Reality**

Something that all of the participants from this study brought to attention is just how difficult it is for Black Americans to accept the condition of their existence in the United States,

and also accept that they are Americans. Participants' experience of internal conflict speaks to the larger issue the Black American face within the American context. Participants have conveyed there is a chasm between their reality as Black Americans and what their reality should be as Americans as indicated by the American Dream, the American constitution, and the Declaration of Independence. The divide between what is, and what should be makes the maxim "All men are created equal" paradoxical, which thus makes it difficult for Black Americans' Black identity and their American identity to abide. Being millennials, they have a unique vantage point on what it means to be a Black American as they reckon with a difficult reality and try to navigate times of uncertainty that have led to insecurity in their futures as Americans.

## Internal Conflict Identifying as American

Despite being able to identify the privileges and opportunities afforded to them as

American millennials, participants' emotional responses ranged from ambivalence to rejection
towards identifying as Americans. Participants conveyed the feeling of being in an emotional
bind. Audre, like several other participants, described her relationship with her American identity
as complicated. She explained her experience in the following quote:

It's hard when we have police brutality, or shootings or, people thinking the worst of Black people who–even if you're educated, just because of how you dress, or how you look, or your skin, people think the worst... I mean, I think that, it makes me feel, you know, it's complicated. Saddened a little bit, because it's like—you know that we could do so much better if the United States as a whole would just come out and say, *Slavery was wrong, we apologize*. Whether you give reparations or not... Thinking about independence, my people were not free when the United States got its independence. You know, it's like great to be in the land of the free and all of that, but that's for America,

which is great, but that's not like full ...because you have the independence, you still see your people as slaves at that time... I carry Black and American together. So, with me carrying those mindsets together, that duality is present.

Ida also acknowledged how American history makes being American complicated for her. She described herself as having a sense of shame and feeling burdened by her nationality and the related privilege she experiences as an American.

I think to me being an American also means carrying a burden, because I think when you start to really understand America's history, you learn that it's not really great. It hasn't really treated Black people very well. And so, sometimes it does feel kind of shameful to be an American and yeah, and kind of burdensome because I'm carrying the weight of a lot of really bad things that happened, even with my limited privilege y'know.

Stacey expressed certainty about her unwillingness to openly identify as American. She attributed her feelings to the fact that the United States has not been a place that is conducive towards Black people embracing their American identities.

I don't think I rep' America. Like I've never—I mean Fourth of July is just a BBQ. I'd never be like, *I'm American! Woo!* I don't ever do that, so I don't know that I have American pride. That's weird. That's—I don't, I think it goes back to like—I guess I don't know, like I don't think Black people rep' America. Right? Like it hasn't been welcoming to be American and Black. I don't like using the term African American because I'm like, *I don't know where in Africa my family's from and that just seems weird...* I don't know. It doesn't seem like something to be prideful for like, that's weird, I don't know.

In her quote, Stacey alluded to another issue that Black Americans face, the reality of identifying as African Americans. This reality represents a peculiar emotional bind that Black

Americans find themselves in, as they live in a country that historically has not been welcoming or inclusive of their presence, and their identity is rooted in another continent and culture that many Black Americans have little to no ties to other than their displaced ancestors. A lot of Black Americans find themselves unwilling or unable to leave a country that they may not feel welcomed in as citizens which can perpetuate generational feelings of displacement.

# Pride in Diverse Identities are Oppositional to American Pride

All of the participants denied having pride in being American and in the United States.

The fervor with which they expressed their lack of pride varied, but their sentiments were the same. Ida shared why she believes it is so difficult for herself and other Black people to develop American pride in the modern United States.

I think what makes it harder for a lot of people to have pride in America, or even feel like they are an American is a lot of our symbols have become, not a symbol of like, our nation, they've become a symbol of a certain I guess like, sect of American politics. So, you know, if you have the American flag on a jacket, you're saying basically that you're a conservative and that you love the country that you're in. Umm, so I think a lot of the symbols of America have been tainted...

Ida spoke to the current reality where Americans have seen a steep rise in radical White supremacy groups who have co-opted American iconography as symbols of militaristic White nationalism which has served to further alienate Black Americans from their American identities. Malcolm further identified this movement as being emblematic of the United States post-Donald Trump presidency. He posited that White individuals seem to feel entitled to be "grossly disrespectful to a group of people" for the sake of White American nationalism. Coretta, who is also the daughter of a Black United States veteran, stated:

...when I think America, I think, military, war, like imperialism... Those are things that come to mind, there's not like this warm-hearted feeling, waving my flag. I would never have a flag in front of my yard. I'm not the type.

In this quote, Coretta indicated that she associates the American flag with conflict and force, values that are misaligned with her own but seem to resonate with modern White supremacist groups. Coretta rejected the idea of displaying her American flag as an expression of her pride, stating that, "...when I think about the American flag, I start to think about the Confederate flag. So it's just like there's a line between being proud and doing what we do." Ruby expressed similar sentiment towards the American flag and the American national anthem. She also rejected the idea of Independence Day being July fourth, she stated:

Independence Day is not July fourth. Independence Day is Juneteenth. I can care less about the American flag. Like in my office, I have the Pan-African flag represented. Uh, so I can care less about any of these symbols, right? Uh, the national anthem? I don't sing it. I will always sing my Black national anthem. You won't find me singing the National Anthem... I think I have more pride in being a Black millennial than I do being an American.

Ruby's quote represented a significant theme amongst participants in which they rejected American pride in favor of pride in diverse identities like their race, ethnicity, or community. Similarly Harriet stated:

...I just don't see in my own experiences and just who I am as a person–I just don't really see this general pride in saying, *Oh*, *I'm an American*, you know?... I'm proud to be a Black American. I can say that, but not necessarily... I'm more proud of being Black than

American, oh, I feel like it should come with some feelings of—yeah, no, I don't feel any type of way. I feel like that's just kind of like, what it is.

Stacey expressed similar views as well, overtly denying having pride in her American identity but instead her Caribbean identity and having a desire to develop connections with her Caribbean roots as well as her African ancestry. She stated:

I've never been prideful of being an American. Like, I'm proud to be Black. I'm proud to be from the Caribbean. I search for more like, cultural connection. I'm interested to see where my family comes from in Africa, but being American in this country... I just live here.

Frederick also denied having pride in being American, stating that he only thinks about his American identity on a conditional basis. In addition to expressing pride in being Black, he stated that he has pride in the numerous communities he represents and other facets of his personal identity.

I don't think I actually have any pride in being American. I think the only time I really think honestly about being American is when I travel to other countries where they, I guess we'll say ...think highly of Americans because you're from America... I don't think there's really pride for me, I think I'm more prideful of being an African American male. I'm more prideful of, like, being from Harlem. I'm more prideful of like these spaces and places I worked in and I lived in more so than they represent America. I think for me they represent me, and they represent where I came from, and the spaces that I existed in versus it being American... I represent Harlem. I represent Catholic schools. I represent mental health. I represent education now. And so, I think those are my prideful parts. I don't think I've ever really faced or been in a space of, like, I'm proud to be an American.

These quotes all depict Black American millennials identifying pride in marginalized or diverse identities in opposition to their American identities. The participants' responses to the notion of American pride seem to be in a dichotomous or oppositional manner, but this does not inherently indicate a sense of anti-Americanness. It is, however, another signifier of the complex relationship between Black Americans and the United States.

## Civic Insecurity

All of the participants expressed concerns for their futures. They cited the current political, social, and economical climates in the United States as the reason for their concerns. Ida disclosed having a complex range of negative emotions in response to the current political climate, she stated:

There is a lot of, yeah, there's a lot of cynicism, and a lot of, I think, trying to think of the right word for it... I think I view a lot of it with just like a sense of like, amazement in terms of like, this is ridiculous. You know? Like, this is absolutely ridiculous. So yeah, I think I can definitely be jaded when it comes to a lot of political things that happen, or just like reading the news. I'm always trying to like, question what's actually being presented to me and what the truth might actually be, you know. And it has not only shaped the way I view society, it's shaped how I interact with society. There's definitely like a sense of, I think, paranoia...

Rosa, like a majority of participants, expressed a lack of faith in current government officials and indicated the need for more diversity in leadership:

Every law made for this country was made by a group of old white men and there's only been old white men perpetuating those things. So, the top down governing in—it's just not working anymore. It really isn't working anymore.

Coretta expressed similar views and also stressed the need for Black millennials and women's voices to be represented and honored in American governance:

I think that our voice needs to be heard and honored more. Like, when I look at the political makeup in this country, it's like a lot of old folks. It's a lot of White old folks now. There have been like a lot of first, uh, the first Black this, or the first gay, or trans person here, like, there's been a lot of firsts, which is great. But also, the people making decisions sitting at the table are still the same, mostly men—even like, if we wanna look beyond race and look at gender, you know, I feel like leadership needs to change in this country at the highest level. And then hopefully there'll be some kind of trickle-down effect... Yeah, I just feel like we see all these problems that we're talking about it. And our voice still isn't heard, despite, like, the demonstrations and protests even.

Ella described herself as feeling fearful, helpless, and disappointed regarding the future of the United States and that of herself and her loved ones, she shared:

I think fear started to creep in whenever I thought about America and continues to do so even now... Yeah, I think there's a lot of fear, for sure, for people that look like me. I have a Black brother, I have a Black fiancé, I have Black loved ones. So you know, it's hard. I have people of color who I love dearly. So yeah, I mean fear, for sure. Fear of the unknown. Anything could happen. Unfortunately, umm, I feel some helplessness about sort of, the future of America and where it's going and feeling like there's maybe not so much in my control. Umm, so then it's like another—and so maybe I'll say disappointed, too.

The participants' expressed civic insecurity is representative of Black millennials' outlook on the present and future of the United States and their standing in it. From helplessness

to the need for improved representation—their reality speaks of a marginalized existence that will grow increasingly worse without adequate intervention.

## Chapter V

In the case of an American Negro born in that glittering republic, and in the moment you are born—since you don't know any better—every stick and stone, and every face, is white, and since you have not yet seen a mirror, you suppose that you are too. It comes as a great shock around the age of five or six or seven to discover the flag to which you have pledged allegiance, along with everybody else, has not pledged allegiance to you... It comes as a great shock to discover the country which is your birthplace, and to which you owe your life and your identity, has not in its whole system of reality evolved any place for you... The disaffection, the demoralization, and the gap between one person and another only on the basis of the color of their skin begins there, and accelerates, accelerates throughout a whole lifetime, so at present that you realize you're thirty and are having a terrible time managing to trust your countrymen. (Baldwin, 1965, as cited in the Buccola, 2019, p. 380. Reposted with permission from Princeton University Press)

### **DISCUSSION**

The purpose of this study was to highlight and bring understanding to the lived experiences of Black or African American millennials with specific focus on Black or African American millennials' associated thoughts and feelings regarding their current reality and positionality within the American context and its relation to the idealized reality of the American Dream. The study sample consisted of 15 participants who identified as Black American millennials. The participants were between the ages of 27 and 41 (M = 32.5) and born between the years 1996 and 1981. They each participated in one individual interview in which they were prompted to explore their perceptions, experiences, and identities as Black American millennials in relation to American principles and ideals, most notably the American Dream. Five patterns of shared meaning were developed from the analysis of the participants' responses. They each correspond to the study's research questions and describe the participants feelings regarding being Black American millennials specifically the influence that their perceived positionality and associated feelings as millennials and African Americans has on their well-being, sense of national pride, and belief in their ability to achieve the American Dream. The patterns of shared

meaning were as follows (1) Black millennials identify themselves as a pivotal generation, (2) the American Dream is a White myth, (3) "unalienable rights" are not applied equally amongst Americans, (4) the American Dream highlights disparities in American reality, (5) Black millennials are reckoning with internal conflict towards their American reality. This chapter will discuss the implications of the results, limitations of the present study, and future areas of research.

## **Overview of the Results**

Exploring and gaining insight into Black Americans' conceptualization of the American Dream and the impact it has on Black millennials perception of their status within American society is important as it can increase awareness and consideration for their unique lived experiences and the obstacles they face as members of an oppressed group of Americans (Andrews, 2009; Cokley, 2002; Dartson, 1999; Manning, 1998; Seaton et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2009). This study sheds light on how the roadblocks they face, particularly elements of systemic racism and other historical factors, impede their progression in American society, diminish their belief in their ability to achieve their aspirations (Campbell & Fleming, 2000; Cernkovich et al., 2000; Sellers et al., 2011), and infringe on their ability to identify as Americans (Cross, 1971, 1991). As is often the case with Black sub-populations, there has been limited research focusing on the unique lived experiences of Black and African American millennials currently living in the United States (Boone, 2020; Ingram, 2021; McCoy, 2019). This study adds to the literature by highlighting the impact of historic marginalization on a subgroup of oppressed people living within the American context and contending with constant disenfranchisement and forced assimilation in the form of the imposition of American ideals such as the American Dream (Schiele, 2005).

## Hope, Determination, and Skepticism

Participants openly discussed their perception of their reality in relation to being Americans and how they reckon with American ideals, most notably the American Dream. They all acknowledged experiencing generational pressures specifically conveying a sense of duty to both older and younger generations of Black Americans (Magubane, 2017). Participants expressed a complex array of emotions ranging from hope to skepticism, to determination. What can be surmised based on participant responses is that Black American millennials see themselves as a pivotal generation. They recognize the historical disadvantages they face as Black people, but they are also willing to acknowledge the bounty of opportunities and privileges afforded to them because of their age and status as American citizens (Adams & Schneiderman, 2017; Hing, 2018; Opie & Roberts, 2017; Ruetschlin & Asante-Muhammad, 2013; Williams, 2018). Despite setbacks and disparities, Black millennials strive to construct an ideal future for themselves and future generations according to their own aspirations and not in alignment with their perceptions of the American Dream (Forman 2002). Participants endorsed belief in the principles of the American Dream with skepticism in their belief regarding their ability to realize them (Abowitz, 2005; New Strategist Publications, 2015, 2018). Despite this, participants unanimously expressed a drive and necessity to strive for success despite setbacks. Their drive is rooted in a desire to build on the foundation set for them by their parents and grandparents, to improve their living standards, and to achieve economic success (New Strategist Publications, 2018) in order to make life better for their own children and grandchildren.

Participants also acknowledged the notable racial and generational divide between themselves and their White and older Black generational counterparts especially the lack of

wealth accumulation and social capital (Berry, 2006; Gooding, 2018; Kraus et al., 2019; Roberts & Rizzo, 2021; Ryabov, 2020). Participants made a special note of how economic divides across older generations are hindering their progress presently (Kurz et al., 2019; Levenson, 2010; Taylor et al., 2014). Participants addressed the unique challenges that they face in their pursuit of trying to realize an ideal reality and how they are weighed down by the burden of historical disadvantages most notably financial ones (Devore, 1983; Fongwa, 2019; Hood et al, 2018). Some participants noted that their parents and guardians did the best they could, but they themselves were limited in what they could provide in comparison to their White counterparts (Hood et al, 2017; Mhlongo, 2019; Mlondo, 2022). All of the participants discussed the burden of student debt on Black millennials from first-hand experience and witnessing their peers' struggles (Haughwout et al., 2019; Welbeck, 2020). Unprecedented levels of student loan debt and unfortunate economic trends have put American millennials at a significant disadvantage (Haneman, 2017) which for Black millennials is only exacerbated by the intersectionality of their race and generational identity. They are contending with declining home ownership rates, wage disparities, higher unemployment rates, and increased levels of debt (Cruz-Cerdas, 2017; Haughwout et al., 2019; Welbeck, 2020). These factors contribute to decreased opportunities for wealth generation and transfer (Jones et al., 2020; Adams et al., 2020; Ryabov, 2020). The disparities Black American millennials face can be attributed to historical wealth inequities, limited access to resources, and discriminatory practices like redlining that impeded the transfer of wealth among Black Americans (Baum & Steele, 2010; Scott-Clayton, 2012).

Participants expressed a desire to own a home as a way to secure generational wealth for their families, but most admitted to having a sense of uncertainty regarding their ability to do so based on their current lack of resources and uncertainty surrounding their economic futures (Choi et al., 2018; Zewde, 2020). Despite increased levels of educational attainment in comparison to older generations, participants stated that their economic prospects are still hindered (Fry, 2018; Howe & Strauss, 2003; Taylor et al., 2014). Participants shared that earning tertiary degrees have not helped much in alleviating generational financial stressors and issues associated with navigating the ever-changing American economic landscape; this is due in part to systemic barriers and a lack of social capital and financial literacy (Cohen, 2011; Gaddis, 2021; Lee & Hopson, 2019; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015).

The prolonged presence of older professionals in the workforce and the increased prevalence of educational attainment has made the American job market markedly more competitive, limiting upward mobility and wage parity for millennials particularly when compared to their older generational counterparts (AbouAssi et al., 2021; Levenson, 2010). Participants communicated having a sense of disappointment that their academic achievement is not resulting in more adequate financial outcomes (Haughwout et al. 2019; Welbeck, 2020) as it was instilled in them that education equated to success (Choi et al., 2018; Kurz et al., 2019; Taylor et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2015). This financial burden is further compounded for African Americans who face additional obstacles such as institutional racism, poor health, and systemic disadvantages in their communities (Grable & Joo, 2006; Ruetschlin & Asante-Muhammad, 2013). Participants additionally acknowledged the impact of generational events on their present realities with particular focus paid to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (Goodman & Mance, 2011; Hidalgo et al., 2022; Myers et al., 2020) and higher costs of living relative to their parents' generation (Brodman et al., 2018; Ehlenz et al., 2020; Rubenstein, 2017).

Participants described themselves as having a more liberal sense of their Black identities with them being more willing to explore and more open with how they express their identities

particularly in the face of their obstacles (Cross, 1991; Vandiver et al., 2002). Their increased liberality, which participants acknowledged was afforded to them by their ancestors' sacrifices, enables participants to feel more willing to challenge societal norms and redefine what it means to achieve an ideal living in the United States. Accepting their ancestor's sacrifices for their realization of better privileges is identified as a further impetus in their drive for success and their desire to create a better future (Welburn, 2016).

The numerous obstacles faced by Black millennials (Kraus et al., 2019; Haughwout et al., 2019; Choi et al., 2018; Zewde, 2020) coupled with their unique vantage point and liberal sense of their intersectional identities have combined to form a complex and nuanced perception of their American realities which has been endorsed in full by all participants. Participants' responses indicate that Black American millennials may perceive their reality in relation to American ideals like the American Dream through a complicated and tenuous lens of hope, skepticism, and determination.

## American Dream versus Black Reality

Participants readily shared their perception of the American Dream and other American ideals and expressed how their perceptions were heavily influenced by their lived experiences and perceived social positionality as young Black Americans (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021; Combs, 2016; Craemer et al., 2020; Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Perez, 2021; Seider et al., 2019). Participants indicated a lack of alignment with the American Dream and American principles, primarily because of their perceived social positionality as Black Americans (Anderson et al., 2021; Threlfall, 2018). They described the American Dream as a meritocratic ideal based on financial aspirations, consumerism, and individualistic values (Hecht, 2018; Yoon & Kim, 2016) which in their opinions favored White Americans (Chetty et al., 2017; Cox et al., 2017; Nelson,

2019). Some participants overtly described it as a myth; they all described it as an unrealistic aspiration for Black Americans as they feel it does not account for the systemic barriers and racial inequities they encounter (Allen et al., 2020; Boone, 2020; Bush & Bush, 2015; Hanson & Gulish, 2016; McClelland & Tobin, 2010; McCoy, 2019). Consequently, the participants voiced rejection of the traditional American Dream and instead chose to define their own aspirations and visions for success.

Similar to the American Dream, American principles, chiefly the "unalienable rights" of all Americans to equal opportunities and protection under the law, have become synonymous with American life (Dyer, 2012; Jefferson, 2009). Conversely, participants shared sentiments that violations of their rights are synonymous with their American reality (Berry, 2006; Johnson, 2016; Roberts & Rizzo, 2021). Their experiences with the inequitable application of "unalienable rights" further reinforces the perspective that the ideal of liberty as a human right is not experienced uniformly by all Americans and the pursuit of happiness is not meritocratic (Berry, 2006; Bush & Bush, 2015; Stiuliuc, 2011). Participants noted how easy it is to observe that American lives are not all treated equally. They highlighted persistent racial disparities in areas such as policing, criminal justice, voting rights, housing, workplace discrimination, and economic opportunities (Alvarez et al., 2008a; Bor et al., 2018; Chama, 2019; DeGue et al., 2016; Kochhar & Fry, 2014; Manza & Uggen, 2004; McIntosh et al., 2020; Pitcan et al., 2018; Sue et al., 2007). Participants also discussed how the historical context of systemic racism and generational trauma resulting from slavery plays a significant role in shaping their perception (Berlin, 2004; Brady et al., 2020; Combs, 2016; Craemer et al., 2020; Macedo, 2021; Nunn, 2008; Philogène, 2000). These experiences and disparities have shaped their perception of the

American Dream and American ideals as either too costly to pursue, or entirely exclusionary and unattainable for marginalized communities.

Participants regard American principles of equality and liberty as incongruous with their reality as they have witnessed and can attest to the ongoing mistreatment and disenfranchisement of Black Americans which results in seemingly ever-widening disparities (Cain, 2015; Rogowski & Cohen, 2015). Participants vividly highlighted the stark disconnect between the idealized American Dream and the realities they navigate. Participants asserted an understanding of their rights as Americans and the need for social justice in the United States in order to uphold their rights. They expressed an appreciation for past advocacy efforts on their behalf but also declared the need for Black millennial voices to be hear in response to disparities and exclusionary ideals.

In opposition to the barriers they face, participants discussed the ways in which they are working to challenge and dismantle the systemic barriers that limit their opportunities and hinder their sense of belonging in American society (Craemer et al., 2020; Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Johnson, 2016; Lynch et al., 2021; Perez, 2021; Stern, 2021). Embracing their unique identities, participants reject the traditional American Dream in favor of redefining success on their own terms and creating alternative visions that encompass social justice, equity, and empowerment for their families and others regardless of their race, sexual identity, gender, or background (Bush & Bush, 2015; Stiuliuc, 2011). Some participants extolled the achievements of Black millennials and noted that through their activism and resilience, some Black millennials are at the forefront of forging a more inclusive and equitable American society that acknowledges and addresses the lived experiences and aspirations of all its citizens (King Jr., 2000; Miles, 2020; Perez, 2021).

### **Oppositional Identities**

Participants acknowledged the impact that awareness of the American Dream and other similar American ideals has on them as they reflected on their own unique realities within the American context. Their perceived inability to realize American ideals represents to them an exclusion from being able to identify as Americans as experiencing the fulfillment of American ideals are purported to be core elements of identifying as American (Carter & Perez, 2016; Cernkovich et al., 2000; Damak, 2018; King Jr., 1963, 2000). Participants shared that the prevalence of social injustices and disparities signify to them that they should not identify with, celebrate, or express pride in anything related to being American. Participants' hyperawareness of this reality has manifested in them having a fraught relationship with their American identities (Cavalhieri & Wilcox, 2021). Participants shared a sentiment that there are disparate realities between White and Black Americans and that the presence of systemic racism inhibits their American identity development (Belgrave & Allison, 2009; Cross, 1991; Durkee et al., 2019; Forsyth et al., 2015; Odafe et al., 2017; Trotter, 1995; Young, 2003).

Participants experienced and expressed internal conflict with identifying as American due to their to their conflicting realities (Cross, 1991; Halter & Johnson, 2014; Neville & Cross Jr., 2017) which is compounded by the lack of acknowledgement and reparations for the historical injustices perpetrated against people of African descent in the United States (Brooks, 2020; Darity Jr. & Mullen, 2020; Hannah-Jones, 2019; Walker, 2021). Participants also endorsed civic insecurity due to the failure of the American government to enact substantial police reform policies despite evidence and protests against racial injustice (Aitken, 2021; Hewitt, 2021; Redbird & Albrecht, 2020).

Additionally, participants identified the extolling of American historic emblems, symbols, and iconography, like the flag, Independence Day, and the national anthem as offensive

to Black Americans as they are representative of oppression and White American nationalism (Andrea & Sheffield-Hayes, 2019; Demetriou & Wingo, 2018; Madriaga, 2005). The participants denied fostering any pride in being American and vocalized an aversion to celebrating the United States as a country (Carter & Perez, 2016; Flanagan et al., 2009). Some described the practice of doing so as off-putting and marginalizing.

Participants label the imposition of American Dream and related ideals, along with the subsequent pursuit necessary to achieve them, as being associated with emotional distress and dissonance among Black individuals and conducive to perpetuating racial oppression (David et al., 2019; Graham et al., 2016; Huguley et al., 2019; Odafe et al., 2017; Schmidt, 2005; Speight, 2007). The participants also made note of the increasingly caustic social climate in the United States, pointing out that the increased instances of nationalism, racism, and racial stress are adversely affecting Black Americans (Baker et al., 2020; Giroux, 2017, 2020, 2021; Kilgo & Harlow, 2019; Nguyen et al., 2021; Pulido, 2019). Participants' responses conveyed that their awareness of the American Dream underscores the present disparities and injustices along with the historical and ongoing struggles faced by Black Americans which creates a sense of dissonance and internal conflict with their American identities thus inhibiting the development of any congruence between their Black and American identities (Cross, 1991; Durkee et al., 2019; Forsyth et al., 2015; Young, 2003).

## **Implications for Theory and Practice**

In addition to providing insight into the lived experiences and perspectives of Black or African American millennials, the participants' perceptions and experiences regarding their reality living in the United States yielded several significant clinical implications; chief among them is the need to address the psychological impact of systemic racism. The study participants

noted the adverse effects nationalism, racism, racial stress, and racial disparities has on their daily lives.

Participants discussed the anxiety and discomfort they feel in response to the systemic barriers they encounter on a regular basis, with some stating that they feel like Black people are unwanted by the United States. Some participants also discussed the adverse impact that generational racial trauma has on how they navigate American life. This complex reality has facilitated an emotional bind that Black Americans experience in relation to their identities as Americans (Odafe et al., 2017; Sellers et al., 2011; Speight, 2007). Participants were able to unhesitatingly acknowledge both the bevy of privileges and grave disadvantages that they and other sub-groups of Black Americans encounter.

Their complex relationship with their American identity and the internal conflict experienced by these Black American millennials highlights the need for cultural sensitivity when interacting with this population. Their perceived exclusion from realizing American ideals due to systemic racism and historical injustices can result in emotional distress and dissonance (Durkee et al., 2019; Molina & James 2016; Mouzon & McLean, 2017; Young, 2003). This speaks to the need for the cultivation of safe and validating spaces where Black American millennials' lived experiences and aspirations of Black individuals can be recognized and validated, allowing for the exploration and integration of their multifaceted identities.

Therapeutic interventions should also address racial trauma, promote coping strategies, and empower individuals to navigate and endure the caustic social climate they contend with in hopes of ultimately fostering mental resilience and well-being.

Participants also expressed feeling burdened within their identities as Black American millennials, indicating a sense of duty to their families and future generational cohorts.

Participants conveyed a sense of fidelity to their communities, with some noting that the privileges afforded to them because of prior generations' sacrifices made them feel obliged to work towards uplifting their racial group. Because of the sacrifices made to help them realize opportunities that past generations could not, they feel responsible for improving their living standards and achieving economic success not only for themselves, but also for future generations. Therapeutically, this understanding can serve as a source of hope and determination in their pursuit of a better future, helping them navigate setbacks and disparities.

Some participants cited their desires to elevate themselves and their communities as motivation to pursue higher education, viewing it as the most likely means of achieving their aspirations. Unfortunately, as a group they must grapple with significant challenges in the racial and generational wealth divide and the burden of student debt (Jones et al., 2020). Despite their increased levels of education, participants expressed concern that systemic barriers and a lack of social capital and financial literacy hinder their economic prospects. This highlights the need to address financial stressors through individualized action planning and the provision of resources to bolster financial literacy and promote economic empowerment among Black American millennials.

The rejection of the traditional American Dream in favor of their own ideals for success can also be an effective means of reckoning with the disadvantages they face as it promotes empowerment and identity development (Steffy, 2016; Zilberstein, 2023). However, the redefinition of success on their own terms reflects a need for therapeutic support in helping them navigate their aspirations and visions. While embracing alternative ideals of success can be helpful in fostering malleability and self-esteem, their pursuit can be mentally taxing, particularly pursuits centered on achieving social justice, equity, and empowerment in an unfavorable

environment (Allen & Harris, 2018; Woods-Giscombé, 2010). As Black American millennials seek to challenge and dismantle systemic barriers, they require therapeutic interventions that facilitate the exploration of their alternative visions, promote resilience, and provide tools to affect positive change within themselves and their communities. The numerous needs of Black American millennials speak to the necessity for multidisciplinary collaboration across domains and the development of interventions that promote social justice (Fouad et al., 2006) and support the well-being and resilience of Black American millennials by addressing their unique needs and aspirations, facilitating personal growth, empowerment, and ultimately creating a more inclusive and equitable society.

### Recommendations

In exploring the relationship between their realities as Black American millennials with the idyllic American Dream, the participants shared several notable insights and actionable recommendations to improve the lives of African American millennials in the United States. Their recommendations shed light on the key areas that require attention and change on the part of both Black millennials and stakeholders in their success, notably policy makers and community advocates, indicating the need for a collective effort in bridging the gap between the African American Dream and the Black American millennial reality.

From a policy making standpoint, the need for American government intervention regarding student loan debt relief was a common theme. As this is an issue that disproportionately affects African American millennials (Jones et al., 2020; Welbeck 2020), participants stressed the importance of addressing this issue as a means of leveling the playing field in the United States. Implementing measures to alleviate student loan debt can empower African American millennials economically and provide them with the ability to create a solid

foundation for their future (Ghaoui, 2020; Levenson, 2010). Participants also discussed the need to assuage the burden of the increasingly high cost of living as this issue impacts them disproportionately both as Black people and millennials (Albouy, 2016; Myers et al., 2020; Taylor 2020a). Participants recommended the implementation of policies to reduce financial barriers and provide access to affordable basic needs like food, housing, healthcare, and mental health services. By addressing these issues, the quality of life for Black American millennials and subsequent generations can be improved, enabling them to thrive and contribute to society. Participants also recommended that community leaders do more to promote financial literacy within Black communities. Additionally, some participants charged Black American millennials to do more themselves to increase their financial literacy, extoling the benefits it has had in their lives, and noted the increased access to such knowledge due to the proliferation of related information on the internet.

Addressing gentrification was also a critical concern for the study's participants as they noted its role in displacing Black communities. Their inability to prevent outside businesses from entering their communities has taken away economic opportunities from Black people and siphoned economic capital out of their communities leading to decline (Chronopoulos, 2016; Yonto & Thill, 2020). Participants recommended the implementation of policies and initiatives focused on preventing external entities from exploiting their community's resources with a focus instead on supporting local Black entrepreneurs and encouraging the growth of Black businesses within Black communities. Participants also emphasized the importance of Black millennials being centered at the forefront of these efforts and being role models for younger generations as they pursue economic empowerment in their communities.

Additionally, the study's participants recognized the need for increased engagement with mental health support for African American millennials. They recommended that increased utilization and accessibility to culturally competent mental health services be prioritized amongst Black millennials (Cofield, 2022; Woods-Giscombe et al., 2016; Yeazel, 2015). They cited the need for Black millennials to address their unique challenges; most crucially among them, intergenerational trauma. By providing the necessary resources, African American millennials can overcome the effects of trauma and develop resilience and a positive self-image which is vital for their personal success. Participants also pointed to community support and engagement as a means of improving mental health outcomes amongst Black American millennials (Brown, 2008; Wilkins et al., 2013). Participants shared the positive impact that engaging with their communities has had on their lives particularly with social media which some participants acknowledged as being a great resource while some also noted its disadvantages. Participants recommended that Black millennials do their part in fostering a sense of community amongst themselves by sharing experiences, ideas, and struggles, thereby combatting feelings of isolation and self-doubt and cultivating a sense of belonging.

Along with developing community amongst themselves, participants recommended that Black American millennials be more active in representing their communities in the political domain by being more civically engaged. Some participants noted how apathy on the part of Black millennials has and will continue to impede their progress in the United States (Matthews, 2018) as it reinforces an antiquated system that participants noted no longer works for them because it is not representative of their ideals or their communities. Participants expressed that active political involvement is essential for African American millennials to shape their reality. They emphasized the importance of Black American millennials increasing their participation in

elections, running for political office, and advocating for policies that address systemic inequalities most notably those in the education system. The study participants emphasized the need for Black millennials to advocate for increased funding and improved educational facilities and resources in Black communities, including better teachers and early career pipelines so that future generations have comparable opportunities for personal growth and professional success to their White counterparts (Nam, 2020). By engaging in the political process, African American millennials can have a direct impact on policies that shape their lives and contribute to positive social change for future generations (Cheng, 2017). Furthermore, participants strongly recommended increased racial and gender diversity in American government to improve representation and diversify leadership to ensure that the voices of underrepresented Americans, like Black millennials, are heard and respected.

#### Limitations

The limitations of this study include some that are inherent in a qualitative design including the lack of generalizability of the findings as fifteen participants are far from sufficient in being representative of the broader population. The participants' characteristics, such as socioeconomic status, education level, or geographic location is not reflective of diversity within this group, therefore, the findings may not be generalizable to the entire population.

Additionally, self-selection bias may have played a role in limiting generalizability as those who choose to participate may have specific characteristics or experiences that differ from those who decline to participate.

The inclusion criteria also may have narrowed the range of experiences and perspectives captured in the study. The requirement that participants have at least a bachelor's degree, be currently or recently employed, and possess proficient English and computer literacy skills

excluded individuals who do not meet these criteria but may also have invaluable perspectives and insights on the topic. Social desirability bias is another concern. Participants may have felt compelled to present themselves in a favorable light or conform to within-group expectations, particularly when discussing sensitive topics like disenfranchisement. This bias may have influenced the accuracy and authenticity of the data collected.

Another limitation of this type of research is the potential impact of historical factors that exist outside of the interview setting for each participant such as socioeconomic background, societal pressures, or global and local events. Moreover, the study's cross-sectional design limits the understanding of how the experiences of Black American Millennials have and will evolve over time. By not considering the historical and developmental context of these individuals, the study may have missed important insights into the changes and challenges Black American millennials have faced and responded to during their lives. Another factor worth considering is the role participants' gender plays in their perspectives and experiences. Participants' intersectionality complexly shapes their experiences. For example, some female participants discussed the unique forms of oppression and intersectional discrimination which has affected their perceptions of disenfranchisement in the United States differently compared to Black men. Regarding intersectionality, another participant spoke about how his religious beliefs and sexual identity shapes how he presents himself and how he is perceived in the United States.

The positionality of the interviewer may have also served as a limitation to the quality of data received. As an identified out-group member with an adjacent lived experience as a Black millennial living and working in the United States, participants may have felt the need to limit sharing their experience. On the other hand, participants may have seen the interviewer as an ingroup member despite disclosures otherwise and assumed that the researcher identified fully with

their reality. Thus, participants may have assumed a shared understanding and omitted important details regarding their experiences.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, conducting qualitative interviews virtually was seen as an efficient and pragmatic means of collecting qualitative data as it is cost-effective and convenient, and it allows researchers to reach a wider array of diverse potential participants (Gray et al., 2020). Despite it being divergent from the traditional and empirically supported method of face-to-face qualitative interviews (Ponterotto, 2005), researchers have found that virtual interview participants can be more open and expressive, particularly when they are aware that their interviewer is interacting with them from another state or city, thus lowering the likelihood of an in-person encounter (Mabragana et al., 2013). Despite its merits, collecting qualitative data via virtual means can also serve as a hindrance, not solely because of the potential technical difficulties, but because it can alter both researcher and participant behavior. Some authors have noted a contrast between how participants and researchers would behave if the interview was conducted in person compared to virtually (Curasi, 2001; Deakin & Wakefield, 2013). Virtual interviews also inhibit the researcher's ability to observe the interviewees' whole body and identify body language cues and other possible physical reactions to the interview process occurring outside of the web camera's view.

## **Directions for Future Research**

The findings of this study can be built upon to further advance the understanding of the lived experiences of Black American Millennials and their aspirations in relation to the American Dream and other American ideals. Given the purpose of this study and its limitations, future research geared towards exploring the lived experiences African American millennials and their perspectives on their American reality can consider several directions in order to increase

understanding of this population. The first would be to increase the diversity of the sample. This could be done by having a more inclusive criteria that encompasses a wider range of experiences within the Black American Millennial population. By avoiding the exclusion of individuals who do not meet specific educational or employment requirements, future researchers can recruit participants from various socioeconomic backgrounds, educational levels, and geographic locations, ensuring a more comprehensive exploration and understanding of Black American millennial experiences and perspectives. This could enhance the generalizability of the findings and allow more voices to be heard that may have otherwise been neglected.

Another possible area for future research could be exploring the impact of intersectionality and how it shapes this population's perspectives or further influences their response to living within the American context. Futhermore, exploring the role of identities like gender, socioeconomic status, religion, and sexual orientation could create insight into the interactions between social identities and their influence on Black millennials' American experience. Quantitative measures could also be integrated for a mixed methods approach. The integration of methods can provide a more nuanced analysis and allow for statistical comparisons, strengthening the robustness of the research and shedding light on the complex interplay between various dimensions of identity as well as the experiences and factors influencing how they navigate their American reality.

Additionally, future research could focus on other American racial or ethnic group, and generational cohorts, most notably Black Americans born between 1997 and 2012 who identify as belonging to Generation Z (Dimock, 2019). Immigrants to America should be studied as well, particularly those of African descent as their rate of immigration to the United States is expected to increase over the next several decades (Tamir & Anderson, 2022). The concept of the

American Dream and the pursuit of American ideals are a crucial part of the immigrant experience (Erisman & Looney, 2007; Mahler, 1995). It is vital that immigrants' unique lived experiences and culture be highlighted rather than grouped together within a larger sub-group as their distinct realities being overlooked or misunderstood could have adverse implications (Johnson, 2016; Pierre, 2004). Within the American context, immigrant sub-groups also contend with the pursuit of American ideals and they experience them to varying degrees.

Black millennials in other countries can be studied as well to explore cohort effects and their impact on their perspectives related to their home countries. Furthermore, comparative analyses can be conducted to compare the experiences of Black American Millennials with those of other American racial or ethnic groups and Black generational cohorts, like Generation Z, as well as across nationalities. A comparative approach can provide cross-cultural perspectives and shed light on the unique challenges and disparities faced by Black American Millennials compared to other related sub-groups. More specifically, it can provide insight and help identify factors that contribute to the disparities, such as the impact of national policies and systems. Another alternative research approach would be conducting a longitudinal study with this population to capture the developmental trajectories and changes in the experiences of Black American Millennials over time. A longitudinal approach can provide a rich understanding of the evolving dynamics between Black American millennials and their American realities while accounting for historical context and individual change over time in consideration of the various factors like employment and social policies that affect them.

Lastly, future research can be geared towards informing community interventions or public policy. Future researchers can collaborate with political or community organizations to develop research questions and methodologies grounded in the lived experiences and priorities of

a target group of Black American millennials, thus fostering improved understanding and leading to more direct and impactful findings. The implications of such a study can inform policy development, intervention strategies, and advocacy efforts for change that addresses systemic barriers and disenfranchisement faced by Black American Millennials. This can subsequently contribute to creating evidence-based solutions and improving the outcomes for this population as well as facilitate positive social change and promote more equitable opportunities for them, and future generations of Black Americans.

## References

- AbouAssi, K., McGinnis Johnson, J., & Holt, S. B. (2021). Job mobility among millennials: Do they stay or do they go?. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 41(2), 219-249.
- Aboobaker, N., Edward, M., & Zakkariya, K. A. (2020). Workplace spirituality and employee loyalty: an empirical investigation among millennials in India. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*.
- Abowitz, D. A. (2005). Social mobility and the American Dream: what do college students believe?. *College Student Journal*, *39*(4), 716-729.
- Adams, J. T., & Schneiderman, H. (2017). The epic of America. Routledge.
- Adams, M. O., Robinson, C. G., Johnson, L. A., & Yitbarek, K. (2020). The Black/African American Millennial. *Public Policy and Administration*, 8(2), 32-43.
- Aelion, M. S. (2017). The Impact of African American Male Incarceration Rates on the Racial Disparities in HIV/AIDS Rates. *DePaul Discoveries*, 6(1), 5.
- Ahmed, A. T., Mohammed, S. A., & Williams, D. R. (2007). Racial discrimination & health: Pathways & evidence. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 126(4), 318.
- Ahern, K. J. (1999). Ten tips for reflexive bracketing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 9(3), 407-411.
- Aitken, S. C. (2021). Pandemic and protest: young people at the forefront of US Pandemonium. *Children's Geographies*, 1-12.
- Akbar, P. A., Li, S., Shertzer, A., & Walsh, R. P. (2019). *Racial segregation in housing markets* and the erosion of black wealth. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Alang, S. M. (2019). Mental health care among blacks in America: Confronting racism and constructing solutions. *Health services research*, 54(2), 346-355.

- Albouy, D., Ehrlich, G., & Liu, Y. (2016). Housing demand, cost-of-living inequality, and the affordability crisis. National Bureau of Economic Research. Fouad, N. A., Gerstein, L. H., & Toporek, R. L. (2006). Social justice and counseling psychology in context.

  Handbook for social justice in counseling psychology: Leadership, vision, and action, 1, 16.
- Allen, R. (2019). It Was All a Dream: A New Generation Confronts the Broken Promise to Black America. *Bold Type Books*.
- Allen, R. N., & Harris, D. (2018). #Socialjustice: Combatting implicit bias in an age of millennials, colorblindness & microaggressions. *University of Maryland Law Journal of Race, Religion, Gender & Class*, 18(1), 1–29
- Allen, S. E., Davis, I. F., McDonald, M., & Robinson, C. C. (2020). The Case of Black Millennials. *Sociological Perspectives*, 63(3), 478-485.
- Alvarez, R. M., Bailey, D., & Katz, J. N. (2008a). The effect of voter identification laws on turnout. *California Institute of Technology Social Science Working Paper*.
- Alvarez, R. M., Hall, T. E., & Llewellyn, M. H. (2008b). Are Americans confident their ballots are counted?. *The Journal of Politics*, 70(3), 754-766.
- American Psychological Association. (2017). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct. Retrieved from https://www.apa.org/ethics/code
- Anderson, C. (2018). One person, no vote: How voter suppression is destroying our democracy.

  Bloomsbury publishing USA.
- Andrea, P. A., & Sheffield-Hayes, E. (2019). The "Star-Spangled Banner" as a Symbol of Nationalism, Identity, and Division. *Pro Football and the Proliferation of Protest:*Anthem Posture in a Divided America, 45.

- Andrews, D. J. C., (2009). The Construction of Black High-Achiever Identities in a

  Predominantly White High School. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 40(3), 297.
- Andrews, K. (2017). Beyond Pan-Africanism: Garveyism, Malcolm X and the end of the colonial nation state. *Third World Quarterly*, 38(11), 2501–2516.
- Andrews, K. T., Caren, N., & Lu, T. (2020). Racial, ethnic, and immigration protest during year one of the Trump presidency. In *Racialized Protest and the State* (pp. 208-226).

  Routledge.
- Anderson, L. A., O'Brien Caughy, M., & Owen, M. T. (2021). "The Talk" and Parenting While Black in America: Centering Race, Resistance, and Refuge. *Journal of Black Psychology*.
- Ang, D., Bencsik, P., Bruhn, J., & Derenoncourt, E. (2021). Police violence reduces civilian cooperation and engagement with law enforcement.
- Armstrong, J., Carlos Chavez, F. L., Jones, J. H., Harris, S. D., & Harris, G. J. (2019). "A Dream Deferred": How Discrimination Impacts the American Dream Achievement for African Americans. *Journal of Black Studies*, 50(3), 227-250.
- Arroyo, C. G., & Zigler, E. (1995). Racial identity, academic achievement, and the psychological well-being of economically disadvantaged adolescents. *Journal Of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 903.
- Assari, S., & Moghani Lankarani, M. (2018). Workplace racial composition explains high perceived discrimination of high socioeconomic status African American men. *Brain sciences*, 8(8), 139.
- Avery, J. M., & Peffley, M. (2005). Voter registration requirements, voter turnout, and welfare eligibility policy: Class bias matters. *State Politics & Policy Quarterly*, 5(1), 47-67.

- Awad, G. (2007). The role of racial identity, academic self-concept, and self-esteem in the prediction of academic outcomes for African American students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 33, 188–207.
- Bailey, J. S., & Shepherd, G. B. (2011). Baseball's Accidental Racism: The Draft, African-American Players, and the Law. *Conn. L. Rev.*, 44, 197.
- Baker, B., & Cotto Jr, R. (2020). The under-funding of Latinx-serving school districts. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 101(6), 40-46.
- Baker, J. O., Perry, S. L., & Whitehead, A. L. (2020). Keep America Christian (and white):

  Christian nationalism, fear of ethnoracial outsiders, and intention to vote for Donald

  Trump in the 2020 presidential election. *Sociology of Religion*, 81(3), 272-293.
- Baldwin, J. (1984). Notes of a native son. Beacon Press.
- Balf, N. (2020). Rejecting the" Deal of the Century"-A Reflection of Millennial Attitudes.

  \*Palestine-Israel Journal of Politics, Economics, and Culture, 25(1/2), 77-83.
- Barnett, R. C., & Brennan, R. T. (1995). The relationship between job experiences and psychological distress: a structural equation approach. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 16(3).
- Bannon, S., Ford, K., & Meltzer, L. (2011). Understanding millennials in the workplace. *The CPA Journal*, 81(11), 61.
- Barkun, M. (2017). President Trump and the "fringe". *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 29(3), 437-443.
- Barrero, J. M., Bloom, N., & Davis, S. J. (2020). *COVID-19 is also a reallocation shock*.

  National Bureau of Economic Research.

- Barreto, M., Collins, J., Leslie, G., & Rush, T. (2018, March). Perceived racial efficacy and voter engagement among African-Americans: A cautionary tale from 2016. Western Political Science Association Annual Conference, San Diego, CA.
- Baum, S., & Steele, P. (2010). Who borrows most. Bachelors degree recipients and high levels of debt. Retrieved from the College Board, Trends in Higher Education Series, Website: http://advocacy.collegeboard.org/sites/default/files/Trends-Who-Borrows-Most-Brief.pdf.
- Beinhocker, E. D., Farrell, D., & Greenberg, E. (2008). Why Baby Boomers Will Need To Work Longer. *The Mckinsey Quarterly*.
- Belgrave, F. Z., & Allison, K. W. (2018). *African American psychology: From Africa to America*. Sage Publications.
- Ben-Ishai, S., & Stanley, T. (2016). Millennials in Crisis: Myth-Busting Millennial Debt Narratives. *Osgoode Hall LJ*, 54.
- Benjamin, E. (2021). Trump, the Coronavirus Pandemic, Asian American Xenophobia, and Humanistic Psychology. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 61(2), 244-259.
- Berger (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219-234.
- Berlin, I. (2004). American Slavery in History and Memory and the Search for Social Justice. *The Journal of American History*, 90(4), 1251–1268.
- Berlinski, N., Doyle, M., Guess, A. M., Levy, G., Lyons, B., Montgomery, J. M., & Reifler, J. (2021). The effects of unsubstantiated claims of voter fraud on confidence in elections.

  \*Journal of Experimental Political Science, 1-16.

- Bernstein, S. B., Smith, Z. T., & Montez de Oca, J. (2020). 'Sit in the Shadows': The Black Body as American Event. In *Liminality and Critical Event Studies* (pp. 167-185).

  Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Berry, L. R., Jr. (2006). Mennonites, African-Americans, the U.S. constitution and the problem of assimilation. *The Mennonite Quarterly Review*, 80(3), 337–370.
- Bertrand, M., & Mullainathan, S. (2004). Are Emily and Greg more employable than Lakisha and Jamal? A field experiment on labor market discrimination. American economic review, 94(4), 991-1013.
- Bertocchi, G., & Dimico, A. (2020). *COVID-19, Race, and Redlining*. Institute of Labor Economics (IZA).
- Bialik, K., & Fry, R. (2019). How Millennials compare with prior generations. *Pew Research Center. Retrieved November*, 11, 2019.
- Biggers, D. R., & Hanmer, M. J. (2017). Understanding the adoption of voter identification laws in the American states. *American Politics Research*, 45(4), 560-588.
- Birks, M., Chapman, Y., & Frances, K. (2008). Memoing in qualitative research: Probing data and processes. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 1, 68.
- Biu, O., Famighetti, C., & Hamilton, D. (2021). Examining the differential impact of recessions and recovery across race and gender for working-versus professional-class workers. *The Annals of The American Academy Of Political And Social Science*, 695(1), 158-172.
- Blagg, K. (2018). Underwater on Student Debt: Understanding Consumer Credit and Student Loan Default.
- Blalock, C. (2017). African American Graduates' Experiences of Managing College

  Debt (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).

- Blancero, D. M., Mouriño-Ruiz, E., & Padilla, A. M. (2018). Latino millennials—The new diverse workforce: Challenges and opportunities. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 40(1), 3-21.
- Bloch, S., & Phillips, S. A. (2021). Mapping and making gangland: A legacy of redlining and enjoining gang neighbourhoods in Los Angeles. *Urban Studies*.
- Blume, A. W., Lovato, L. V., Thyken, B. N., & Denny, N. (2012). The relationship of microaggressions with alcohol use and anxiety among ethnic minority college students in a historically White institution. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 18, 45–54.
- Bobeica, E., Ciccarelli, M., & Vansteenkiste, I. (2021). The Changing Link Between Labor Cost And Price Inflation In The United States.
- Boen, C., Keister, L., & Aronson, B. (2020). Beyond net worth: Racial differences in wealth portfolios and black—white health inequality across the life course. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 61(2), 153-169.
- Bogin, R. (1983). "Liberty Further Extended": A 1776 Antislavery Manuscript by Lemuel Haynes. *The William and Mary Quarterly: A Magazine of Early American History and Culture*, 85-105.
- Bolton, K., & Feagin, J. (2004). *Black in blue: African-American police officers and racism*. Routledge.
- Boone, B. (2020). Discrimination, Organizational Commitment, and the Impact of Diversity

  Programs on Black Millennials (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Borrallo, F., Buesa, A., & Párraga Rodríguez, S. (2021). Inflation in the United States: recent developments and outlook. *Banco de Espana Article*, 34, 21.

- Bor, J., Venkataramani, A. S., Williams, D. R., & Tsai, A. C. (2018). Police killings and their spillover effects on the mental health of black Americans: a population-based, quasi-experimental study. *The Lancet*, 392(10144), 302-310.
- Bourke, B. (2014). Positionality: Reflecting on the Research Process. *Qualitative Report*, 19(33), 1–9.
- Bowman, P. J., & Howard, C. (1985). Race-related socialization, motivation, and academic achievement: A study of Black youths in three-generation families. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 24(2), 134-141.
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). Transforming Qualitative Information: Thematic Analysis And Code Development. Sage.
- Brady, D., Finnigan, R., Kohler, U., & Legewie, J. (2020). The Inheritance of Race Revisited:

  Childhood Wealth and Income and Black—White Disadvantages in Adult Life

  Chances. *Sociological Science*, 7, 599-627.
- Braga, B., McKernan, S. M., Ratcliffe, C., & Baum, S. (2017). Wealth inequality is a barrier to education and social mobility. *Urban Institute: Elevate the Debate. https://www. urban. org/research/publication/wealth-inequality-barrier-education-and-social-mobility.*
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research* in Sport, Exercise and Health, 11(4), 589–597.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2020). One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 18(3), 328–352.
- Bratton, W., & Anderson, B. C. (2018). Precision policing. City Journal.

- Breyer, F., & Kifmann, M. (2002). Incentives to retire later—a solution to the social security crisis?. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance*, 1(2), 111-130.
- Brezinski, K. J., Laux, J., Roseman, C., O'Hara, C., & Gore, S. (2018). Undergraduate African–American student's experience of racial microaggressions on a primarily white campus. *Journal for Multicultural Education*.
- Brodmann, J., Rayfield, B., Hassan, M. K., & Mai, A. T. (2018). Banking characteristics of millennials. *Journal of Economic Cooperation & Development*, 39(4), 43-73.
- Brooks, R. L. (2020). The Anatomy of an Apology. *Social Research: An International Quarterly*, 87(4), 813-834.
- Brown, D. L. (2008). African American resiliency: Examining racial socialization and social support as protective factors. *Journal of Black psychology*, *34*(1), 32-48.
- Brown, D. L., & Segrist, D. (2016). African American career aspirations: Examining the relative influence of internalized racism. *Journal of Career Development*, 43(2), 177-189.
- Brown, K., Threadcraft, M., & Threadcraft-Walker, W. (2019). Black Male Experiences and Perceptions of Felony Disenfranchisement.
- Brown, M. K. (2000). Being Black, Living in the Red: Race, Wealth, and Social Policy in America. *Labor History*, *41*(4), 513–516.
- Buccola, N. (2019). The Fire Is upon Us (Ser. James Baldwin, William F. Buckley Jr., and the Debate over Race in America, pp. 379–380). Princeton University Press.
- Bullock III, C. S., Hood III, M. V., & Clark, R. (2005). Punch cards, Jim Crow, and Al Gore: Explaining voter trust in the electoral system in Georgia, 2000. *State Politics & Policy Quarterly*, 5(3), 283-294.

- Bump, P. (2016). The long history of black voter suppression in American politics. *Washington Post, November*.
- Burkus, D. (2010). Developing the next generation of leaders: How to engage millennials in the workplace. *Leadership Advance Online*, 19, 1-6.
- Bush, R., & Bush, M. E. (2015). *Tensions in the American Dream: Rhetoric, reverie, or reality*.

  Temple University Press.
- Cain, L. (2015). Barriers encountered by African American women executives (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Calvin, R., Winters, K., Wyatt, S. B., Williams, D. R., Henderson, F. C., & Walker, E. R. (2003).

  Racism and cardiovascular disease in African Americans. *The American journal of the medical sciences*, 325(6), 315-331.
- Campbell, D. B., & Fleming, J. (2000). Fear of Success, Racial Identity, and Academic Achievement in Black Male College Students. *Community Review*, 18, 5–18
- Caputo-Levine, D., & Lynn, V. (2019). Constructing the ghetto: an analysis of the representation of Black urban communities in urban and community sociology courses. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 1-20.
- Caraher, L. (2016). *Millennials & management: The essential guide to making it work at work*.

  Routledge.
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The Use of Triangulation in Qualitative Research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545–547.
- Carter, N. M., & Perez, E. O. (2016). Race and nation: How racial hierarchy shapes national attachments. *Political Psychology*, *37*(4), 497-513.

- Castro-Ramirez, F., Al-Suwaidi, M., Garcia, P., Rankin, O., Ricard, J. R., & Nock, M. K. (2021).

  Racism and poverty are barriers to the treatment of youth mental health concerns. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 1-13.
- Cates, D. (2012). Plessy v. Ferguson: Segregation and the Separate but Equal Policy: Segregation and the Separate but Equal Policy. ABDO Publishing Company.
- Cavalhieri, K. E., & Wilcox, M. M. (2021). The compounded effects of classism and racism on mental health outcomes for African Americans. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*.
- Cernkovich, S. A., Giordano, P. C., & Rudolph, J. L. (2000). Race, crime, and the American Dream. *The Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 37(2), 131-170.
- Chama, B. (2019). The Black Lives Matter movement, crime and police brutality: Comparative study of New York Post and New York Daily News. *European Journal of American Culture*, 38(3), 201-216.
- Chambers, B. D., Arabia, S. E., Arega, H. A., Altman, M. R., Berkowitz, R., Feuer, S. K., & McLemore, M. R. (2020). Exposures to structural racism and racial discrimination among pregnant and early post-partum Black women living in Oakland, California. *Stress and Health*, 36(2), 213-219.
- Chang, H. C. H., Richardson, A., & Ferrara, E. (2021). #justiceforGeorgeFloyd: How Instagram Facilitated the 2020 Black Lives Matter Protests.
- Chaplin, K. S. (2018). What Does Africa Have to Do with Being American?: U.S. African and European American College Students' Notions of, Knowledge of, and Experiences with Africa. *Journal of Pan African Studies*, 1, 594.

- Chapman, A. (2020). Ameliorating COVID-19's Disproportionate Impact on Black and Hispanic Communities: Proposed Policy Initiatives for the United States. *Health and Human Rights*, 22(2), 329.
- Chaput, W. M. (2020). Democratic Apathy: Exploring the Roots of Millennial Democratic Fatigue (Doctoral dissertation).
- Chaudhuri, S., & Ghosh, R. (2012). Reverse mentoring: A social exchange tool for keeping the boomers engaged and millennials committed. *Human resource development* review, 11(1), 55-76.
- Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing grounded theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Charmaz, K. (2015). Teaching theory construction with initial grounded theory tools: A reflection on lessons and learning. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(12), 1610-1622.
- Charron-Chénier, R. (2020). Predatory inclusion in consumer credit: explaining black and white disparities in payday loan use. In *Sociological Forum* (Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 370-392).
- Charron-Chénier, R., & Seamster, L. (2018). (Good) debt is an asset. Contexts, 17(1), 88-90.
- Cheng, J. D. (2017). Voting Rights for Millennials: Breathing New Life into the Twenty-Sixth Amendment. *Syracuse Law Review*, 67, 653.
- Chetty, R., Grusky, D., Hell, M., Hendren, N., Manduca, R., & Narang, J. (2017). The fading American dream: Trends in absolute income mobility since 1940. *Science*, *356*(6336), 398-406.
- Chinn, J. J., Martin, I. K., & Redmond, N. (2021). Health equity among Black women in the United States. *Journal of Women's Health*, 30(2), 212-219.
- Choi, J. H., Zhu, J., & Goodman, L. (2018). The state of millennial homeownership. Urban Wire: Housing and Housing Finance. *Urban Institute*.

- Choi, Y., & Unwin, J. (2020). Racial Impact on Infections and Deaths due to COVID-19 in New York City. *arXiv*.
- Chronopoulos, T. (2016). African Americans, gentrification, and neoliberal urbanization: The case of Fort Greene, Brooklyn. *Journal of African American Studies*, 20(3), 294-322.
- Clark, C. J. (2019a). Gaining Voice: The Causes and Consequences of Black Representation in the American States. Oxford University Press.
- Clark, R. L., Nyce, S., Ritter, B., & Shoven, J. (2019). Employer concerns and responses to an aging workforce. *The Journal of Retirement*, 6(4), 82-99.
- Clark, W. A. (2019b). Millennials in the housing market: The transition to ownership in challenging contexts. *Housing, Theory and Society*, *36*(2), 206-227.
- Clark, W. A., Huang, Y., & Yi, D. (2021). Can millennials access homeownership in urban China?. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *36*(1), 69-87.
- Clarke, Y. (2021). 'Mixed white and Black Caribbean' millennials in Britain: An exploration of identity. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*.
- Coates, T. N. (2015). *The case for reparations* (pp. 1-50). Columbia University Press.
- Coates, T.N. (2017). My President was black: a history of the first African American White House–and of what came next. *The Atlantic*, *319*(1), 46.
- Cobb, J. (2018). Voter-suppression tactics in the age of Trump. *New Yorker*.
- Cobb, R. V., Greiner, D. J., & Quinn, K. M. (2010). Can voter ID laws be administered in a race-neutral manner? Evidence from the city of Boston in 2008. *Quarterly Journal of Political Science*, 7(1), 1-33.

- Cockshaw, W. D., Shochet, I. M., & Obst, P. L. (2013). General belongingness, workplace belongingness, and depressive symptoms. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 23(3), 240-251.
- Cofield, D. (2022). "You Good, Bruh?" An Exploration of the Influence of Race and Masculinity on Millennial Black Men's Decisions to Seek Mental Health Treatment.
- Cohen, C. J. (2011). Millennials & the myth of the post-racial society: Black youth, intragenerational divisions & the continuing racial divide in American politics. *Daedalus*, *140*(2), 197-205.
- Cokley, K. O. (2002). Testing Cross's revised racial identity model: An examination of the relationship between racial identity and internalized racialism. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 49(4), 476.
- Cokley, K. O. (2005). Racial (ized) identity, ethnic identity, and Afrocentric values: Conceptual and methodological challenges in understanding African American identity. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(4), 517.
- Colbert, S. D. (2017). *Black Movements : Performance and Cultural Politics*. Rutgers University Press.
- Coleman, B. R., Bonam, C. M., & Yantis, C. (2019). I thought ghettos just happened": White Americans' responses to learning about place-based critical history. *History and collective memory from the margins: A global perspective*, 207-228.
- Combs, B. H. (2016). Black (and brown) bodies out of place: Towards a theoretical understanding of systematic voter suppression in the United States. *Critical Sociology*, 42(4-5), 535-549.

- Corbet, S., & Gurdgiev, C. (2017). Millennials' Support for Liberal Democracy is Failing: A Deep Uncertainty Perspective.
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2014). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. Sage publications.
- Cort, K. A. (2007). The influence of racial identity and race-related socialization on the educational outcomes of Black American adolescents. Columbia University.
- Costa, M. (2021). Ideology, not affect: What Americans want from political representation. *American Journal of Political Science*, 65(2), 342-358.
- Cottrell, D., Herron, M. C., Rodriguez, J. M., & Smith, D. A. (2019). Mortality, Incarceration, and African American Disenfranchisement in the Contemporary United States. *American Politics Research*, 47(2), 195–237.
- Cox, D., Lienesch, R., & Jones, R. P. (2017). Beyond economics: Fears of cultural displacement pushed the white working class to Trump. *PRRI/The Atlantic Report*, 5.
- Cox, J. C., Kreisman, D., & Dynarski, S. (2020). Designed to fail: Effects of the default option and information complexity on student loan repayment. *Journal of Public Economics*, 192.
- Craemer, T. (2015). Estimating slavery reparations: Present value comparisons of historical multigenerational reparations policies. *Social Science Quarterly*, 96(2), 639-655.
- Craemer, T., Smith, T., Harrison, B., Logan, T., Bellamy, W., & Darity Jr, W. (2020). Wealth implications of slavery and racial discrimination for African American descendants of the enslaved. *The Review of Black Political Economy*, 47(3), 218-254.
- Crichton, S. S. (2021). Teaching in the Time of Disruption: A Case for Empathy and Honoring Diversity. *The Journal of the Legal Writing Institute*, 25, 4-14.

- Cross, W. E., Jr. (1971, July). The Negro-to-Black conversion experience. *Black World*, 13-27.
- Cross, W. E., Jr. (1991). *Shades of Black: Diversity in African-American identity*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Cruz-Cerdas, C. E. (2017). The Elusive Equalizer: How Racial, Class, And Gender Inequality

  Persists Among College Educated Millennials.
- Curasi, C. F. (2001). A critical exploration of face-to-face interviewing vs. computer-mediated interviewing. *International Journal of Market Research*, *43*(4), 361–375.
- Dalton, K. M. (2012). Bridging the digital divide and guiding the millennial generation's research and analysis. *Barry Law Review*, *18*, 167.
- Daly, M., Hobijn, B., & Pedtke, J. H. (2017). Disappointing facts about the black-white wage gap. *FRBSF Economic Letter*, 26, 1-5.
- Damak, S. (2018). The Strategic Purpose of Belonging in Martin Luther King, Jr.'s "I Have a Dream" Speech: An African American Conforming to Americanity. In M. Guirat, *Politics and Poetics of Belonging* (pp. 214–237). Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Daniels, K. P., Valdez, Z., Chae, D. H., & Allen, A. M. (2020). Direct and Vicarious Racial
  Discrimination at Three Life Stages and Preterm Labor: Results from the African
  American Women's Heart & Health Study. *Maternal & Child Health Journal*, 24(11), 1387–1395.
- Darity Jr, W. A., & Mullen, A. K. (2020). From here to equality: Reparations for Black Americans in the twenty-first century. UNC Press Books.
- Dartson, M. V. (1999). Racial identity attitudes and self-esteem of African American college students at a historically Black college and a historically White university. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 59(8-A).

- David, E. J. R., Schroeder, T. M., & Fernandez, J. (2019). Internalized racism: A systematic review of the psychological literature on racism's most insidious consequence. *Journal of Social Issues*, 75(4), 1057-1086.
- Dawson, M. C. (2003). *Black visions: The roots of contemporary African-American political ideologies*. University of Chicago Press.
- Deakin, H., & Wakefield, K. (2013). Skype interviewing: Reflections of two PhD researchers. *Qualitative Research*, 14(5), 603-616.
- Deal, J. J., Altman, D. G., & Rogelberg, S. G. (2010). Millennials at work: What we know and what we need to do (if anything). *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 25(2), 191-199.
- de Bassa Scheresberg, C., Lusardi, A., & Yakoboski, P. J. (2014). College-educated millennials:

  An overview of their personal finances. *TIAA-CREF Institute and the Global Financial Literacy Excellence Center*, 1-38.
- Debevec, K., Schewe, C. D., Madden, T. J., & Diamond, W. D. (2013). Are today's millennials splintering into a new generational cohort? Maybe!. *Journal Of Consumer Behaviour*, 12(1), 20-31.
- DeGue, S., Fowler, K. A., & Calkins, C. (2016). Deaths due to use of lethal force by law enforcement: Findings from the national violent death reporting system, 17 US states, 2009–2012. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *51*(5), S173-S187.
- De Gutes, K. C. (2020). On Reckoning with White Privilege and the Black Struggle to Survive. *Fourth Genre: Explorations in Nonfiction*, 22(1), 229-233.
- Deifell, D. (2018). Children in the Dream: Barack Obama and the Struggle over Martin Luther King's Legacy. *Journal of Contemporary Rhetoric*, 8(3), 157–172.

- Delgado, R. S., & Stefancic, J. J. (2012). Critical race theory: An introduction. *New York University Press*.
- Demetriou, D., & Wingo, A. (2018). The ethics of racist monuments. In *The Palgrave Handbook* of *Philosophy and Public Policy* (pp. 341-355). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Denzin, N.K. (1978). Sociological methods: A sourcebook. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Derenoncourt, E., & Montialoux, C. (2021). Minimum wages and racial inequality. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 136(1), 169-228.
- Dettling, L. J., Hsu, J. W., Jacobs, L., Moore, K., Thompson, J., & Llanes, E. (2017). Recent trends in wealth-holding by race and ethnicity: Evidence from the Survey of Consumer Finances. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
- DeVaney, S. A. (2015). Understanding the millennial generation. *Journal of financial service* professionals, 69(6).
- Devore, W. (1983). Ethnic reality: The life model and work with black families. *Social Casework*, 64(9), 525-531.
- Dey, J. G., & Pierret, C. R. (2014). Independence for Young Millennials: Moving out and Boomeranging Back. *Monthly Labor Review*, 137(12), 1–10.
- DiAquoi, R. C. (2018). Critical Race Life Course Perspective Theory: A Framework for Understanding Racism over the Life Course. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 31(1), 36–54.
- Dickens, D. D., & Chavez, E. L. (2018). Navigating the workplace: The costs and benefits of shifting identities at work among early career US Black women. *Sex Roles*, 78(11), 760-774.

- DiMaggio, C., Klein, M., Berry, C., & Frangos, S. (2020). Black/African American

  Communities are at highest risk of COVID-19: spatial modeling of New York City ZIP

  Code–level testing results. *Annals of epidemiology*, *51*, 7-13.
- Dimock, M. (2019). Defining generations: Where Millennials end and Generation Z begins. *Pew Research Center*, 17(1), 1-7.
- Du Bois, W. E. B. (2020). The gift of Black folk: The Negroes in the making of America. Open Road Media.
- Duchess Harris, J. D., & Gagne, T. (2020). Justice for George Floyd. ABDO.
- Dufresne, B. (2017). Never forget: the National Museum of African American History & Culture. *Commonweal Foundation*, 144(7), 20.
- Dupuy, B. (2017). California NAACP demands that Congress remove "racist" national anthem.

  Retrieved from https://www.newsweek.com/naacp-urges-congress-replace-racist-national-anthem-705207
- Durham, A. (2015). \_ While Black: Millennial race play and the post-hip-hop generation. Cultural Studies? *Critical Methodologies*, 15(4), 253-259.
- Durkee, M. I., Gazley, E. R., Hope, E. C., & Keels, M. (2019). Cultural invalidations:

  Deconstructing the "acting White" phenomenon among Black and Latinx college students. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 25(4), 451.
- Dyer, J. B. (2012). American Soul: The Contested Legacy of the Declaration of Independence.

  \*Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.\*
- Edgemon, T. G., & Clay-Warner, J. (2019). Inmate mental health and the pains of imprisonment. *Society and Mental Health*, 9(1), 33-50.

- Ehlenz, M. M., Pfeiffer, D., & Pearthree, G. (2020). Downtown revitalization in the era of millennials: how developer perceptions of millennial market demands are shaping urban landscapes. *Urban Geography*, 41(1), 79-102.
- Eichstaedt, J. C., Sherman, G. T., Giorgi, S., Roberts, S. O., Reynolds, M. E., Ungar, L. H., & Guntuku, S. C. (2021). The emotional and mental health impact of the murder of George Floyd on the US population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(39).
- Ellis, A. L., & Geller, K. D. (2016). Unheard and Unseen. *Education & Urban Society*, 48(6), 583–610.
- Ellis, A. R. (2008). The cost of the vote: Poll taxes, voter identification laws, and the price of democracy. *Denver University Law Review*, 86, 1023.
- Ellis, A. R. (2020). Voter Fraud as an Epistemic Crisis for the Right to Vote. *Mercer Law Review*, 71(3), 7.
- English, D., Lambert, S. F., & Ialongo, N. S. (2016). Adding to the education debt: Depressive symptoms mediate the association between racial discrimination and academic performance in African Americans. *Journal of school psychology*, *57*, 29-40.
- Epp, C. R., Maynard-Moody, S., & Haider-Markel, D. (2017). Beyond profiling: The institutional sources of racial disparities in policing. *Public Administration Review*, 77(2), 168-178.
- Epperly, B., Witko, C., Strickler, R., & White, P. (2020). Rule by violence, rule by law: Lynching, Jim Crow, and the continuing evolution of voter suppression in the US. *Perspectives on Politics*, *18*(3), 756-769.
- Erisman, W., & Looney, S. (2007). Opening the door to the American dream: Increasing higher education access and success for immigrants.

- Fairlie, R. W., Couch, K., & Xu, H. (2020). The impacts of COVID-19 on minority unemployment: First evidence from April 2020 CPS microdata. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Farmer G. L. (2006). African American Males' Civic Engagement: The Importance of Social Organization Involvement and Friendship Diversity. *Journal of African American Studies*, 10(2), 51.
- Fassinger, R. E. (2005). Paradigms, Praxis, Problems, and Promise: Grounded Theory in Counseling Psychology Research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 2, 156.
- Fay, B. (2021). The U.S. Consumer Debt Crisis. Retrieved from https://www.debt.org/faqs/americans-in-debt/
- Feagin, J. (2013). Systemic racism: A theory of oppression. Routledge.
- Feiveson, L., & Sabelhaus, J. (2018). How does intergenerational wealth transmission affect wealth concentration? *FED Notes*.
- Fenton, N., Neil, M., & Frazier, S. (2020). The role of collider bias in understanding statistics on racially biased policing. *Cornell University*.
- Fields, C. (2016). Black elephants in the room: the unexpected politics of African American Republicans. Univ of California Press.
- Fisher, B. W., Dawson-Edwards, C., Higgins, E. M., & Swartz, K. (2020). Who belongs in school? Examining the link between Black and White racial disparities in sense of school belonging and suspension. *Journal of community psychology*, 48(5), 1481-1499.
- Fisher, P. (2018). A political outlier: The distinct politics of the millennial generation. *Society*, *55*(1), 35-40.

- Fishman, A. A. (2016). How generational differences will impact America's aging workforce: Strategies for dealing with aging Millennials, Generation X, and Baby Boomers.

  Strategic HR Review.
- Flanagan, C. A., Syvertsen, A. K., Gill, S., Gallay, L. S., & Cumsille, P. (2009). Ethnic awareness, prejudice, and civic commitments in four ethnic groups of American adolescents. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 38(4), 500.
- Fongwa, S. N. (2019). Interrogating the public good versus private good dichotomy: 'black tax' as a higher education public good. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 1-16.
- Forman, M. (2002). *The 'hood comes first: Race, space, and place in rap and hip-hop*. Wesleyan University Press.
- Forsyth, J. M., Hall, S., & Carter, R. T. (2015). Racial identity among African Americans and Black West Indian Americans. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 46(2), 124.
- Fox, S., Muddiman, E., Hampton, J., Kolpinskaya, E., & Evans, C. (2021). Capitalising on faith?

  An intergenerational study of social and religious capital among Baby Boomers and

  Millennials in Britain. *The Sociological Review*, 69(4), 862-880.
- Frey, W. H. (2018b). *Diversity explosion: How new racial demographics are remaking America*.

  Brookings Institution Press
- Frey, W. H. (2018a). The millennial generation: a demographic bridge to America's diverse future. 2018. *Brookings, Metropolitan Policy Program, Massachusetts*.
- Frian, A., & Mulyani, F. (2018). Millenials employee turnover intention in Indonesia. *Innovative Issues and Approaches in Social Sciences*, 11(3).

- Friedman, Z. (2020). Student Loan Debt Statistics In 2019: A \$1.5 Trillion Crisis. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/zackfriedman/2019/02/25/student-loan-debt-statistics-2019/?sh=5c22b7b1133f
- Fromm, J., & Garton, C. (2013). Marketing to millennials: Reach the largest and most influential generation of consumers ever. Amacom.
- Fry, R. (2014). For Millennials, a bachelor's degree continues to pay off, but a master's earns even more. *Pew Research Center RSS*.
- Fry, R. (2016). Millennials overtake Baby Boomers as America's largest generation. *Pew Research Center*, 25.
- Fry, R. (2017). Millennials aren't job-hopping any faster than Generation X did. *Pew Research Center*.
- Fry, R. (2017a). Young adult household economic well-being: Comparing Millennials to earlier generations in the United States. In *The Millennial City* (pp. 41-50). Routledge.
- Gaddis, S. M. (2021). Despite Positive Racial Attitudes, Racial Discrimination is Prevalent Among Millennials.
- Gaidhani, S., Arora, L., & Sharma, B. K. (2019). Understanding the attitude of generation Z towards workplace. *International Journal of Management, Technology and Engineering*, 9(1), 2804-2812.
- Gale, W. G., Gelfond, H., Fichtner, J. J., & Harris, B. H. (2020). The wealth of generations, with special attention to the millennials. *National Bureau of Economic Research*.
- Garg, S., Kim, L., Whitaker, M., O'Halloran, A., Cummings, C., Holstein, R., & Fry, A. (2020).

  Hospitalization rates and characteristics of patients hospitalized with laboratory-

- confirmed coronavirus disease 2019—COVID-NET, 14 States, March 1–30, 2020. *Morbidity and mortality weekly report*, 69(15), 458.
- Gasson, S. (2004). Rigor in Grounded Theory Research: An Interpretive Perspective On Generating Theory From Qualitative Field Studies. *The Handbook of Information Systems Research* (79-102).
- Ghaoui, M. S. (2020). The Multifaceted Wretchedness of Millennials in the US: The Case of Student Loan Debt.
- Gharzai, L. A., Beeler, W. H., & Jagsi, R. (2020). Playing into stereotypes: Engaging millennials and Generation Z in the COVID-19 pandemic response. *Advances in Radiation Oncology*, 5(4), 679-681.
- Gibbons, F. X., Fleischli, M. E., Gerrard, M., Simons, R. L., Weng, C. Y., & Gibson, L. P. (2020). The impact of early racial discrimination on illegal behavior, arrest, and incarceration among African Americans. *American Psychologist*, 75(7), 952.
- Gilbert, K., & Dean, L. (2013). Social capital, social policy, and health disparities: A legacy of political advocacy in African-American communities. In *Global perspectives on social capital and health* (pp. 307–322). Springer.
- Giroux, H. A. (2017). White nationalism, armed culture and state violence in the age of Donald Trump. *Philosophy & Social Criticism*, 43(9), 887-910.
- Giroux, H. A. (2020). Weaponizing racism in the age of Trump. In Eudaimonia (pp. 60-70). *Routledge*.
- Giroux, H. A. (2021). Trumpism and the challenge of critical education. *Educational Philosophy* and *Theory*.

- Giuliano, G. (1998). Information Technology, Work Patterns and Intra-metropolitan Location: A Case Study. *Urban Studies*, 35(7).
- Goidel, K., Gaddie, K., & Goidel, S. (2019). Rigged-election rhetoric: Coverage and consequences. *Political Science & Politics*, 52(2), 229-238.
- Goodman, C. J., & Mance, S. M. (2011). Employment loss and the 2007-09 recession: An overview. *Monthly Labor Review*, 134, 3.
- Goodman, M. J., Sands, A. M., & Coley, R. J. (2015). America's Skills Challenge: Millennials and the Future. *Educational Testing Service*.
- Gooding, F. W. (2018). American dream deferred: Black federal workers in Washington, DC, 1941-1981. University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Gopalan, M. (2019). Understanding the Linkages between Racial/Ethnic Discipline Gaps and Racial/Ethnic Achievement Gaps in the United States. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 27(154).
- Gordon-Reed, A. (2021). On Juneteenth. WW Norton.
- Grable, J. E., & Joo, S. H. (2006). Student racial differences in credit card debt and financial behaviors and stress. *College Student Journal*, 40(2), 400-409.
- Graham, J. R., West, L. M., Martinez, J., & Roemer, L. (2016). The mediating role of internalized racism in the relationship between racist experiences and anxiety symptoms in a Black American sample. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 22(3), 369.
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292-1301.

- Griggs, S., Ratner, H. H., Hannigan, J. H., Delaney-Black, V., & Chiodo, L. M. (2019, October).

  Violence exposure, conflict, and health outcomes in inner-city African American adolescents. In *Nursing forum* (Vol. 54, No. 4, pp. 513-525).
- Grishby, A. R. (2019). Leadership and Culture Effects on Corporate Retention of Black Millennials.
- Gruber, J., Hardy, M. A., & Kresky, H. (2019). Let All Voters Vote: Independents and the Expansion of Voting Rights in the United States. *Touro L. Rev.*, *35*, 649.
- Guelzo, A. C. (2005). *Lincoln's Emancipation Proclamation: The End of Slavery In America*. Simon and Schuster.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How Many Interviews Are Enough? Field Methods, 18(1), 59–82.
- Hackett, J. D., & Hogg, M. A. (2014). The diversity paradox: When people who value diversity surround themselves with like-minded others. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 44(6), 415-422.
- Hajnal, Z., Lajevardi, N., & Nielson, L. (2017). Voter identification laws and the suppression of minority votes. *The Journal of Politics*, 79(2), 363–379.
- Hall, R. E. (2018). Anti-Racist Racism as Millennial Pattern of Prejudice: The Stealth Perpetuation of White Supremacy. *Race, Gender & Class*, 25(1/2), 64–76.
- Hall, S. (1986). Gramsci's Relevance for the Study of Race and Ethnicity. *Journal of communication inquiry*, 10(2), 5-27.
- Hall, S. (2012). The Role of Racial Socialization and Ethnocentrism in the Racial IdentityDevelopment of Second-Generation Black West Indian Americans (Doctoral dissertation,Columbia University).

- Halter, M. & Johnson, V. S. (2014). *African & American: West Africans in Post-Civil Rights*America (Vol. 24). NYU Press.
- Haneman, V. J. (2017). Marriage, millennials, and massive student loan debt. *Concordia Law Review*, 2, 103.
- Hannah-Jones, N. (2019). America wasn't a democracy, until Black Americans made it one. *The New York Times Magazine*, 14-26.
- Hanson, A. R., & Gulish, A. (2016). From to College to Career: Making Sense of the Post-Millennial Job Market.
- Hanson, M. (2021). Student Loan Debt by Generation. Retrieved from https://educationdata.org/student-loan-debt-by-generation
- Harris, H. M., & Harding, D. J. (2019). Racial inequality in the transition to adulthood after prison. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 5(1), 223-254.
- Hansen, J. T. (2004). Thoughts on knowing: Epistemic implications of counseling practice. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 82, 131–138.
- Hasen, R. L. (2017). The 2016 US Voting Wars: From Bad to Worse. William & Mary Bill of Rights Journal, 26, 629.
- Hatch, J. B. (2006). Beyond apologia: Racial reconciliation and apologies for slavery. *Western Journal of Communication*, 70(3), 186-211.
- Haughwout, A. F., Lee, D., Scally, J., & Van der Klaauw, W. (2019). *Racial Disparities in Student Loan Outcomes*. Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
- Heaney, M. T. (2020). Protest at the Center of American Politics. *Journal of International Affairs*, 73(2), 195-208.

- Hecht, B. (2018). Reclaiming the American dream: Proven solutions for creating economic opportunity for all. Brookings Institution Press.
- Helms, J. E. (1995). An update of Helm's White and people of color racial identity models.

  In Versions were presented at the Psychology and Societal Transformation Conference,

  University of Western Cape, South Africa, Jan 1994, and at a workshop entitled "Helm's

  Racial Identity Theory," Annual Multicultural Winter Roundtable, Teachers College,

  Columbia University, New York, Feb 1994. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Helms, J. E. (1996). Toward a methodology for measuring and assessing racial as distinguished from ethnic identity.
- Hemez, P. (2020). Distributions of age at first marriage, 1960-2018. Family Profiles, FP-20, 9.
- Henley, E. (2014). Sticker Shock: The Rising Cost of College. *Journal of Higher Education Management*, 29(1), 16-21.
- Hernandez, M., Avery, D. R., Volpone, S. D., & Kaiser, C. R. (2019). Bargaining while Black: The role of race in salary negotiations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(4), 581–592.
- Henderson, D. X., Walker, L., Barnes, R. R., Lunsford, A., Edwards, C., & Clark, C. (2019). A Framework for Race-Related Trauma in the Public Education System and Implications on Health for Black Youth. *Journal of School Health*, 89(11), 926–933.
- Hewitt, D. (2021). OP-ED: Police Accountability Efforts Sabotaged in Collapse of George Floyd

  Justice in Policing Act Negotiations. Retrieved from

  https://texasmetronews.com/17268/op-ed-police-accountability-efforts-sabotaged-in-collapse-of-george-floyd-justice-in-policing-act-negotiations/
- Heys, E., Swanbeck, S., & Hawkins, J. (2020). A Generation with Little to Fall Back On: Young Adults and the Social Safety Net During COVID-19.

- Hicks, W. D., Klarner, C. E., McKee, S. C., & Smith, D. A. (2018). Revisiting majority-minority districts and black representation. *Political Research Quarterly*, 71(2), 408-423.
- Hidalgo, B., Marín-García, G., Wu, E., & Hidalgo, A. (2022). Millennials and COVID-19.

  In *COVID-19 Pandemic* (pp. 153-162). Elsevier.
- Hightower, C., & Fraser, J. C. (2020). The Raced–Space of Gentrification: "Reverse Blockbusting," Home Selling, and Neighborhood Remake in North Nashville. *City & Community*, 19(1), 223-244.
- Hing, A. K. (2018). The right to vote, the right to health: voter suppression as a determinant of racial health disparities. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, 12(6), 5.
- Ho, J. (2021). Anti-Asian racism, Black Lives Matter, and COVID-19. In *Japan Forum* (Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 148-159). Routledge.
- Hoffman, B. (2018). Why millennials quit. *Journal of Property Management*, 83(3), 42-45.
- Holmes, A. G. D. (2020). Researcher Positionality–A Consideration of Its Influence and Place in Qualitative Research-A New Researcher Guide. *Shanlax International Journal of Education*, 8(4), 1-10.
- Homan, A. C. (2019). Dealing with diversity in workgroups: Preventing problems and promoting potential. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *13*(5), e12465.
- Hood, S., Hall, M., Dixon, C., Jolly, D., & Linnan, L. (2018). Organizational-Level Recruitment
  Of Barbershops As Health Promotion Intervention Study Sites: Addressing Health
  Disparities Among Black Men. *Health promotion practice*, *19*(3), 377-389.
- Hopkins, D. J., Meredith, M., Morse, M., Smith, S., & Yoder, J. (2017). Voting but for the law:

  Evidence from Virginia on photo identification requirements. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, 14(1), 79-128.

- Howell, S. E., Perry, H. L., & Vile, M. (2004). Black cities/white cities: Evaluating the police. *Political Behavior*, 26(1), 45-68.
- Huber, L. P., Johnson, R. N., & Kohli, R. (2006). Naming racism: A conceptual look at internalized racism in US schools. *Chicano-Latino L. Rev.*, 26, 183.
- Huguley, J. P., Wang, M. T., Vasquez, A. C., & Guo, J. (2019). Parental ethnic–racial socialization practices and the construction of children of color's ethnic–racial identity: A research synthesis and meta-analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, *145*(5), 437.
- Hume, J., & Arceneaux, N. (2008). Public Memory, Cultural Legacy, and Press Coverage of the Juneteenth Revival. *Journalism History*, *34*(3), 155-162.
- Hunt, M. O. (2004). Race/Ethnicity and Beliefs about Wealth and Poverty. *Social Science Quarterly*, 85(3), 827–853.
- Ibrahimi, S., Yusuf, K. K., Dongarwar, D., Maiyegun, S. O., Ikedionwu, C., & Salihu, H. M. (2020). COVID-19 Devastation of African American Families: Impact on Mental Health and the Consequence of Systemic Racism. *International Journal of Maternal and Child Health and AIDS*, 9 (3), 390.
- Ingalls, G. L., Webster, G. R., & Leib, J. I.. (2013). Fifty Years of Political Change in the South:

  Electing African Americans and Women to Public Office. *The University of North*Carolina Press, 37(2), 140–161.
- Ingram, T. (2021). Exploring the Intersectionality of Age, Race, and Gender on the Barriers to

  Career Advancement for African American Millennial Women (Doctoral dissertation,

  Drexel University).
- Isaranon, Y. (2019). The Role of Facebook Affirmation towards Ideal Self-Image and Self-Esteem. *International Journal of Behavioral Science*, 14(1), 46–62.

- Jackson, T. A. (2017). Dilution of the black vote: Revisiting the oppressive methods of voting rights restoration for ex-felons. *University Miami Race & Social Justice Law Review*, 7, 297.
- Janssen, C. (2012). Addressing Corporate Ties to Slavery: Corporate Apologia in a Discourse of Reconciliation. *Communication Studies*, 63(1), 18–35.
- Jefferson, T. (2009). The United States Declaration of Independence (Original and Modernized Capitalization Versions). Wildside Press LLC.
- Jemal, A., Gardiner, M., & Bloeser, K. (2019). Perceived race as variable: moderating relationship between perceived discrimination in the workplace and mentally unhealthy days. *Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities*, 6(2), 265-272.
- Jindal, M., Mistry, K. B., Trent, M., McRae, A., & Thornton, R. L. (2021). Police exposures and the health and well-being of Black youth in the US: a systematic review. *JAMA pediatrics*.
- Johnson, M. E. (2018). The paradox of black patriotism: Double consciousness. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 41(11), 1971-1989.
- Johnson, T. R. (2020, June 10). Theodore R. Johnson. Retrieved from https://www.brennancenter.org/experts/theodore-r-johnson
- Johnson, V. S. (2016). When blackness stings: African and Afro-Caribbean immigrants, race, and racism in late twentieth-century America. *Journal of American Ethnic History*, 36(1), 31-62.
- Johnson, S. C., & Arbona, C. (2006). The relation of ethnic identity, racial identity, and race-related stress among African American college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 47(5), 495-507.

- Jones-Eversley, S., Adedoyin, A. C., Robinson, M. A., & Moore, S. E. (2017). Protesting Black inequality: A commentary on the civil rights movement and Black lives matter. *Journal of Community Practice*, 25(3-4), 309-324.
- Jones, J., Adams Jr, T. C., & Reinke, J. (2009). Addressing the rising cost of college. *Academy for Economics and Economic Education*, 12(2), 17.
- Jones, J. R. (2014, March). The Post-Racial Workplace?. In *Sociological Forum* (Vol. 29, No. 1, pp. 268-274). Wiley, Springer.
- Jones, M. S., Womack, V., Jérémie-Brink, G., & Dickens, D. D. (2021). Gendered Racism and Mental Health among Young Adult US Black Women: The Moderating Roles of Gendered Racial Identity Centrality and Identity Shifting. Sex Roles, 1-11.
- Jones, N., & Jackson, C. (2018). "You Just Don't Go Down There": Learning to Avoid the Ghetto in San Francisco. In *The Ghetto* (pp. 83-109). Routledge.
- Jones, T., Jackson, V., & Ramirez-Mendoza, J. (2020). Borrowing While Black: Understanding What Makes Student Debt a Crisis for Black Students. *Liberal Education*, 106, n1-2.
- Joseph, N., Watson, N. N., Wang, Z., Case, A. D., & Hunter, C. D. (2013). Rules of engagement:

  Predictors of Black Caribbean immigrants' engagement with African American culture.

  Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 19(4), 414.
- Jouet, M. (2019). Mass Incarceration Paradigm Shift?: Convergence in an Age of Divergence. *Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 109(4), 703–768.
- Kane, A., Leedy, T. H., & Leedy, T. H.. (2013). *African Migrations: Patterns and Perspectives*. Indiana University Press.
- Kaplan, H. R. (2011). The myth of post-racial America: Searching for equality in the age of materialism. R&L Education.

- Kaplan, S. (1976). The Domestic Insurrections of the Declaration of Independence. *The Journal of Negro History*, 61(3), 243-255.
- Karageorge, E. (2017). The unexplainable, growing black-white wage gap. Monthly Labor Review, 140, 1.
- Kearl, M. K. (2018). WWMLKD?: Coopting the Rhetorical Legacy of Martin Luther King, Jr. and the Civil Rights Movement. *Journal of Contemporary Rhetoric*, 8(3), 184–199.
- Kemmis, S., & McTaggart, R. (2000). Participatory action research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln, *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 567–605). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Kennedy, J. G. (2004). Poe, Fitzgerald, and the American Nightmare. *The Edgar Allan Poe Review*, 5(2), 4-14.
- Keszei, D., Murphy, K., & Loeur, N. (2018). An Evaluation Of American Millennials Leading Global Teams: A Multidimensional Framework For Planning And Optimizing Success. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 19(1), 10-16.
- Keyssar, A. (2012). Voter Suppression Returns. *Harvard Magazine*.
- Kilgo, D. K., & Harlow, S. (2019). Protests, media coverage, and a hierarchy of social struggle.

  The International Journal of Press and Politics, 24(4), 508-530.
- Kilgo, D. K., & Mourão, R. R. (2021). Protest Coverage Matters: How Media Framing and Visual Communication Affects Support for Black Civil Rights Protests. *Mass* Communication and Society, 1-21.
- Killewald, A., & Bryan, B. (2018). Falling behind: The role of inter-and intragenerational processes in widening racial and ethnic wealth gaps through early and middle adulthood. *Social Forces*, 97(2), 705-740.

- Kincheloe, J. L., & McLaren, P. (2011). Rethinking critical theory and qualitative research.

  In *Key works in critical pedagogy* (pp. 285-326). Brill.
- King Jr, M. L. (1963). Letter from Birmingham City Jail.
- King, M. L. (2000). Why We Can't Wait. Penguin.
- King Jr., M. L. (2018). On Equality. *Atlantic*, 28–29
- Kochhar, R., & Fry, R. (2014). Wealth inequality has widened along racial, ethnic lines since end of Great Recession. *Pew Research Center*, 12(104), 121-145.
- Kochhar, R., Taylor, P., & Fry, R. (2011). Wealth gaps rise to record highs between Whites, Blacks and Hispanics (Vol. 26). Washington, DC: Pew Research Center.
- Koch, J. W. (2019). Racial minorities' trust in government and government decisionmakers. Social Science Quarterly, 100(1), 19-37.
- Kohli, R. (2014). Unpacking internalized racism: Teachers of color striving for racially just classrooms. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *17*(3), 367-387.
- Kraus, M. W., Onyeador, I. N., Daumeyer, N. M., Rucker, J. M., & Richeson, J. A. (2019). The misperception of racial economic inequality. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(6), 899-921.
- Kurz, C. J., Li, G., & Vine, D. J. (2019). Are millennials different?. In *Handbook of US* consumer economics (pp. 193-232). Academic Press.
- LaFree, G., & Drass, K. A. (1996). The effect of changes in intraracial income inequality and educational attainment on changes in arrest rates for African Americans and Whites, 1957 to 1990. *American Sociological Review*, 614-634.
- Lauer, J. (2017). Creditworthy: A History of Consumer Surveillance and Financial Identity in America. Columbia University Press.

- Laurencin, C. T., & Walker, J. M. (2020). Racial profiling is a public health and health disparities issue. *Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities*, 7(3), 393-397.
- Lawrence, M. A. (2018). Racial Justice Demands Truth & Reconciliation. *University of Pittsburgh Law Review*, 80, 69.
- Lee, C. N., & Hopson, M. (2019). Disrupting postracial discourse: Black millennials' response to postracial ideology and the continued impact of racial microaggressions on college campuses. *Southern Communication Journal*, 84(2), 127-139.
- Lee, J. M., Lee, Y. G., & Kim, S. (2019). Loan type and debt delinquency among millennial and non-millennial households. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 47(4), 342-358.
- Lee, K. M., Lindquist, K. A., & Payne, B. K. (2018). Constructing bias: Conceptualization breaks the link between implicit bias and fear of Black Americans. *Emotion*, 18(6), 855–871.
- Leff, M. C., & Utley, E. A. (2004). Instrumental and Constitutive Rhetoric in Martin Luther King Jr.'s" Letter from Birmingham Jail". *Rhetoric & Public Affairs*, 7(1), 37-51.
- Lei, E. V., & Miller, K. D. (1999). Martin Luther King, Jr.'s" I Have a Dream" in Context: Ceremonial Protest and African American Jeremiad. *College English*, 62(1), 83-99.
- Leonhardt, D. (2020). The Black-White Wage Gap Is as Big as It Was in 1950. *New York Times*, 25.
- Leopold, J. & Bell M. P. (2017). News media and the racialization of protest: an analysis of Black Lives Matter articles. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 36(8), 720–735.

- Levenson, A. R. (2010). Millennials and the world of work: An economist's perspective. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 25(2), 257-264.
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).

  Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology:

  Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative psychology*, 4(1), 2.
- Levy, M. (2020). Winning cures everything? Beliefs about voter fraud, voter confidence, and the 2016 election. *Electoral Studies*.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.
- Lorelli, S. N., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis; Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1–13.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2007). Financial literacy and retirement planning: New evidence from the Rand American Life Panel. *Michigan Retirement Research Center Research*, 157.
- Lynch, E. E., Malcoe, L. H., Laurent, S. E., Richardson, J., Mitchell, B. C., & Meier, H. C. (2021). The legacy of structural racism: Associations between historic redlining, current mortgage lending, and health. *SSM-population health*, *14*.
- Mabasa, M. A. (2020). Infusing Ubuntu as a principle towards improving social development: A social work perspective. International Conference on Public Administration and Development Alternative (IPADA).
- Mabragana, M., Carballo-Dieguez, A., & Giguere, R. (2013). Young women's experience with using videoconferencing for the assessment of sexual behavior and microbicide use.

  \*Telemedicine Journal and E-Health, 19(11), 866-871

- Macedo, D. L. (2021). What Kind of Justice Is This? Overbroad Judicial Discretion and Implicit Bias in the American Criminal Justice System. *J. Gender Race & Just.*, 24, 43.
- Madriaga, M. (2005). The star-spangled banner, US military veterans and the category of whiteness.
- Magubane, N. N. (2017). *Black tax: The emerging middle class reality* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria).
- Mahato, K. (2019). Does My Vote Count? Analyzing the Motivations of American Voters and the Obstacles They Face.
- Mahler, S. J. (1995). *American dreaming: Immigrant life on the margins*. Princeton University Press.
- Manning, M. C., Jr. (1998). The relationship between racial identity and self-esteem among African Americans. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 58 (9-A).
- Manning, W. D., Brown, S. L., & Payne, K. K. (2014). Two decades of stability and change in age at first union formation. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 76(2), 247-260.
- Manza, J., Brooks, C., & Uggen, C. (2004). Public attitudes toward felon disenfranchisement in the United States. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 68(2), 275-286.
- Manza, J., & Uggen, C. (2004). Punishment and democracy: Disenfranchisement of nonincarcerated felons in the United States. *Perspectives on Politics*, 2(3), 491-505.
- Marmot, M. (2007). Achieving health equity: From root causes to fair outcomes. *The Lancet*, 370(9593), 1153–1163.
- Marmot, M. G. (2003). Understanding social inequalities in health. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 46(3), S9–S23.
- Martin, E. P., & Martin, J. M. (2002). Spirituality and the Black helping tradition in social work.

- Matthews, J. (2021). Social Security, Medicare & Government Pensions: Get the Most Out of Your Retirement and Medical Benefits.
- Matthews, N. (2018). Millennial Voting Patterns in a Politically Polarized America.
- Mazumder, S. "The persistent effect of US civil rights protests on political attitudes." *American Journal of Political Science* 62.4 (2018): 922-935.
- McAllum, K. (2016). Managing imposter syndrome among the "Trophy Kids": Creating teaching practices that develop independence in millennial students. *Communication Education*, 65(3), 363-365.
- McIntosh, K., Moss, E., Nunn, R., & Shambaugh, J. (2020). Examining the Black-white wealth gap. *Washington DC: Brooking Institutes*.
- McCabe, B. J. (2018). Why buy a home? Race, ethnicity, and homeownership preferences in the United States. *Sociology of Race and Ethnicity*, 4(4), 452-472.
- McClelland, P. D., & Tobin, P. H. (2010). American dream dying: the changing economic lot of the least advantaged. Rowman & Littlefield.
- McCoy, A. (2019). An Intragenerational Examination of Millennials' Perceptions Concerning

  Diversity and Inclusion Programming within the Workplace (Doctoral dissertation, The

  Chicago School of Professional Psychology).
- McLemore, M. R., Berkowitz, R. L., Oltman, S. P., Baer, R. J., Franck, L., Fuchs, J., & Jelliffe-Pawlowski, L. L. (2021). Risk and protective factors for preterm birth among black women in Oakland, California. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 8(5), 1273-1280.

- McLeod, M. N., Heller, D., Manze, M. G., & Echeverria, S. E. (2020). Police interactions and the mental health of Black Americans: a systematic review. *Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities*, 7(1), 10-27.
- McNutt, B. R. (2021). Addressing Racial & Ethnic Bias in the Workplace. *Journal of Employee Assistance*.
- Means, B. (2016). Wealth Inequality and Family Businesses. *Emory Law Journal*, 65(4), 937–986.
- Medenica, V. E. (2018). Millennials and Race in the 2016 Election. *Journal of Race, Ethnicity,* and Politics, 3(1), 55-76.
- Mehlhorn, D. 1998. "A Requiem for Blockbusting: Law, Economics, and Race–Based Real Estate Speculation." *Fordham Law Review*, 67(3):1145–61.
- Mhlongo, N. (2019). Black tax: Burden or ubuntu?. Jonathan Ball Publishers.
- Miles, L. A. (2020). A Systematic Review on the Impact of Slavery: 400 Years of Trauma (Doctoral dissertation, California Southern University).
- Milkman, R. (2017). A new political generation: Millennials and the post-2008 wave of protest.

  \*American Sociological Review\*, 82(1), 1-31.
- Millett, G. A., Jones, A. T., Benkeser, D., Baral, S., Mercer, L., Beyrer, C., & Sullivan, P. S. (2020). Assessing differential impacts of COVID-19 on black communities. *Annals of epidemiology*, 47, 37-44.
- Milliones, J. (1980). Construction of a Black consciousness measure: Psychotherapeutic implications. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 17, 175-182.
- Mills, J., & Birks, M. (2014). Qualitative methodology: A practical guide. Sage.

- Mitchell, J. (2021). *The Debt Trap: How Student Loans Became a National Catastrophe*. Simon and Schuster.
- Mitchell, M. N. (2020). 'We always knew it was possible' The long fight against symbols of white supremacy in New Orleans. *City*, 24(3-4), 580-593.
- Mlondo, N. (2022). Umuntu Ngumuntu Ngabantu (a Person is a Person Because of/or Through Others) and the Notion of Inclusive Education. In *Handbook of Research on Creating Spaces for African Epistemologies in the Inclusive Education Discourse* (pp. 1-13). IGI Global.
- Molina, K. M., & James, D. (2016). Discrimination, internalized racism, and depression: A comparative study of African American and Afro-Caribbean adults in the US. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 19(4), 439-461.
- Monkkonen, E. H. (1992). History of urban police. Crime and justice, 15, 547-580.
- Morley, J., & Schwarz, J. (2016). More Proof the U.S. National Anthem Has Always Been

  Tainted With Racism. Retrieved from https://theintercept.com/2016/09/13/more-proofthe-u-s-national-anthem-has-always-been-tainted-with-racism/
- Morrow, S. L. (2005) "Quality and Trustworthness in Qualitative Research in Counseling Psychology," *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 25, 2, 250 260.
- Moses, J. O., Villodas, M. T., & Villodas, F. (2020). Black and proud: The role of ethnic-racial identity in the development of future expectations among at-risk adolescents. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 26(1), 112–123.
- Mottola, G. R. (2014). The financial capability of young adults—A generational view. *FINRA Foundation Financial Capability Insights*, 1-12.

- Mountain, T. P., Cao, X., Kim, N., & Gutter, M. S. (2020). Millennials' future homeownership and the role of student loan debt. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 49(1), 5-23.
- Mouzon, D. M., & McLean, J. S. (2017). Internalized racism and mental health among African-Americans, US-born Caribbean Blacks, and foreign-born Caribbean Blacks. *Ethnicity & Health*, 22(1), 36-48.
- Morrow, S. L., & Smith, M. L. (2000). Qualitative Research for Counseling Psychology. Handbook of Counseling Psychology (199-230).
- Munnell, A. H., & Rutledge, M. S. (2013). The effects of the Great Recession on the retirement security of older workers. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 650(1), 124-142.
- Munsch, A., & Mariola, E. (2021). Approaching Student Loan Crisis: Managing Adverse Effects. In *20th International Business and Economy Conference January*, 4-8, 202.
- Mukherjee, E. (2009). Abolishing the time tax on voting. *Notre Dame Law Review*, 85, 177.
- Mwangi, C. A. G., Thelamour, B., Ezeofor, I., & Carpenter, A. (2018). "Black elephant in the room": Black students contextualizing campus racial climate within US racial climate. *Journal of College Student Development*, 59(4), 456-474.
- Myers, D. (2016). Peak millennials: Three reinforcing cycles that amplify the rise and fall of urban concentration by millennials. *Housing Policy Debate*, 26(6), 928-947.
- Myers, D., Lee, H., & Simmons, P. A. (2020). Cohort insights into recovery of Millennial homeownership after the Great Recession. *Journal of Housing Economics*, 47.
- Nam, Y. (2020). Parents' financial assistance for college and black-white disparities in post-secondary educational attainment. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 110.

- Nam, Y. (2021). Parents' financial assistance for college and black-white wealth disparity. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 128.
- National Association for the Advancement of Colored People. (2021). Criminal Justice Fact Sheet.
- Retrieved from: http://www.naacp.org/criminal-justice-fact-sheet/
- Nelson, J. (2019). Psychodynamics and their associated myths and fantasies in the contemporary American right wing. *International Journal of Applied Psychoanalytic Studies*, *16*(4), 229-243.
- Neville, H. A., & Cross Jr, W. E. (2017). Racial awakening: Epiphanies and encounters in Black racial identity. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 23(1), 102.
- New Strategist Publications, Inc. (2018). *American Generations: Who They Are and How They Live*. New Strategist Publications Incorporated.
- New Strategist Publications, Inc. (2015). *American attitudes: Who thinks what about the issues that shape our lives*. New Strategist Publications Incorporated.
- Nguyen, T. T., Criss, S., Michaels, E. K., Cross, R. I., Michaels, J. S., Dwivedi, P., & Gee, G. C. (2021). Progress and push-back: How the killings of Ahmaud Arbery, Breonna Taylor, and George Floyd impacted public discourse on race and racism on Twitter. *SSM-Population Health*, 15.
- Nieman, D. G. (2020). Promises to keep: African Americans and the constitutional order, 1776 to the present. Oxford University Press.
- Nordberg, A., & Meshesha, B. T. (2019). African Diasporan Experiences of US Police Violence:

  An Exploration of Identity and Counter-Narratives. *The British Journal of Social*Work, 49(3), 704-721.

- Norris, P., Garnett, H. A., & Grömping, M. (2020). The paranoid style of American elections: explaining perceptions of electoral integrity in an age of populism. *Journal of Elections, Public Opinion and Parties*, 30(1), 105-125.
- Nowotny, K. M., & Kuptsevych-Timmer, A. (2018). Health and justice: framing incarceration as a social determinant of health for Black men in the United States. *Sociology Compass*, 12(3).
- Nunn, N. (2008). The long-term effects of Africa's slave trades. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 123(1), 139-176.
- Oachs, E. R. (2016). The Rising Cost of Education. ABDO.
- Obinna, D. N. (2021). Essential and undervalued: health disparities of African American women in the COVID-19 era. *Ethnicity & Health*, 26(1), 68-79.
- O'Brien, K. R., McAbee, S. T., Hebl, M. R., & Rodgers, J. R. (2016). The impact of interpersonal discrimination and stress on health and performance for early career STEM academicians. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 615.
- Obuah, E. E. (2016). The politics of reparations: the academic epistemic communities and the implications of reparation debate on African-American and Africa's quest for reparations.

  \*Journal of Pan African Studies\*, 9(5), 35.
- O'Connell, H. A. (2012). The impact of slavery on racial inequality in poverty in the contemporary US South. *Social Forces*, *90*(3), 713-734.
- O'Connor, C. M., Anoushiravani, A. A., DiCaprio, M. R., Healy, W. L., & Iorio, R. (2020).

  Economic recovery after the COVID-19 pandemic: resuming elective orthopedic surgery and total joint arthroplasty. *The Journal of arthroplasty*, 35(7), S32-S36.

- Odafe, M. O., Salami, T. K., & Walker, R. L. (2017). Race-related stress and hopelessness in community-based African American adults: Moderating role of social support. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 23(4), 561.
- Opie, T. & Roberts, L. M. (2017). Do black lives really matter in the workplace? Restorative justice as a means to reclaim humanity. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal*, 36(8), 707–719.
- Oribhabor, G. I., Nelson, M. L., Buchanan-Peart, K. A. R., & Cancarevic, I. (2020). A Mother's Cry: A Race to Eliminate the Influence of Racial Disparities on Maternal Morbidity and Mortality Rates Among Black Women in America. *Cureus*, *12*(7).
- Orser, W. E. (2015). Blockbusting in Baltimore The Edmondson Village Story. *Lexington: The University Press of Kentucky*.
- Orser, W. E. (2019). Blockbusting. *The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Urban and Regional Studies*, 1-3.
- Paradies, Y., Williams, D. R., Heggenhougen, K., & Quah, S. (2008). Racism and health.

  International Encyclopedia of Public Health, 5, 474–483
- Parson, E. E., & McLaughlin, M. (2007). The persistence of racial bias in voting: Voter ID, the new battleground for pretextual race neutrality. *Journal of Law in Society*, 8, 75.
- Patten, E., & Fry, R. (2015). How millennials today compare with their grandparents 50 years ago. *Pew Research Center*, 19.
- Paxton, P. (2005). Trust in decline?. *Contexts*, 4(1), 40-46.
- Payne, K. K. (2019). Median age at first marriage, 2017. Family Profiles, FP-19-06. *Bowling Green, OH: National Center for Family & Marriage*.

- Pearcy, M. (2020). "The Most Insidious Legacy"-Teaching about Redlining and the Impact of Racial Residential Segregation. *Geography Teacher*, 17(2), 44–55.
- Peek, M. E., Simons, R. A., Parker, W. F., Ansell, D. A., Rogers, S. O., & Edmonds, B. T.(2021). COVID-19 among African Americans: an action plan for mitigating disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 111(2), 286-292.
- Pena, V. (2017). Taking a stand by kneeling: An analysis of national anthem protest coverage.
- Perez, J. A. (2021). Rioting by a Different Name: The Voice of the Unheard in the Age of George Floyd, and the History of the Laws, Policies, and Legislation of Systemic Racism. *J. Gender Race & Just.*, 24, 87.
- Perry, R. J. (2007). *Race and racism: The Development Of Modern Racism In America*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Petersen, A. H. (2020). Can't Even: How Millennials Became the Burnout Generation. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Pettigrew, S. (2017). The racial gap in wait times: why minority precincts are underserved by local election officials. *Political Science Quarterly*, 132(3), 527-547.
- Pettit, B. (2012). *Invisible men: Mass incarceration and the myth of black progress*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Phillips, A. J., & Deckard, N. (2016). Felon disenfranchisement laws and the feedback loop of political exclusion: The case of Florida. *Journal of African American Studies*, 20(1), 1-18.
- Philogène, G. (2000). Blacks as 'serviceable other'. *Journal of community & applied social psychology*, 10(5), 391-401.

- Pierce, C. (1974). Psychiatric problems of the Black minority. In S. Arieti (Ed.), *American handbook of psychiatry* (pp. 512–523). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Pierre, J. (2004). Black Immigrants in the United States and the "Cultural Narratives" of Ethnicity. *Identities*, 11(2),141–170.
- Pitcan, M., Park, T. J., & Hayslett, J. (2018). Black men and racial microaggressions at work.

  The Career Development Quarterly, 66(4), 300–314.
- Pizarro Milian, R., Zarifa, D., & Seward, B. (2021). Paying back student loans: Demographic, human capital and other correlates of default and repayment difficulty. *Higher Education Ouarterly*, 75(1), 77-97.
- Polk, W., Hill, N. E., Price, M., Liang, B., Perella, J., & Savitz-Romer, M. (2020). Adolescent profiles of marginalization and connection at school: Relations with academics and mental health. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *30*, 209-225.
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2005). Qualitative research in counseling psychology: A primer on research paradigms and philosophy of science. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2):126-136.
- Potter, G. (2013). The History of Policing in the United States. *Eastern Kentucky University Police Studies Online*.
- Poulson, M., Neufeld, M. Y., Dechert, T., Allee, L., & Kenzik, K. M. (2021). Historic redlining, structural racism, and firearm violence: A structural equation modeling approach. *The Lancet Regional Health-Americas*.
- Powell, R. (2021). Redlining, Neighborhood Decline, and Violence: How Discriminatory

  Government Policies Created Violent American Inner Cities (Doctoral dissertation, City

  University of New York).

- Powell, W., Richmond, J., Mohottige, D., Yen, I., Joslyn, A., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2019).

  Medical mistrust, racism, and delays in preventive health screening among AfricanAmerican men. *Behavioral Medicine*, 45(2), 102-117.
- Powers, B. W., White, A. A., Oriol, N. E., & Jain, S. H. (2016). Race-conscious professionalism and African American representation in academic medicine. *Academic Medicine*, *91*(7), 913-915.
- Prager, J. (2017). Do black lives matter? A psychoanalytic exploration of racism and American resistance to reparations. *Political psychology*, *38*(4), 637-651.
- Pryce, D. K., & Gainey, R. (2021). Race Differences in Public Satisfaction With And Trust In

  The Local Police In The Context Of George Floyd Protests: An Analysis Of Residents'

  Experiences And Attitudes. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 1-19.
- Pulido, L., Bruno, T., Faiver-Serna, C., & Galentine, C. (2019). Environmental deregulation, spectacular racism, and white nationalism in the Trump era. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, 109(2), 520-532.
- Pullen, L. C. (2020). Pandemic-related unemployment impacts transplant in the US.
- Purcell, E. A., Jr. (2014). Section I: Remembering the Dream, Renewing the Dream: Celebrating the 50th Anniversary of Dr. Martin Luther King's "I Have a Dream" Speech and the March on Washington Reflections on the Fiftieth Anniversary of the March and the Speech: History, Memory, Values. *New York Law School Law Review*, 59(1), 17–58.
- Pyke, K. D. (2010). What is internalized racial oppression and why don't we study it?

  Acknowledging racism's hidden injuries. *Sociological perspectives*, 53(4), 551-572.
- Rappaport, A. M., & Stone, M. (2019). Financial Challenges for Millennials: How Do They Compare With Other Generations?. *Benefits Quarterly*, 35(4), 18-6.

- Quinn, J. (2010). Work, retirement, and the encore career: Elders and the future of the American workforce. *Generations*, 34(3), 45-55.
- Razzano, M. J. (2020). Unequal Access: How Debt Exacerbates Inequality in Education Financing. *California Law Review Online*, 11, 55.
- Redbird, B., & Albrecht, K. (2020). Racial Disparity in Arrests Increased as Crime Rates Declined. *CrimRxiv*.
- Reddi, M., Kuo, R., & Kreiss, D. (2021). Identity propaganda: Racial narratives and disinformation. *New Media & Society*.
- Reny, T. T., & Barreto, M. A. (2020). Xenophobia in the time of pandemic: othering, anti-Asian attitudes, and COVID-19. *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, 1-24.
- Richie, B. S., Fassinger, R. E., Linn, S. G., Johnson, J., Prosser, J., & Robinson, S. (1997).
  Persistence, connection, and passion: A qualitative study of the career development of highly achieving African American–Black and White women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 44(2), 133.
- Richie, J. A. (2020). He Rode Alone: Francis Scott Key as an Advocate for Freedom.
- Rinz, K. (2019). Did Timing Matter?: Life Cycle Differences in Effects of Exposure to the Great Recession. US Census Bureau, Center for Economic Studies.
- Roberts, S. O., & Rizzo, M. T. (2021). The Psychology of American Racism. *American Psychologist*, 76(3), 475.
- Rogowski, J. C., & Cohen, C. J. (2015). Black millennials in America: Documenting the experiences, voices and political future of young Black Americans. *Black Youth Project—University of Chicago*.

- Rosenblatt, P. C., & Wallace, B. R. (2005). Narratives of grieving African-Americans about racism in the lives of deceased family members. *Death studies*, 29(3), 217-235.
- Ross, A. D., Rouse, S. M., & Mobley, W. (2019). Polarization of climate change beliefs: the role of the millennial generation identity. *Social Science Quarterly*, 100(7), 2625-2640.
- Ross, B. L. (2019). Passive Voter Suppression: Campaign Mobilization and the Effective Disfranchisement of the Poor. *Northwestern University Law Review*, *114*, 633.
- Rothstein, R. (2017). The color of law: A forgotten history of how our government segregated America. Liveright Publishing.
- Rotimi, C. N., Tekola-Ayele, F., Baker, J. L., & Shriner, D. (2016). The African Diaspora:

  History, Adaptation And Health. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, 41, 77-84.
- Rouse, S. M., & Ross, A. D. (2018). The politics of millennials: Political beliefs and policy preferences of America's most diverse generation. University of Michigan Press.
- Rubenstein, E. S. (2017). How Millennials Are Slowing US Population Growth and Enhancing Sustainability. *Negative Population Growth*.
- Rubin, B. A. (2014). Employment insecurity and the frayed American dream. *Sociology Compass*, 8(9), 1083-1099.
- Ruby, M. (2020). Tokenism. In *Encyclopedia of Critical Whiteness Studies in Education* (pp. 675-680). Brill Sense.
- Ruetschlin, C., & Asante-Muhammad, D. (2013). The challenge of credit card debt for the African American middle class. *Demos and NAACP*, *December*.
- Rutledge, M. S., Gillis, C., & Webb, A. (2015). Will the average retirement age continue to increase? *Boston College Center for Retirement Research Working Paper*, (2015 2016).

- Ryabov, I. (2020). Intergenerational transmission of socio-economic status: The role of neighborhood effects. *Journal of adolescence*, 80, 84-97.
- Salazar, L., Garcia, N., Diego-Medrano, E., & Castillo, Y. (2019). Personal and Professional Challenges of Millennial Faculty. *Leading Millennial Faculty: Navigating the New Professoriate*, 101.
- Samayeen, N., Wong, A., & McCarthy, C. (2020). Space To Breathe: George Floyd, BLM Plaza And The Monumentalization Of Divided American Urban Landscapes.
- Samuel, L. J., Gaskin, D. J., Antonio, J. T., Szanton, S. L., Samuel, A., & Slade, E. (2021). Race, ethnicity, poverty and the social determinants of the coronavirus divide: US county-level disparities and risk factors. *BMC public health*, 21(1), 1-11.
- Sanchez, D., Bentley, E. K. L., Matthews, J. S., & Granillo, T. (2016). Exploring Divergent Patterns in Racial Identity Profiles Between Caribbean Black American and African American Adolescents: The Links to Perceived Discrimination and Psychological Concerns. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling & Development*, 44(4), 285–304.
- Scally, J. (2018). Quarterly report on household debt and credit. *New York: Federal Reserve Bank of New York*.
- Schedler, G. (1998). Racist Symbols and Reparations: Philosophical Reflections on Vestiges of the American Civil War. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Schedler, G. (2001). Are Confederate monuments racist?. *International Journal of Applied Philosophy*, 15(2), 287-308.
- Schedler, G. (2007). Should There Be an Apology for American Slavery? *Public Affairs Quarterly*, 21(2):125-148.

- Schildkraut, D. J., & Marotta, S. A. (2018). Assessing the political distinctiveness of White millennials: How race and generation shape racial and political attitudes in a changing America. *The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 4(5), 158-187.
- Schmidt, S. L. (2005). More than men in white sheets: Seven concepts critical to the teaching of racism as systemic inequality. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 38(2), 110-122.
- Schiele, J. H. (2005). Cultural Oppression and the High-Risk Status of African Americans. *Journal of Black Studies*, *35*(6), 802–826.
- Schweyer, A., Whillans, A., & Bryant, P. (2020). Time Versus Money and the American Dream. SAGE Publications, 52(2), 31-33.
- Schwarz, J. (2016). Colin Kaepernick Is Righter Than You Know: The National Anthem Is a Celebration of Slavery. Retrieved from https://theintercept.com/2016/08/28/colin-kaepernick-is-righter-than-you-know-the-national-anthem-is-a-celebration-ofavery/
- Scott-Clayton, J. (2012). What explains trends in labor supply among US undergraduates?. *National Tax Journal*, 65(1), 181-210.
- Seaton, E. K., Yip, T., & Sellers, R. M. (2009). A longitudinal examination of racial identity and racial discrimination among African American adolescents. *Child development*, 80(2), 406-417.
- Seider, S., Clark, S., Graves, D., Kelly, L. L., Soutter, M., El-Amin, A., & Jennett, P. (2019).

  Black and Latinx adolescents' developing beliefs about poverty and associations with their awareness of racism. *Developmental psychology*, 55(3), 509.
- Seamster, L. (2019). Black debt, white debt. Contexts, 18(1), 30-35.

- Sellers, R. M., Smith, M. A., Shelton, J. N., Rowley, S. A. J., & Chavous, T. M. (1998).
  Multidimensional Model of Racial Identity: A reconceptualization of African American racial identity. *Personality & Social Psychology Review*, 2, 18 –39.
- Sellers, S. L., Neighbors, H. W., & Bonham, V. L. (2011). Goal-striving stress and the mental health of college-educated Black American Men: The protective effects of systemblame. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 81(4), 507–518.
- Sherwood, A. R. (2020). *Differences in Financial Literacy Across Generations* (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Shoenfeld, S. J. (2018). "Blockbusting" And Racial Turnover in Mid-Century Dc. Washington History.
- Shrikant, N., & Sambaraju, R. (2021). 'A police officer shot a Black man': Racial categorization, racism, and mundane culpability in news reports of police shootings of black people in the United States of America. *The British journal of social psychology*, 60(4), 1196-1217.
- Sikolia, D., Biros, D., Mason, M., & Weiser, M. (2013). Trustworthiness of grounded theory methodology research in information systems.
- Simons, R. L., Lei, M. K., Klopack, E., Beach, S. R., Gibbons, F. X., & Philibert, R. A. (2021).

  The effects of social adversity, discrimination, and health risk behaviors on the accelerated aging of African Americans: further support for the weathering hypothesis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 282, 113169.
- Sinclair, B., Smith, S. S., & Tucker, P. D. (2018). "It's largely a rigged system": voter confidence and the winner effect in 2016. *Political Research Quarterly*, 71(4), 854-868.
- Singh, N. (2021). Understanding the Black-White Wealth Gap in the United States. *University of California, Santa Cruz*.

- Sinha, J. W. (2016). Millennials and Social Capital: Explorations in Re-inventing the American Dream. In *Social capital and community well-being* (pp. 13-31). Springer, Cham.
- Smiley, C., & Fakunle, D. (2016). From "brute" to "thug:" The demonization and criminalization of unarmed Black male victims in America. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 26(3–4), 350–366.
- Smith, C. O., Levine, D. W., Smith, E. P., Dumas, J., & Prinz, R. J. (2009). A developmental perspective of the relationship of racial—ethnic identity to self-construct, achievement, and behavior in African American children. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 15(2), 145–157.
- Smith, J., Blevins, B., Werse, N. R., & Talbert, S. (2021). Researcher Positionality in the Dissertation in Practice. In *Practice-Based and Practice-Led Research for Dissertation* Development (pp. 43-63). IGI Global.
- Smith Lee, J. R., & Robinson, M. A. (2019). "That's my number one fear in life. It's the police": Examining young Black men's exposures to trauma and loss resulting from police violence and police killings. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 45(3), 143-184.
- Smith, S. S. (2010). Race and trust. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 36, 453-475.
- Smock, P. J., & Schwartz, C. R. (2020). The demography of families: A review of patterns and change. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(1), 9-34.
- Sonmez, F., & DeBonis, M. (2021). No deal on bill to overhaul policing in aftermath of protests over killing of Black Americans. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/powerpost/policing-george-floyd-congress-legislation/2021/09/22/36324a34-1bc9-11ec-a99a-5fea2b2da34b\_story.html

- Sontag, F. (1981). The Religious Origins of the American Dream. *American Journal of Theology* & *Philosophy*, 67-78.
- Speight, S. L. (2007). Internalized racism: One more piece of the puzzle. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 35(1), 126-134.
  Spencer, M. H. (2021). The Lynching of George Floyd: Black Theology, Protest, and Racial Justice. *Mitchell Hamline Law Review*, 47(3), 3.
- Steffy, K. (2016). *Employment, morality, and millennial variations on the American dream* (Doctoral dissertation, Indiana University).
- Stern, S. (2021). "Separate, Therefore Equal": American Spatial Segregation from Jim Crow to Kiryas Joel. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 7(1), 67-90.
- Stevenson, B. (2019). Slavery gave America a fear of black people and a taste for violent punishment. Both still define our criminal-justice system. *The New York Times*, *1619*.
- Stevenson Jr, H. C. (1995). Relationship of adolescent perceptions of racial socialization to racial identity. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 21(1), 49-70.
- Stewart, M. M., Crary, M., & Humberd, B. K. (2008). Teaching value in diversity: On the folly of espousing inclusion, while practicing exclusion. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 7(3), 374–386.
- Stinson, D. (2011). "When the 'Burden of Acting White' is Not a Burden: School Success of African American Male Students." *The Urban Review*, 43 (1): 43–65.
- Stiuliuc, D. (2011). The American dream as the cultural expression of North American identity. *Philologica Jassyensia*, 7(2 (14)), 363-370.

- Stock, J. H., & Watson, M. W. (2012). Disentangling the Channels of the 2007-2009 Recession.

  National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Stone-Mediatore, S. (2019). How America disguises its violence: colonialism, mass incarceration, and the need for resistant imagination. *Critical Review of International Social & Political Philosophy*, 22(5), 542–561.
- Struckell, E. M. (2019). Millennials: A Generation of Un-Entrepreneurs. *Journal of Business Diversity*, 19(2).
- Sue, D. W., Capodilupo, C. M., Torino, G. C., Bucceri, J. M., Holder, A. M. B., Nadal, K. L., & Esquilin, M. (2007). Racial microaggressions in everyday life: Implications for clinical practice. *American Psychologist*, 62, 271–286.
- Sweeney, L. H., Benge, M., & Carter, H. (2019). Engaging Millennials in the Workplace. *EDIS*, 2019(1).
- Sweeney, R. (2006). Millennial behaviors and demographics. *Newark: New Jersey Institute of Technology*, 12(3), 10.
- Szymanski, D. M., & Lewis, J. A. (2015). Race-related stress and racial identity as predictors of African American activism. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 41(2), 170-191.
- Tamali, A. (2021). Post-Racial Conservatism: an Analysis of Racial Disparities in the Criminal Justice System (Doctoral dissertation, Howard University).
- Tamir, C., & Anderson, M. (2022). One-in-ten black people living in the US are immigrants.
- Tanne, J. H. (2021). Texas's new abortion law is an attack on medical practice and women's rights, say doctors. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research ed.*), *374*.
- Tang, F., Choi, E., & Goode, R. (2013). Older Americans employment and retirement. *Ageing International*, 38(1), 82-94.

- Taylor, C. A. (2002). Juneteenth: A celebration of freedom. Open Hand Publishing, LLC.
- Taylor, L. (2020a). Macroeconomic inequality from Reagan to Trump: Market power, wage repression, asset price inflation, and industrial decline. Cambridge University Press.
- Taylor, P., Fry, R., & Oates, R. (2014). The rising cost of not going to college. *Pew Research Center*.
- Taylor, P., Funk, C., & Clark, A. (2007). Americans and social trust: Who, where and why. *A Social Trends Report*, 1-10.
- Taylor, T. (2019). James Truslow Adams and the origins of "The American Dream". St. Paul: *Newstex*.
- Teal, J. J. (2020). Risk of Recession and Debts of Millennial College Students.
- Thomas, C. W. Boys No More. Beverly Hills: Glencoe Press, 1971.
- Thornton, M. C., Taylor, R. J., Chatters, L. M., & Forsythe-Brown, I. (2017). African American and Black Caribbean feelings of closeness to Africans. *Identities*, 24(4), 493-512.
- Threlfall, J. M. (2018). Parenting in the shadow of Ferguson: Racial socialization practices in context. *Youth & Society*, 50(2), 255-273.
- Timmerman, T. (2020). A case for removing confederate monuments.
- Torpey, J. (2019). Towards a More Perfect Union: An Approach to Rectifying White-Black
  Racial Inequality in American Life. *Tulane Journal of International and Comparative*Law, 28, 41.
- Towler, C. C., Crawford, N. N., & Bennett III, R. A. (2020). Shut Up and Play: Black Athletes, Protest Politics, and Black Political Action. *Perspectives on Politics*, 18(1), 111–127.
- Trinkner, R., Kerrison, E. M., & Goff, P. A. (2019). The force of fear: Police stereotype threat, self-legitimacy, and support for excessive force. *Law and human behavior*, *43*(5), 421.

- Trotter, J. W. (1995). Reflections on the African American experience, social history, and the resurgence of conservatism in American society. *Journal of Social History*, 29, 85-90.
- Troyer, C. (2021). Suppressing the Black Male Vote: Ronald Reagan and the War on Drugs.
- Uchida, C. D. (1993). The development of the American police: An historical overview. *Critical issues in policing*, 16-32.
- Urban Institute. (2017). Nine charts about wealth inequality in America. Retrieved from http://urbn.is/wealthcharts
- U. S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. (n.d.). African-Americans in the American Workforce. Retrieved from https://www.eeoc.gov/special-report/african-americans-american-workforce
- U. S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. (2015). EEOC Releases Fiscal Year 2014 Enforcement and Litigation Data. Retrieved from https://www.eeoc.gov/newsroom/eeoc-releases-fiscal-year-2014-enforcement-and-litigation-data
- Vandiver, B. J., Cross, W. E., Jr., Worrell, F. C., & Fhagen-Smith, P. E. (2002). Validating the Cross Racial Identity Scale. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 49, 71–85.
- Venetis, P. M. (2019). Opposition to Voting by Mail Is a Form of Voter Suppression That Disproportionately Impacts Communities of Color. *Rutgers UL Rev.*, 72, 1387.
- Vermeulen, K. (2021). Generation Disaster: Coming of Age Post-9/11. Oxford University Press.
- Voigt, R., Camp, N. P., Prabhakaran, V., Hamilton, W. L., Hetey, R. C., Griffiths, C. M., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2017). Language from police body camera footage shows racial disparities in officer respect. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(25), 6521-6526.

- Waldrop, J. S., & Grawich, M. (2011). Millennials-Who are they, really. *Organizational Health Initiative*, 1-3.
- Wallerstein, N. (2002). Empowerment to reduce health disparities. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 30(59), 72–77
- Walker, H., Sanchez, G., Nuño, S., & Barreto, M. (2018). Race and the Right to Vote: The Modern Barrier of Voter ID Laws. *Changing How America Votes*, 26-37.
- Walker, L. (2021). Message from the President, June 18, 2021.
- Wamble, J. J., & Laird, C. N. (2020). The power of post-racial: an exploration of post-racial rhetoric's influence on candidate evaluations. *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, 8(3), 515-534.
- Wang, T. (2012). *The politics of voter suppression*. Cornell University Press.
- Ward, B. (2011). "I want my country back, I want my dream back": Barack Obama and the appeal of postracial fictions: Barack Obama, Martin Luther King, Abraham Lincoln, and the Romantic Appeal of Postracial Fictions. In *Freedom Rights: New Perspectives on the Civil Rights Movement/Freedom Rights: New Perspectives on the Civil Rights Movement*. (pp. 329-364). University Press of Kentucky.
- Warren, D. M. (2013). Color-blind racism in post-Obama America: An examination of attitudes toward Hurricane Katrina evacuees in Houston, Texas. *Race and Social Problems*, *5*(3), 213-225.
- Watson, S. (2015). Alabama's DMV Shutdown Has Everything to Do With Race. Retrieved from https://www.aclu.org/blog/voting-rights/voting-rights-act/alabamas-dmv-shutdown-has-everything-do-race

- Watts, D. A. (2018, November). Police Violence, Political Participation, and African American Millennials. In 2019 National Conference of Black Political Scientists (NCOBPS) Annual Meeting.
- Weinbaum, C., Girven, R. S., & Oberholtzer, J. (2016). *The millennial generation: Implications* for the intelligence and policy communities. Rand Corporation.
- Welbeck, K. (2020). Race: Examining Legal Remedies for Disparate Student Debt Outcomes. *Consumer Finance Law Quarterly Report*.
- Welburn, J. S. (2016). Dual Consciousness, Social Mobility, and the Experiences of Middle-Income African Americans in the Post-Civil Rights Era. *Journal of African American Studies*, 20(2), 202-227.
- Weyeneth, R. R. (2001). The power of apology and the process of historical reconciliation. *The Public Historian*, 23(3), 9-38.
- Wijegoonawardana, N. (2021). Fall of Monuments as a Tool for Social Change. *Colombo Journal of Multi-Disciplinary Research*, 6(1).
- Wilkes, R., & Wu, C. (2018). Trust and minority groups. *The Oxford Handbook of Social and Political Trust*, 231.
- Wilkins, E. J., Whiting, J. B., Watson, M. F., Russon, J. M., & Moncrief, A. M. (2013). Residual effects of slavery: What clinicians need to know. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, *35*, 14-28.
- Williams, D. R. (2018). Stress and the mental health of populations of color: Advancing our understanding of race-related stressors. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 59(4), 466-485.

- Williams, D. R., & Mohammed, S. A. (2009). Discrimination and racial disparities in health: evidence and needed research. *Journal of behavioral medicine*, 32(1), 20-47.
- Williams, H. A. (2012). *Help me to find my people: The African American search for family lost in slavery*. Univ of North Carolina Press.
- Williams, J. A., Logan, T. D., & Hardy, B. L. (2021). The persistence of historical racial violence and political suppression: Implications for contemporary regional inequality. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 694(1), 92-107.
- Williams, L. (2008). African American Homeownership and the Dream Deferred: A Disparate Impact Argument Against the Use of Credit Scores in Homeownership Insurance Underwriting. *Conn. Ins. LJ*, *15*, 295.
- Wilson, P. K. (2019). Am I Invisible?! Millennial Invisibility in America. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Studies*, 6(3), 13-26.
- Windscheid, L., Bowes-Sperry, L., Mazei, J., & Morner, M. (2017). The paradox of diversity initiatives: When organizational needs differ from employee preferences. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 145(1), 33–48.
- Wingfield, A. H. (2021). Will America Work? Racial and Economic Equity in a Post-COVID World. *Social Currents*.
- Witt Smith, J. and Joseph, S.E. (2010), "Workplace challenges in corporate America:

  Differences in Black and White", *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, Vol. 29 No. 8, pp. 743-765.
- Wolff, E. N. (2002). Top heavy: The increasing inequality of wealth in America and what can be done about it. New Press.

- Wong, G., Derthick, A. O., David, E. J. R., Saw, A., & Okazaki, S. (2014). The what, the why, and the how: A review of racial microaggressions research in psychology. *Race and Social Problems*, 6, 181–200.
- Wood III, A. C. (2019). The Crisis of the Black Worker, the US Labor Movement, and Democracy for All. *Labor Studies Journal*, 44(4), 396-402.
- Woods-Giscombé, C. L. (2010). Superwoman schema: African American women's views on stress, strength, and health. *Qualitative health research*, 20(5), 668-683.
- Woods-Giscombe, C., Robinson, M. N., Carthon, D., Devane-Johnson, S., & Corbie-Smith, G.
  (2016). Superwoman Schema, Stigma, Spirituality, And Culturally Sensitive Providers:
  Factors Influencing African American Women's Use Of Mental Health Services. *Journal of best practices in health professions diversity: research, education and policy*, 9(1), 1124.
- Worrell, F. C., Vandiver, B. J., & Cross, W. E., Jr. (2004). *The Cross Racial Identity Scale:*Technical manual. Berkeley, CA: University of California, Berkeley.
- Xu, Y., Johnson, C., Bartholomae, S., O'Neill, B., & Gutter, M. S. (2015). Homeownership among millennials: The deferred American dream?. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 44(2), 201-212.
- Yakoboski, P. J., Lusardi, A., & Hasler, A. (2020). Financial Literacy and Wellness among

  African–Americans: New Insights from the Personal Finance (P-Fin) Index. *The Journal*of Retirement, 8(1), 22-31.
- Yang, S., & Morimoto, S. A. (2011). Why do Black men suffer from low self-rated job productivity? A multi-theory approach. *Sociological inquiry*, 81(4), 431-453.

- Yeazel, M. R. (2015). Your Millennial Toolbox: Developing Culturally Competent Strategies For Psychotherapy With Men. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, 23(2), 226-237.
- Yonto, D., & Thill, J. C. (2020). Gentrification in the US New South: Evidence from two types of African American communities in Charlotte. *Cities*, 97.
- Yoon, S., & Kim, H. C. (2016). Keeping the American dream alive: The interactive effect of perceived economic mobility and materialism on impulsive spending. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *53*(5), 759-772.
- Young, C. (2003). Assimilation and social change dynamics in African and African American communities. *Western Journal of Black Studies*, 27(3).
- Zachara-Szymańska, M. (2021). A Postcapitalistic People? Examining the Millennial Generation's Economic Philosophies and Practices. *Sustainability*, *13*(7), 3784.
- Zemke, R., Raines, C., & Filipczak, B. (2013). Generations at work: Managing the clash of Boomers, Gen Xers, and Gen Yers in the workplace. Amacom.
- Zewde, N. (2020). Universal Baby Bonds Reduce Black-White Wealth Inequality, Progressively Raise Net Worth of All Young Adults. *The Review of Black Political Economy*, 47(1), 3-19.
- Zewde, N., & Crystal, S. (2021). Impact of the 2008 Recession on Wealth-Adjusted Income and Inequality for US Cohorts. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*.
- Zilberstein, S., Lamont, M., & Sanchez, M. (2023). Recreating a Plausible Future: Combining Cultural Repertoires in Unsettled Times. Sociological Science, 10, 348-373.



April 4, 2023

Simon Miller Seton Hall University

Re: Study ID# 2023-422

Dear Simon,

The Research Ethics Committee of the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board reviewed and approved your research proposal entitled "The African American Dream Deferred: Exploring the Relationship Between the "American Dream" and the Black American Millennial Reality " as resubmitted. This memo serves as official notice of the aforementioned study's approval as exempt. Enclosed for your records are the stamped original Consent Form and recruitment flyer. You can make copies of these forms for your use.

The Institutional Review Board approval of your research is valid for a one-year period from the date of this letter. During this time, any changes to the research protocol, informed consent form or study team must be reviewed and approved by the IRB prior to their implementation.

You will receive a communication from the Institutional Review Board at least 1 month prior to your expiration date requesting that you submit an Annual Progress Report to keep the study active, or a Final Review of Human Subjects Research form to close the study. In all future correspondence with the Institutional Review Board, please reference the ID# listed above.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Phyllis Hansell, EdD, RN, DNAP, FAAN Professor

Co-Chair, Institutional Review Board

#### APPENDIX B

#### Informed Consent Document

<u>Title of Research Study:</u> The African American Dream Deferred: Exploring the Relationship Between the "American Dream" and the Black American Millennial Reality.

<u>Primary Investigator's Affiliation:</u> Simon Miller is a student in the Counseling Psychology PhD program, Seton Hall University.

<u>Department Affiliation:</u> Department of Professional Psychology and Family Therapy at Seton Hall University

<u>Sponsor:</u> This research is supported by the Department of Professional Psychology and Family Therapy in the College of Education at Seton Hall University.

### Brief summary about this research study:

The following summary of this research study is to help you decide whether or not you want to participate in the study. You have the right to ask questions at any time.

The purpose of this study is to gain a better understanding of the lived experience of Black American Millennial. This study will explore the possible influence that multiple identities and associated feelings as millennials and African Americans have on their well-being, sense of national pride, and belief in their ability to achieve the American Dream.

You will be asked to complete a demographic form, and an interview via Doxy.me software. Interviews are expected to last 60 to 90 minutes, and you will be asked to review the transcript for accuracy. We expect that you will be in this research study for a total of about two hours, over a period of 2-3 weeks.

The primary risk of participation is loss of confidentiality, in the unlikely event that someone recognizes your story, or that data transmitted via the internet is breached. The main benefit of participation is that you will contribute to the shallow body of literature related to the Black Millennial experience in the United States.

### Purpose of Research:

You are being asked to take part in this research study because you identify as an American-born and raised Black millennial (including African, Afro-Caribbean, or African American), U.S. citizen and current resident, born between 1981 and 1996, have graduated from high school, and are either currently or recently employed. Your participation in this research study is expected to be for a total of about two hours, over approximately a 2-3 week period. You will be one of 12-15 people who are expected to participate in this research study.

## What you will be asked to do:

Your participation in this research study will include the following steps:

- 1. If you agree to participate in this study, you will also be asked to sign the informed consent document and return it to the primary investigator, Simon Miller, and to complete the demographic questionnaire (which asks questions such as your age, gender, occupation, and income level) online.
- 2. After you complete the demographic and consent forms, a virtual interview will then be scheduled with the primary investigator (Simon Miller). Scheduling will be done through email.
- 3. You will participate in a one-time interview. The length of the interview will range from 60 to 90 minutes. The interview will take place on Doxy.me software, and can be done in a confidential and quiet location that you deem appropriate. Please be advised that audio from the interview will be recorded on a separate audio recording device. These recordings will be used solely for the use of later transcription. The interview will focus on your experience of being a Black American Millennial who currently lives in the U.S. You will be allowed to skip any questions that make you feel uncomfortable, and you can withdraw your consent to participate at any time during the interview. The following are some examples of questions asked:
  - a. What does it mean to you to be American?
  - b. How would you describe your sense of pride in being an American?
  - c. Describe your feelings related to your social position in America, as well as other African American millennials.
  - d. Have you heard the term "American Dream" before?
    - i. How well does your idea of the American Dream align with your current reality?
  - e. What things, if any do you think should be done to improve life for African American millennials in the United States?
  - 4. After the interview is complete, you will receive a \$25 Visa gift card.
  - 5. After individual interviews are transcribed, the primary investigator will send the transcript to you to review the accuracy of the transcription, and offer you the opportunity to omit or elaborate on anything said during the interview. You will also have the opportunity to request the excerpts from the interview be omitted from any publications or presentations. The principal investigator may also ask your permission to include specific things you shared in the results of the study. All data will be de-identified for data analysis purposes and data storage.

# Right to participate, say no, or withdraw:

Participation in research is voluntary. You can decide to participate or not to participate. You can choose to participate in the research study now and then decide to leave the research at any time. Your choice will not be held against you.

The person in charge of the research study can remove you from the research study without your approval. Possible reasons for removal include missing study visits, non-compliance with the study procedures.

### Potential benefit:

There may be no direct benefit to you from this study. However, possible benefits may include having the opportunity to share your lived experiences and provide insight related to your unique reality as a Black American Millennial. This may provide increased insight and understanding of the lived experiences of Black or African American millennials, and how the imposition of antiquated American Ideals (like the American Dream) influences their beliefs or sense of being American.

### Potential risks:

The risks associated with this study are minimal in nature. Your participation in this research may include a breach of confidentiality, and/or experiencing negative emotions when discussing your experiences. Your participation in this research may include risk to privacy due to audio recording of interviews. Although every measure will be taken to ensure confidentiality, there is always a risk that it may be breached.

If you experience significant distress, please inform the research team immediately. If this happens, possible options will include taking a break, postponing the interview, or ending the interview.

If you experience great distress, you can find a mental health provider using the American Psychological Association psychologist finder at https://locator.apa.org/, by calling the National Crisis Hotline at 1-800-273-8255.

# Confidentiality and privacy:

Efforts will be made to limit the use or disclosure of participants' personal information. This information may include the research study documents or other source documents used for the purpose of conducting the study. These documents may include the demographic questionnaire and this informed consent form. We cannot promise complete secrecy. Organizations that oversee research safety may inspect and copy your information. This includes the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board who oversees the safe and ethical conduct of research at this institution.

This survey is being hosted by Doxy.me and involves a secure connection. Terms of service, addressing confidentiality, may be viewed at https://doxy.me/en/terms-of-service/. Upon receiving results of your survey, any possible identifiers will be deleted by the investigator. You will be identified only by a unique subject number. Your email address, which may be used to contact you to schedule a study visit will be stored separately from your questionnaire data. All information will be kept in a password protected One Drive folder and an encrypted flash drive.

The One Drive folder will only accessible by the research team, and the flash drive will only be accessible to the primary investigator, Simon Miller. The results of the research study may be published, but your name will not be used.

<u>Data sharing:</u> Data collected from this study will not be shared with anyone outside of the study team.

## Cost and compensation:

You will not be responsible for any of the costs or expenses associated with your participation in this study. If you agree to take part in this research study, you will be paid \$25 at the completion of your interview for your time and effort. You may choose to receive payment by either being mailed or emailed a \$25 Visa gift card.

<u>Conflict of interest disclosure:</u> The principal investigator and members of the study team have no financial conflicts of interest to report.

### **Contact information:**

If you have questions, concerns, or complaints about this research project, you can contact the primary investigator, Simon Miller (simonleigh.miller@student.shu.edu). Simon's faculty research advisor, Dr. Pamela Foley can also be contacted (Pamela.Foley@shu.edu or 973-275-2742), or the Seton Hall University Institutional Review Board ("IRB") (irb@shu.edu or 973-761-9334).

Audio recordings will be performed as part of the research study. Please indicate your permission to participate in this activity by writing your initials.

I agree	I disagree	
		The researcher may record my audio interview. In understand this is done to help with data collection and analysis. The researcher will not share these recordings with anyone outside of the study team.

I hereby consent to participate in this research study.	
Signature of participant	Date
Printed name of participant	
Signature of person obtaining consent	Date
Printed name of person obtaining consent	

# APPENDIX C

# Pre-Screening Questionnaire

Please complete the following information, remembering that we cannot identify anyone with this data.

1.	How do you identify yourself racially?
	Black/African American
	West Indian/Afro-Caribbean
	Afro-Latinx
	African
	Asian
	Indian/South Asian
	White
	Hispanic/Latinx
	Indigenous American
	Biracial/Multiracial (Specify:)
	Other (Specify:)
2.	What year were you born?
	1976 or before
	1977 - 1980
	1981- 1984
	1985 - 1988
	1989 - 1992
	1993 - 1996
	1997- 2000
	2001 or after
3.	Are you a United States citizen?: Yes No
4.	Were you born in the United States?: Yes No
5.	Are you currently living in the United States: Yes No
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
6.	Do you have a high school diploma or an equivalency (for e.g. GED)? Yes No
7.	Are you currently working in the United States: Yes No
a.	If not, how long has it been since you last worked? less than a year more than a year

# APPENDIX D

# <u>Demographic Questionnaire</u>

Please complete the following information, remembering that we cannot identify anyone with this data.

1.	Current Age:
2.	Birth Year:
3.	Gender:
4.	In which region were you raised? (You can select more than one if applicable)
	Northeast
	Southeast
	Midwest
	Southeast
	West
5.	In which region do you currently reside?
٥.	Northeast
	Southeast
	Southeast Midwest
	Southeast
	Southeast West
6.	What is your highest level of education?
	Some High School
	High School Diploma
	Some College
	Associates Degree
	Professional Certificate
	Bachelor's Degree
	Master's Degree
	Doctoral Degree
7.	Do you currently, or have you previously, owed student debt? Yes No
8.	What is your current or most recent occupation
9.	Which of these describes your personal income last year:
	Less than \$25,000
	<u></u> \$25,000 - \$50,000
	\$50,000 - \$100,000
	\$100,000 - \$200,000
	More than \$200,000
	Would rather not say

#### APPENDIX E

#### Interview Protocol

### 1. Experience as an African/Black American

- a. In terms of your race/ethnicity/nationality, how do you prefer to be identified? (American/African American/Black etc.)
  - i. Please elaborate on why you prefer to identify yourself this way.
- b. Other than citizenship, what do you think makes someone American?
- c. Who is someone you think of as representative of America?
  - i. Why?
  - ii. Do you identify with this person?
- d. What does it mean to you to be American?
  - i. Other than your citizenship, in what ways if any, do you feel like an American?
  - ii. Are there any ways in which you don't feel like an American? If so, please describe them.
- e. As a Black person in America, has your feelings and understanding regarding being American changed over time?
  - i. How does it feel to acknowledge these thoughts and/or emotions?
- f. How would you describe your sense of pride in being an American?
- g. How do you feel about the American symbols like national anthem and Independence Day? (possible probe: are these things that you celebrate or admire?)

### 2. <u>Black Millennial Experience</u>

- a. How do you think your identity as a Black or African American millennial impacts:
  - i. How you navigate in American society?
  - ii. How you view American society as a whole?
- b. How do you think your identity as a Black or African American millennial influences how you are perceived in American society?
- c. Describe your feelings related to your social position in America, as well as other African American millennials.

### 3. Exploring Possible Difference in Realities

- a. Have you heard the term "American Dream" before?
  - i. How would you describe it?
  - ii. How well does your idea of the American Dream align with your current reality?
    - ➤ If not well, is this something you are striving to achieve?
  - iii. To what extent do you feel capable of achieving the American Dream?
- b. Does American dominant culture, principles, or values align with your current reality as a Black or African American millennial? (possible probe: these could be things you've seen, learned about in school or at work, or heard anecdotally)
  - i. How do they compare to your own culture, values, or principles?

# 4. Wrap Up

a. What things, if any do you think should be done to improve life for African American millennials in the United States?

- b. What things, if any do you think African American millennials should do to improve their lives in the United States?
- c. Is there anything that we did not discuss that you were hoping to discuss during our meeting?

# Appendix F

**Table 1**Patterns of Shared Meaning and Themes

D-44- C C1	1M	T1			
Patterns of Sh	nared Meaning	Themes			
		A. American Dream is			
I.	The	unrealistic for Black			
	American	people			
	Dream is a	B. Rejection of the American			
	White Myth	Dream			
	Willie Wight	C. Defining the Dream for			
		themselves			
II.	"Unalienable	D. American ideal of liberty			
	rights" are	as a human right is not			
	not applied	applied impartially			
	Equally	E. The pursuit of Happiness			
		is not meritocratic			
		F. American lives are not all			
		treated equally			
III.	Black	G. Bearing generational			
	Millennials	burdens (using foundation			
	Identify as a	of the past to build the			
	Pivotal	future)			
	Generation	H. Liberal Expression and			
		Exploration of Black			
		Identity			
		I. Sense of duty to strive for			
		success despite hurdles			
IV.	American	J. Hyperawareness			
	Dream	regarding Social Injustices			
	highlights	and disparities			
	disparities in	K. White and Black			
	American	Americans exist in			
	Reality	separate realities			
		L. Systemic racism inhibits			
		American identity			
		development			
V.	Internal	M. Internal conflict			
	conflict with	identifying as American			
	American	N. Pride in Diverse Identities			
	Reality	Oppositional to American			
		Pride			
		O. Civic Insecurity			

# Appendix G

**Table 2**Participant Demographics

Pseudonyms	Racial /Ethnic Identity	Birth Year	Age (at time of interview)	Gender	Highest Level of Education	Student Debt Currently Owed	Occupation Field	Income
Audre	Black	1993	30	Female	Master's	Yes	Higher Education	\$50,000 - \$100,000
Ruby	Black	1988	35	Female	Master's	Yes	Social Services	\$50,000 - \$100,000
Martin	Black / Caribbean American	1982	40	Male	Master's	Yes	Project Management	\$100,000 - \$200,000
Stacey	Black	1990	32	Female	Master's	Yes	School Therapist	\$50,000 - \$100,000
Coretta	Black	1993	29	Female	Master's	No	School Counselor	\$50,000 - \$100,000
Maya	Black	1989	34	Female	Master's	Yes	Project Management (formerly)	\$50,000 - \$100,000
Harriet	Black Am.	1993	29	Female	Master's	Yes	Human Resources	\$25,000 - \$50,000
Ella	Nigerian	1996	27	Female	Doctorate	Yes	Therapist	\$25,000 - \$50,000
Malcolm	Black	1992	30	Male	Master's	Yes	Higher Education	\$50,000 - \$100,000
Frederick	Black	1981	41	Male	Master's	Yes	Social Services	\$50,000 - \$100,000
James	Black/ Ghanaian	1987	35	Male	Bachelor's	No	Finance	\$50,000 - \$100,000

Angela	African	1992	30	Female	Bachelor's	Yes	Insurance	\$50,000 -
	American						and Civil	\$100,000
							Services	
Ida	Black /	1993	29	Female	Bachelor's	Yes	Information	\$25,000 -
	Haitian						Technology	\$50,000
	American							
Dorothy	Black /	1991	31	Female	Master's	Yes	Social	\$25,000 -
-	Caribbean						Services	\$50,000
	American							
Rosa	Black	1987	36	Female	Master's	Yes	Finance	\$50,000 -
							(formerly)	\$100,000